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ITHALA LIMITED

Board of Directors
During the 2013 financial year Ithala Limited’s Board of Directors comprised the following members:

Non-Executive Directors
Mr GNJ White (53) Length of service: 6 months.  

Appointed – 28/8/2012

Qualifications: BA – Economics; B Admin 
– Hons; Dev Studies

Significant Directorships held elsewhere:
•	 Non-Executive Director – Ithala Development 

Finance Corporation
•	 Non-Executive Director – Trans Caledon Tunnel 

Authority

Mrs YEN Zwane (53) Length of service: 1 year, 3 months.  
Appointed – 1/12/2011

Qualifications: B Com (Accounting); 
UED; CAIB (SA); MBL

Significant Directorships held elsewhere:
•	 Executive Director – Ithala Development 

Finance Corporation

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr SC Ngidi (57) Length of service: 1 year, 10 months.  

Appointed – 1/6/2011

Qualifications: B Com Hons (Economics)

Significant Directorships held elsewhere:
•	 Beaglus Run Investments Member – 

Remuneration Panel (Dept of State Enterprises)

Mr M Mia (65) Length of service: 2 years, 11 months.  
Appointed – 21/5/2010

Qualifications: (Director of Companies)

Significant Directorships held elsewhere:
•	 Director – Mutual and Federal Insurance 

Company Limited, Member of Risk & 
Compliance, Audit, Social Ethics and 
Transformation Committees

•	 Director – Isundu Leisure (Pty) Ltd and High 
Footprint Management (Pty) Ltd

•	 Director and Chairman of Audit Committee – 
Durban Technology Hub (SmartXchange)

•	 Chairman of Audit Committee – Momentum 
Health

•	 Chairman of Audit Committee – Ezemvelo KZN 
Wildlife

Mrs L van Lelyveld  
(42)

Length of service: 5 months.  
Appointed – 30/9/2012

Qualifications: CA (SA)

Significant Directorships held elsewhere:
•	 None

Mrs B Ngonyama (38) Length of service: 11 months.  
Appointed – 15/5/2012

Qualifications: CA (SA)

Significant Directorships held elsewhere:
•	 Director – Barloworld Ltd
•	 Director – Evraz Highveld Steel and Vanadium Ltd
•	 Director – Hollard Insurance (Pty) Ltd
•	 Director – Impala Platinum Ltd
•	 Director – Kelly Group Ltd 
•	 Director – Constant Capital (Pty) Ltd

Mr SC Nzuza (50)
Resigned – 30/1/2013

Length of service: 4 years, 4 months.  
Appointed – 26/9/2008
Qualifications: B Com, H Dip Tax, MBA

Significant Directorships held elsewhere:
Director – Zonke Zonke Investments 
Director – University of Durban–Westville 
Convocation for the year

Mr PD Christianson (59)
Resigned – 17/9/2012

Length of service: 9 months.  
Appointed – 21/12/2011
Qualifications: CA (SA)

Significant Directorships held elsewhere: 
•	 Ensign Communications CC – Member
•	 Maljap Properties CC – Member
•	 Directors of Operation Jumpstart (Natal Lotto)
•	 Director: KwaZulu-Natal Heritage Foundation 
•	 Director of Durban Music School
•	 Member of the Natal branch of the Audit 

Committee Forum, under the auspices of the 
Institute of Directors and KPMG

•	 Member of Audit Committee, eThekwini 
Municipality

Mr M Buthelezi (47)
Chairman, Resigned – 
30/9/2012

Length of service: 3 years, 10 months.  
Appointed – 25/11/2008

Qualifications: B Sc, MBL

Significant Directorships held elsewhere: 
•	 Director – Indluyethu Investments Holdings
•	 Director – Isongo Investments Holdings
•	 Director – Isongo Mining 
•	 Director – Royal Green Clothing (Pty) Ltd
•	 Director – Power Line Electrical

DIRECTORATE AND ADMINISTRATION
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Executive Directors
Mr VP Misra* (45) Length of service: 2 years, 6 months. 

Qualifications: CA (SA)
Significant Directorships held elsewhere:
•	 None

Mr SV Khoza (40) Length of service: 5 months.  
Appointed – 1/11/2012

Qualifications: MBA, B Com, Associate 
Diploma in Banking

Significant Directorships held elsewhere:
•	 None

Mr PA Ireland (48) Length of service: 6 months.  
Appointed – 1/10/2012

Qualifications: CA (SA)

Significant Directorships held elsewhere:
•	 None

Mr Y Dockrat (33)
Resigned -5/9/2012

Length of service: 1 year, 6 months  
Appointed – 22/2/2011

Qualifications: CA (SA)

Significant Directorships held elsewhere:
•	 None

* On 7 April 2011, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Mr VP Misra was suspended with remuneration pending the 
outcome of disciplinary action instituted against him. Mr VP Misra was subsequently dismissed on 16 May 2012. During Mr 
VP Misra’s absence, Mr BTT Mathe had acted as Chief Executive Officer. Mr BTT Mathe performed the role of Chief Executive 
Officer in the current financial year up to 31 October 2012 until the new Chief Executive Officer, Mr SV Khoza, was appointed 
on 1 November 2012.

Company Secretary:  
Mrs VA Gumede (LLB) – (Resigned 14/9/2012)* 
* Mrs M Sajiwan was duly appointed as Company Secretary on 13/6/2013 by the Board of Directors.

Registered Office and Postal Address: 
303 Dr Pixley KaSeme Street (formerly West Street), Durban, South Africa, 4000
P.O. Box 2588, Durban, 4000

www.ithala.co.za

Auditors:   
Auditor-General South Africa
Private Bag X9034, Pietermaritzburg, 3200

Bankers:  
ABSA Bank Limited

Corporate Attorneys:  
Ngubane & Partners, Strauss Daly, Garlicke & Bousfield

Company Details:
Registered Name:  Ithala Limited
Registration Number:  2001/007427/06
FSP Number: 17139
NCRCP Number: 1559

Ithala Limited is an Authorised Financial Services and Credit Provider
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OUTGOING CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

2012 / 2013 brought multiple challenges for Ithala 
Limited. The difficult trading environment resulted in 
continued pressure on volumes, margins, customer 
acquisition and retention. Over recent years, Ithala 
Limited’s pre-eminent market position as a provider of 
financial services to low income and rural communities 
within KwaZulu-Natal has been eroded, amongst 
others, by growing competition in this market segment 
as well as constraints to remaining abreast with rapid 
developments in technology. Unavoidably, this has 
impacted negatively on the Company’s profitability.

I assumed chairmanship of the Board of Directors on 
a caretaker basis in October 2012. A first priority was 
to enhance and accelerate the implementation of a 
remedial business strategy. This included the filling 
of key management vacancies, which I am pleased 
to report was concluded in November 2012 with 

the appointment of a permanent Chief Executive 
Officer. The Board approved a comprehensive 
repositioning strategy in February 2013, the initial 
phases of which have been implemented.  This 
includes the implementation of an outsourced, state-
of-the-art banking system. I am of the view that solid 
foundations have been laid for a return to profitability 
and sustainability within eighteen months.

Our Shareholder, Ithala Development Finance 
Corporation Limited (IDFC), the Board of Directors 
and the executive management team of Ithala 
Limited remain committed to further enhance the key 
socio-economic development role and contribution 
of Ithala Limited in the Province, and to restore 
sustainability of the Company. The appointment 
of a permanent Chairman of the Board, Mr Malose 
Kekana, in May 2013, will add renewed impetus and 
momentum towards achieving these objectives. Mr 
Kekana brings entrepreneurial flair, leadership and a 
wealth of banking, development finance and business 
experience.

I would like to take the opportunity to express my 
sincere gratitude to our Shareholder, IDFC, for 
its continued support during the year. My Board 
colleagues have provided unwavering support and 
sound counsel through challenging times. I also wish 
to acknowledge and thank the former Chairman, 
Mr Mmlamuli Buthelezi, for his many contributions. 
In conclusion, I would like to express my sincere 
appreciation for the commitment of management and 
staff, under the able leadership of the Chief Executive 
Officer, Mr Simphiwe Khoza, in steering Ithala 
Limited through turbulent waters. We look forward 
to a desired future that envisions Ithala Limited as 
a leading financial institution in the public sector 
banking arena within KwaZulu-Natal.

Greg White

MR GNJ WHITE 
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I was honoured to assume the chairmanship of the 
Ithala Limited Board of Directors in May 2013, fully 
cognisant not only of the many challenges it confronts, 
but more importantly, the enormous opportunities 
that present themselves for Ithala Limited to become 
a leading and groundbreaking financial institution.

It is reassuring to note that the key foundations are 
in place to “stem the bleeding”, and to place the 
Company on a pathway to profitability. In the short 
time that I have served the Company, the emphasis 
has been on articulating a clear and positive vision 
of the future. In short, this entails a three-phased 
approach:

•	 During the remainder of 2013, concluding what 
remains to be done to build the institutional 
and financial foundations to build a thriving and 
sustainable financial institution. This includes 

STATEMENT BY MR MALOSE KEKANA, 
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

reversing the loss-making trend, implementing 
key information technology systems and 
launching a suite of new products and services.  
This will also place Ithala Limited in a position 
to seek a multi-year exemption from regulatory 
licencing requirements from the National Finance 
Department in South Africa;

•	 As a second phase, pursuing sustainable 
business growth in our existing niche market, 
and cementing our role as a preferred provider 
of financial services to public sector clients. We 
envisage that this phase will be concluded by 
March 2015;

•	 The third phase will culminate in 2016, with Ithala 
Limited meeting all requirements for a full banking 
licence and becoming the premier public sector 
bank in KwaZulu-Natal.

This is indeed a challenging vision, but in my view, 
and that of my Board, an eminently achievable one.  
The support of our Shareholder, IDFC, as well as 
our ultimate Shareholder, the Province of KwaZulu-
Natal, provides powerful leverage and synergy. The 
recent decision of the Shareholder to strengthen the 
capital base of Ithala Limited provides one of the 
essential building blocks. Over the short-term, the 
Company will be fully capacitated to move ahead 
with confidence.

I wish to thank our Shareholder representative, 
the Chairman of IDFC, Dr Mandla Gantsho, for the 
unwavering support and guidance to Ithala Limited.  
The ongoing support of our ultimate Shareholder, 
through the MEC for Economic Development and 
Tourism, Mr Michael Mabuyakhulu MEP, is deeply 
appreciated. My thanks to the former caretaker 
Chairman, Mr Greg White, for his support and 
dedication; also to the Board, executive management 
and staff of Ithala Limited. Our Company is now on a 
firm trajectory towards an exciting future.

MR MF KEKANA 
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
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OVERVIEW 
There have been visible signs of slow growth in the 
retail banking sector with all major players reporting 
lower than expected growth all round. The impact 
of the credit regulation and associated consumer 
distress and lower spending has played a significant 
role in the subdued growth rates. Therefore, Ithala 
Limited has experienced a difficult trading year in line 
with the overall banking environment.

All financial institutions are taking a precautionary 
approach to unsecured lending given the projected 
low economic growth and the current high levels 
of debt to income ratios, especially in the LSM 2-7 
categories. Our Company operates predominantly in 
the lower segments of the market and has therefore 
been negatively affected by these conditions during 
the past financial year.

Financial institutions also continue to operate under 
heightened regulations, particularly in the area of 
risk and capital management with the introduction 
of Basel III. Corporate governance continues to be a 
focus area with the endeavour to comply with King 
III. We managed to roll out key specific programmes 
during this financial year as part of the preparation 
to comply with such legislation and other regulatory 
changes.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

The overall performance of the business during the 
past financial year was lower than expected due 
primarily to our over reliance on interest income and 
the poor performance of the transactional account 
business and resultant non-interest income. Whilst 
we posted a loss of R24, 4 million for the year, costs 
were well managed and below budgeted levels and 
the non-performing loans to total loans percentage 
was also better than the budgeted level. Capital 
adequacy was above the minimum requirement 
prescribed by the South African Reserve Bank as part 
of our exemption condition.

KEY PROGRAMMES TO MITIGATE 
CHALLENGES
In response to this negative financial performance, Ithala 
Limited has adopted a very robust revenue diversification 
approach to its operation. This will be executed through 
a series of programmes, which are underpinned by a 
robust and responsive strategic direction as approved 
by the Board of Directors. The biggest impact will be 
through the introduction of new products and services, 
aggressive marketing of the insurance business and 
the upgrading the IT systems to respond to the greater 
expansion objectives of the Company.

The current percentage of debt to household income 
of 76% presents specific opportunities which will 
be used in meeting some of the developmental 
objectives in the form of consumer rehabilitation and 
education programmes. The key delivery approach 
will be through a multichannel distribution framework 
suitable to each of the targeted market segments.

Ithala Limited has a developmental objective as 
part of its mandate, and as such participates in 
developmental finance activities. It is through this 
strategic imperative that the core target markets will 
be differentiated, in order to ensure that tailor made 
products and services are designed and rolled out 
to respond to the market demand. A public sector 
banking operating model with a proper infrastructure 
and capacity will be created to ensure that the 
Company becomes ready to take the lead in the 
public sector banking arena within KwaZulu-Natal.

THE ROAD AHEAD
After careful analysis of the challenges that exist 
across the industry and sector, a robust process 
was undertaken to refine and redefine the strategic 
direction to be taken by Ithala Limited.

MR SV KHOZA 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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There are strategic plans in place designed to 
assist Ithala Limited to strengthen the operating 
environment, increase human capacity and implement 
best of breed Information Technology systems. Ithala 
will utilise this capacity to launch new products and 
services. The Company will focus on building a 
compelling insurance business backed by a credible 
call centre operation. Strategic partnerships will be 
identified during this process in order to ensure that 
complementary capabilities are built going forward.

A stronger and more skilled executive management 
team will be maintained in order to ensure that 
institutional memory is reserved with the banking 
operation. A credible succession planning will be 
further facilitated to minimise the dependency risk.

This new financial year, 2013 / 2014 has been 
regarded as the “critical change” for Ithala Limited. 
This is evident through a robust budget to be 
deployed together with a very concentrated customer 
acquisition programme using the unique offerings 
such as rural home loans, taxi finance, livestock 
insurance and other products and services.

We look forward to an exciting journey ahead, whilst 
we build trusting and long lasting relationships with 
our stakeholders. We are particularly grateful for the 
support that all our stakeholders have shown through 
these difficult times and their patience with the 
Company whilst it was navigating through challenging 
situations. 

I would like to thank our Shareholder, Ithala 
Development Finance Corporation Limited, the Board 
of Directors, the executive management and the staff 
within the Company for the support and dedication 
shown during this past year.

As a newly appointed CEO, I undertake to lead the 
Company on its journey to return to profitability 
and financial sustainability whilst improving the 
developmental impact through a shareholder 
dividend declaration. I believe that we have entered a 
new era supported by a positive outlook in the retail 
banking space.
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ITHALA LIMITED

INTEGRATED REPORT

1. INTRODUCTION
Ithala Limited’s (“the Company”) integrated report 
is based on its commitment to deliver relevant 
information to its stakeholders. This is the second 
year the Company has reported on an integrated 
basis as a result of sustainability being a core element 
of what drives its business operations.

2. THE COMPANY’S PROFILE
Ithala Limited, as a wholly owned subsidiary of Ithala 
Development Finance Corporation Limited (“holding 
company”), is governed by the Ithala Act 2 of 1999 
(Ithala Act) of KwaZulu-Natal. The Company was 
ring-fenced for mobilising deposit taking activities 
from the holding company in 2001 in line with the 
recommendation from the South African Reserve Bank 
(“SARB”). It operates under various exemptions from 
the Banks Act 94 of 1990 (“Banks Act”) as issued in 
Notice No.1080 Government Gazette No: 30474. The 
Company continues to operate under an exemption 
and complies with the prudential requirements as 
required by the Banks Act and the exemption notice. 

The purpose of its existence is to provide financial 
services to the people of KwaZulu-Natal, particularly 
in poor and marginalised areas, in the form of savings 
and lending products including home loans to build 
or buy suitably located affordable housing for persons 
who traditionally would not be granted financing in 
the traditional banking sector, commonly known as 
the unbanked communities. 

The Company’s main focus over the next five years 
will be to ensure that its returns to profitability in 
order to remain financially sustainable. This will allow 
the Company to produce a credible shareholder 
dividend which will then be allocated to drive specific 
developmental activities in line with its mandate.

The Company’s focus will continue to shift and align to 
the government’s key strategic initiatives associated 
with poverty alleviation, job creation and providing 
access to finance. 

3. THE COMPANY’S RESPONSIBILITY 
IN TERMS OF ITS MANDATE

The Company’s mandate is to provide access to 
finance and financial literacy as part of the economic 
development of previously disadvantaged persons. 
The mandate emanates from the Ithala Act which 
provides for “the continued existence of Ithala 

Development Finance Corporation Limited with 
the primary purpose of promoting, supporting and 
facilitating social and economic development in the 
Province of KwaZulu-Natal, in accordance with the 
Province’s growth and development strategy and in 
an appropriate and sustainable manner.”

4. THE COMPANY’S STRATEGIC 
GOALS, OBJECTIVES AND KEY 
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
(BALANCED SCORE CARD)

The Company’s strategic direction is to refocus its 
activities in line with a multichannel approach, which 
will see the Company moving towards a transactional 
led customer acquisition approach, whilst maintaining 
a robust branch distribution framework primarily in 
the rural areas of KwaZulu-Natal. This approach will 
necessitate a robust product and service development 
to respond to the chosen market segment demands.

Thus, the Company has recognised the need to 
fundamentally change the current way of doing 
business in order to compete effectively in the market, 
resulting in the following key strategic goals which it 
intends pursuing in order to achieve effectiveness:

•	 Providing access to finance; 
•	 Creating a customer centric organisation; 
•	 Creating core and critical skills; 
•	 Operational Excellence (IT & Marketing); and 
•	 Corporate governance and regulatory compliance. 

It is envisaged that these imperatives would provide 
the requisite organisational muscle, strength and 
resilience to respond to challenges and opportunities 
and accomplish the flexibility and market attractiveness 
for clients, shareholders and investors alike.

Strategic objectives 
The strategic objectives of the Company outlined for 
the ensuing five financial years, intended to provide 
overall direction for the Company, include:

I. Market Share & Revenue Enhancement  

To grow our revenue base by growing our market 
share, entering new markets, introducing new 
products and leveraging strategic partnerships. This 
objective will primarily assist the Company in driving 
a culture of sales excellence.
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II. Accessible Financial Services

To provide financial services to rural and urban 
communities of KwaZulu-Natal through various 
distribution channels. 

III. Customer Centric organisation

To understand and deliver on customer needs in 
a manner that generates and promotes customer 
centricity. This objective will assist the Company in 
building sustainable customer loyalty.

IV. Operational Excellence (including Human 

Resources  and Information Technology [IT]) 

To be highly efficient in our operations through 
continuous improvement of skills and competence 
levels, development of IT solutions that support 
the business and innovation initiatives across the 
Company and leveraging on our assets and resources. 
This objective will assist the Company to remain 
highly efficient and effective in all its operations and 
build a high performance culture.

V. Corporate Governance 

To comply with all relevant regulatory requirements 
through the development of proactive risk 
management structures and governance principles. 
This objective will assist the Company to create 
proper and meaningful mitigating plans for all 
identified business risks. 

5. OPERATING ENVIRONMENT
Weak global economic conditions continued to 
weigh on the SA economy; the recent and on-
going domestic shocks in the form of severe labour 
unrest are exacerbating domestic economic growth 

pressures. Moody’s as well as Standard & Poor’s 
downgraded South Africa’s credit rating during the 
financial year. 

2013 2014

Real GDP Growth
SA Treasury (Year-on-Year %) 3.0 3.8

Real GDP Growth % - Ithala Limited* 3.0 3.7

* The Company’s in-house Research and Development Unit adopts 
the macro-economic views of the Bureau of Economic Research 
(BER) as its own, a decision which was ratified by the holding 
company’s Executive Committee.

The South African Reserve Bank (SARB) Monetary 
Policy Committee’s (MPC) main concern is the 
combination of increased GDP growth concerns and 
heightened anxiety regarding inflation prospects.  
The relatively higher credit numbers, combined with 
the latest CPI numbers, lessen the chances of another 
interest rate cut in the short-term, unless the global 
economy deteriorates further. Muted overall credit 
growth is expected to influence the SARB MPC to 
maintain a hold position on the repo rate until 2014.

Private credit growth 
The credit impairment trend analysis of the Company 
for the financial year is illustrated below. This trend 
analysis was influenced predominantly by the growth 
in mortgage advances which has experienced 
arrested growth during the last two years, hence the 
Company’s strategy to shift its focus to unsecured 
lending. The Company’s current product range 
excludes bank overdrafts, credit card advances, 
instalment sale credit and leasing finance, which have 
been performing stronger in the market even in the 
context of overall muted credit growth.

*  The decrease in the provision in March 2013 was attributable to the effect of the write-off of loans and advances amounting to R18, 4 million 
as disclosed in Note 6 to the Annual Financial Statements.

CREDIT IMPAIRMENT TREND ANALYSIS
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6. FORECASTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

has taken a bold step in formulating an offensive 
forecasting model, which will assist in capturing 
market opportunities whilst driving customer 
attraction and retention. 

The table below highlights the key financial ratios for 
the four year period going forward.

Key Performance Indicator (KPI) 2013 / 2014 2014 / 2015 2015 / 2016 2016 / 2017

Growth in Total Income 25.9% 29.6% 27.9% 36.2%

Growth in Savings Control 25.8% 20.7% 19.7% 18.9%

Growth in New Advances 52.0% 13.6% 11.9% 12.7%

Growth in Debit Cards 50.0% 20.0% 20.0% 20.0%

Cost to Income Ratio 91.8% 81.1% 68.4% 58.4%

Return on Equity 2.9% 18.1% 36.8% 61.8%

Return on Assets 0.3% 1.8% 3.6% 6.3%

Capital Adequacy Ratio 12.7% 13.4% 13.8% 16.1%

7. KEY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Key financial highlights include:
•	 Introduction of the Ikhwezi debt consolidation 

product, weekly lifestyle personal product and the 
32 day notice deposit;

•	 Maintenance of the capital adequacy ratio in 
excess of the Regulatory minimum;

•	 Growth of 3.5% in the housing loan product; 
•	 Reduction in non-performing loan percentage 

(8.9%) when compared to budget (10.7%); and
•	  Other income (excluding dormant income) 

reflected a positive variance of R3, 8 million for 
the year when compared to the budget. 

Key performance indicators:

Capital Adequacy Ratio 
11.06%

Cost to Income Ratio 
103.88%

Number of new 
products introduced: 3

Number of Branches: 49

Number of  
Employees:  

484

Non-Performing Loan 
Percentage 

8.93%

The 2012 / 2013 financial year was challenging and the 
Company progressed through a banking landscape 
that has changed significantly in the aftermath of the 
global financial and economic crisis. The following 
key challenges impacted the financial results for the 
year ended 31 March 2013.

Challenges

The implementation of a core banking 
transformation system to assist the 
Company with hosting services across 
the organisation

This project was suspended during the 2011 / 2012 financial year which led 
to negotiations with an external service provider for the provision of payment 
services, hosting solutions and clearance commencing from the 2013 / 2014 
financial year. 

Significant reduction in debit card 
accounts

A significant reduction in debit card accounts was experienced in the 2012 / 
2013 financial year. This was primarily due to the loss of South African Social 
Security Agency grant recipient customers. 

Volume targets not achieved on housing 
and loan products

The budgeted targets for the 2012 / 2013 financial year on housing and loan 
products were not achieved and were attributed to the poor performance of the 
personal loan product and information technology constraints.

Dependency on interest income Interest on advances for the 2013 year end reflects a negative variance. This is 
as a result of the Company having a limited product offering primarily which is 
dependent on interest income, exacerbated by the current downward interest 
rate environment.

Highly competitive environment Increased competition from retail banks serving the low income target market.

The strategic objectives aimed at driving financial 
sustainability for the Company are Market Share 
& Revenue Enhancement and Customer Centric 
strategic objectives.

These two key strategic objectives remain the pillar 
of driving the Company to profitability. The Company 
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8. SHAREHOLDER VALUE
The intention of the value-added statement is to measure the difference between turnover and the cost of 
services comprising the monetary value of turnover. It is the measure of the actual value added to produce the 
end products or services.

 2013 2012

R’000 R’000

Direct economic value generated

Interest income 162 819 163 082 

Commission and fee income 126 845  125 332

Other income 10 059 13 200 

Credit impairment charges (16 709)  (9 762)

Total 283 014  291 857 

Economic value distributed

To suppliers in payment of operating expenses 108 965 109 823

To employees 127 624 117 666 

Interest paid on deposits 54 204 55 570

Total 290 613 283 059

Value added tax 7 656 8 084 

Unemployment insurance 1 332 1 278

Skills development levies 855 822

Property rates and taxes 476 880

To government 10 319 11 064 

To the community 25 76  

Total 25 76  

Economic value (utilised) / retained for expansion growth

Accumulated loss (24 382)  (7 747)

Depreciation and amortisation 14 761 14 128

Total (9 621)  6 381

9. PROFITABILITY

The difficult trading conditions continued into the 
2012 / 2013 financial year resulting in the Company 
incurring a net loss of R24, 4 million for the year ended 
31 March 2013. The Company’s net loss is viewed 
in the context of its developmental mandate and 
its contribution towards the promotion of financial 
services to the disadvantaged people of KwaZulu-
Natal.

Key features were as follows:

•	 The Company‘s overall financial performance 
deteriorated year-on-year;

•	 Negative variance in loans and advances to 
customers of R94, 6 million when compared to 
budget;

•	 Significant month-on-month loss of savings and 
debit card accounts during the financial year; and

•	 Cost to income ratio of 103.88% when compared 
to the budget of 103.95%.
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9. PROFITABILITY (continued)
Business unit performance: Savings and 
Investments Division
The performance of the Savings and Investments 
Division was impacted by:
•	 Increased competition in the low income market;
•	 Significant reduction in debit card accounts 

primarily due to the loss of South African Social 
Security Agency  (SASSA) grant recipients;

•	 The retrenchment costs associated with the 
restructure of employees affected by the FAIS “fit 

and proper” requirements;
•	 Limited product offering and services unable to 

promote client retention / attraction; and
•	 Downward interest rate trends prevailing in the 

economy.

The savings control figures were largely affected 
during the financial year by the decrease in the 
number of debit card accounts, as noted above.

The negative variance against budget is illustrated as 
follows:

Business unit performance: Housing and Loans
New advances were hampered by the Company’s 
inability to introduce new product offerings, which 
stemmed largely from outdated information 
technology systems. The performance in respect 
of new advances was also affected by increased 

competition from financial institutions capitalising on 
the low income target market.

New home loan advances amounting to R220 
million was lower than the budget of R245 million. 
Challenges were also experienced in that only 45% of 
approved loans were registered during the year. The 
challenges are mainly related to staff shortages in the 
home loan processing unit and an insurance cession 
being a registration condition which has resulted in 
delays in registration.

Business unit performance: Insurance
Income from the insurance business unit reflected a 
negative variance of R5, 4 million when compared to 
budget. This was largely attributable to a negative 
variance on the commission earned from credit 
life policies since the budget was compiled on the 
assumption that credit life policies would be written 
for 70% of all advances. This target was adversely 
affected by the regulatory requirement in terms of 
the FAIS and NCA legislation which stipulates that a 
customer is not obliged to obtain a credit life policy 
from the institution which finances its loan. 
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10. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE AND BUSINESS UNITS

Functional Organogram

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SERVICES OUTSOURCED FROM THE HOLDING COMPANY

ERC AUDIT

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Finance 
Director

Personal 
Assistant

Company 
Secretary 
(vacant)

Internal  
Audit*

Divisional 
Manager 

Secured & 
Unsecured 
Lending

Divisional 
Manager 
Insurance

Compliance 
Officer

Divisional 
Manager 

Credit Risk

Divisional 
Manager 

Risk

Divisional 
Manager 
Channels

Product and 
Pricing*

HRSEC DAC

Marketing

Information 
Technology

Human 
Resources

Legal 
Services

* These positions were approved as part of the Company’s organisational structure during the financial year and were filled after year-end.

ERC – Enterprise Risk Committee  AUDIT – Audit Committee   

HRSEC – Human Resources, Social and Ethics Committee DAC – Directors’ Affairs Committee

Target Operating Model 
As part of its strategic priorities, the Company 
reviewed its operating model in order to improve the 
way it does business with the aim of distributing all 
products throughout the branch network. 

Corporate 
Services
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11. BUSINESS PROCESS 
IMPROVEMENT

A business model has been adopted as a key driver of 
turnaround. It has four key elements which embrace 
the strategic turnaround of the organisation. These 
are:

•	 External focus – Customer oriented / centricity;
•	 Internal focus;
•	 People centred; and
•	 Systems and process capabilities.

The business model is supported by a set of defined 
business objectives:

•	 Return to profitability;
•	 Simplified and refined processes;
•	 Fully commercialised offerings; and 
•	 Revenue enhancement as a core focus.

At the centre of this model is the customer, and focuses 
“on the customer being at the centre of everything 
the Company does.” The branch becomes a platform 
for all the Company’s products, namely transactional, 
investments, insurance, personal loans, home loans etc. 

Customer focused initiatives
A customer service strategy has been developed to 
formulate a framework to drive customer centricity 
and set service standards within the Company. 

A key strategic goal includes the improvement of 
Customer Services. Focus areas include:

•	 Implementation of the Customer Services Strategy
•	 Creation of a contact management capability 

(inbound and outbound);
•	 Undertaking a customer needs analysis;
•	 Monitoring the efficiency of the Customer Services 

Division;
•	 Developing a Customer Service Model;
•	 Developing and communicating service standards 

and establishing mechanisms for service 
measurement and continuous improvement; 

•	 Acquiring and implementing a customer relationship 
/ complaints management system; and

•	 Customer Service Development and Training.

The main deliverables will be categorised based on 
the following:

•	 Customer experience / satisfaction indicator 
(External); and

•	 Turn-around time indicator (Internal).

Technology
•	 Information Technology (IT) is a critical component 

in the drive to improve efficiencies and facilitate 
financial sustainability. Plans for the year include 
the implementation of a hosted system as an 
interim solution (three years) that will assist the 
Company in getting new products to market while 
the full core banking solution is being identified, 
developed and commissioned. The underlining 
technology and architecture on which the current 
core banking is based is outdated and has limited 
or no external maintenance support. 

•	 The Company will be commencing a journey of 
technological transformation across its operations. 
Key to this will be the implementation of strategic 
IT projects fundamental to the success of the 
turnaround strategy, as outlined below:

 - 2013 / 2014 – The implementation of a core 
banking transformation system to assist the 
Company with hosting services across the 
organisation.

 - 2014 / 2015 – The introduction of a suitable 
organisational in-house platform project that 
will assist in creating a permanent solution. 
This will be initiated whilst running with the 
core banking system roll out in order to ensure 
that effective alignment is achieved.

 - 2015 / 2016 – A full basket of products and 
services will be available, thus enabling the 
Company to operate fully as a retail banking 
operation.

Statement on IT governance 
To ensure appropriate IT reporting to the Board, the 
Company has the following structures in place:

•	 Board	 of	 Directors: For the approval of the IT 
Strategy, Policy and Budget;

•	 Enterprise	Risk	Committee: To provide oversight 
on IT strategic risks and IT recommendations for 
Board’s approvals;

•	 Audit	 Committee: To provide oversight on IT 
related audit issues;

•	 Group	 Executive	 Committee: For approval of 
organisation-wide IT practices and architectures 
and approval of IT projects business case; and

•	 IT	 Management: For approval of internal IT 
practices and standards, prioritisation of IT 
projects, and deployment of IT resources.
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The Group Chief Information Officer (GCIO) is an 
Executive member of the holding company and 
interacts directly with the Board and its sub-committees. 
The GCIO chairs the IT Management meetings.

Governance and compliance 
The Company is committed to continually enhance 
its corporate governance processes in line with best 
practice. 

Focus includes:
•	 Ensuring effectiveness of Board, Board Committees 

and Governance structures;
•	 Development and implementation of effective 

governance framework;
•	 Ensuring that the Company adheres to Corporate 

Governance Standards;
•	 Ensuring that the Company complies with all 

regulatory requirements; and
•	 Monitoring implementation of governance 

objectives.

The Compliance unit’s role is to guide the Company 
on compliance imperatives that will contribute to the 
overall protection of the Company’s brand through 
the retention of all the relevant licenses, non-levying 
of penalties caused by non-compliance, the managing 
of reputational risk as well as negative perceptions 
that may result from non-compliance.

Focus for the Compliance Unit includes:
•	 Development and implementation of compliance 

framework and programme;
•	 Integration of compliance into business processes;
•	 Ensuring adequate levels of compliance in light of 

the increasing legislation being introduced within 
the financial services industry;

•	 Improving overall levels of compliance as part of 
overall risk management; and

•	 Continued compliance with prudential requirements 
as well as addressing concerns raised by the Banking 
Supervision Division Department of the SARB.

Ethics and organisational integrity
The Company’s Code of Ethics is designed to empower 
employees and enable effective decision-making at 
all levels of the business according to defined ethical 
principles. It also aims to ensure that, as a financial 
services institution, the Company adheres to the 
highest standards of responsible business practice. 
The Code interprets and defines the Company’s values 
in greater detail and provides value based decision-
making principles to guide its conduct. 

Regulatory developments
Basel III

The Basel Committee introduced reforms to 
strengthen global capital and liquidity rules with the 
aim of promoting a more resilient banking sector 
through Basel lll. The objective of the reforms is 
to improve the banking sector’s ability to absorb 
shocks arising from financial and economic stress, 
thus reducing the risk of spill over from the financial 
sector to the real economy. The comprehensive 
reform package addresses the lessons of the financial 
crisis. Through its reform package, it also aims to 
improve risk management and governance as well as 
strengthen banks’ transparency and disclosures. 

Companies Act

The second amendment to the Companies Act came 
into effect in April 2011. This amendment necessitated 
the need for projects to be initiated within the 
Company and coordinated to adapt operations, 
governance and documentation. These measures 
are ongoing. The promulgation of the amended 
Companies Act will not result in any material impact 
on the Company.

The King Code

The key aspects of the King III Code of Corporate 
Governance were presented to the Board of Directors 
in March 2012. The Company is committed to applying 
the relevant principles of King III. A roadmap detailing 
implementation of certain aspects of the Code will be 
finalised during the 2013 / 2014 financial year. Where 
King III principles or practices will not be applied 
within the Company, these will be clearly explained 
to stakeholders and, where necessary, other controls 
instituted to ensure good governance.

Consumer Protection Act (CPA)

The CPA, effective from 1 April 2011, constitutes an 
overarching framework for consumer protection and 
all other laws which provide for consumer protection. 
During the financial year under review, the Company 
complied with the requirements of the CPA. 

Protection of access to information 

The Protection of Personal Information Bill was passed 
into law during the 2012 / 2013 financial year. The 
impact thereof will be assessed during the 2013 / 2014 
financial year and the necessary recommendations 
implemented accordingly.
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12. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 
PERFORMANCE

“Because the Company is so integral to society, it 
is considered as much a citizen of a country as is a 
natural person who has citizenship. It is expected 
that the Company will be and will be seen to be a 
responsible citizen. This involves social, environmental 
and economic issues – the triple context in which 
companies in fact operate.” – The King Code

The Company’s approach to sustainability is a holistic 
and integrated one that will enable it to realise its 
vision of becoming the leader in financial services for 
the disadvantaged communities of KwaZulu-Natal.

The Company’s transformation progress is currently 
measured against the Department of Trade and 

Industry’s Codes of Good Practice for Broad-Based 
Black Economic Empowerment (DTI Codes) as well as 
the Financial Sector Code.

13. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Company considers stakeholder engagement 
to be a strategic imperative and seeks continually 
to evolve and innovate in terms of the way in which 
it builds inclusive, mutually beneficial relationships 
based on transparency, respect and idea sharing. 
The Board is committed to satisfying stakeholder 
requirements and actively manages its stakeholder 
relations programme. Communication sessions 
with government, communities, business and other 
interest groups are initiated in an effort to ensure a 
mutual understanding with its stakeholders.

Reasons for engagement Types of engagement

Employee engagement

•	 To maintain a good working relationship with the unions 
and obtain approval or reach consensus on any decisions 
or projects that require changes to the working conditions 
or the operational requirements of the business.

•	 Group Human Resources (HR) manages labour relations 
with the unions on an ongoing basis and consults on 
any changes in working conditions, restructuring of the 
business as well as performance management issues. 
This includes consultations on the resolution of alleged 
unfair labour practices to ensure fair and equitable 
treatment of staff.

•	 To ensure that the Company remains an employer of 
choice by providing a safe, positive and inspiring working 
environment;

•	 To understand and respond to staff needs and concerns; and
•	 To provide all staff with direction and pertinent information 

regarding the activities and strategic focus areas of the 
group.

•	 A robust combination of face-to-face, written and 
broadcast communications. These included culture and 
engagement surveys, road shows, e-mail, intranet and 
newsletters.

Regulatory bodies

•	 To maintain strong relationships with regulators and 
ensure compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, 
thereby retaining the Company’s various operating 
licenses and minimising its operational risk.

•	 Ongoing meetings and interaction with regulators, 
including prudential visits and statutory reporting.

Customers

•	 A key strategic objective for the Company is customer 
centricity, which aims to understand and deliver on 
customer needs in a manner that generates and 
promotes customer centricity. 

•	 As part of the Company’s continuous journey to exceed 
customer expectations, the Company regularly seeks out 
customers’ opinions regarding products and services through 
surveys, complaints as well as responses to marketing and 
advertising.

Suppliers

•	 The Company requires goods and services, on time, to 
specification, from reputable, quality suppliers. Costs 
are managed through overall supplier relationship 
management. As a result, engagement with suppliers 
occurs on a regular basis.

•	 The Company utilises a centralised procurement 
unit which has implemented an automated IT based 
“Procure-to-Pay” system during the 2012 / 2013 financial 
year, which aims to ensure adherence to the Company’s 
supply chain management policies and process.

Provincial government

•	 The National Finance Department in South Africa is 
responsible for granting the Company its banking 
license. The Ithala Act, 2 of 1999 of the KwaZulu-Natal 
Legislature, is responsible for defining Ithala’s mandate. 

•	 Engagement with government is managed via the 
submission of quarterly performance reports to the 
KwaZulu-Natal Department of Economic Development 
and Tourism.
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14. ENVIRONMENTAL 
SUSTAINABILITY

The Company has embarked on a “green” 
environmental campaign to ensure that the Company 
is an eco-friendly workplace, thus entrenching 
the Company’s commitment to environmental 
sustainability. In fact, this commitment to the 
conservation of the natural heritage of the country, 
and planet, is integral to the culture of the Company 
and represents a key element in the ongoing 
assessment of overall corporate performance.

15. SOCIAL SUSTAINABILITY

A passion for making things happen in the lives of the 
less fortunate individuals in the Province has motivated 
the Company to earn a reputation as a caring financial 
institution – a reputation it is determined to maintain 
by taking a genuine interest in improving the health, 
education and wellbeing of the communities in which 
it operates, whilst empowering its staff and clients to 
do the same. 

Aligned with the Company’s objective of building 
societal capital, this section of the report includes 
information on:

i. Socio-Economic Development (SED)
•	 Corporate Social Investment (CSI)
•	 Consumer and Sustainability Education

ii. Beyond compliance
•	 Access to financial services

iii. Preferential procurement
iv. HIV/AIDS

16. SOCIO-ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Based on the belief that neither ‘social’ nor ‘economic’ 
can be fully effective on its own, this component of 
the Company’s social sustainability thrust comprises 
both economic and social development initiatives. 
Wherever possible, these are closely integrated to 
deliver lasting results relating to the living conditions 
and financial situation of individuals and companies 
targeted to benefit from its social sustainability 
commitment.

During the 2012 / 2013 financial year, the corporate 
social initiatives included the following:

•	  Sponsored a lunch for the elderly as part of the 67 
minutes Mandela Day campaign which took place 
on the 18th of July 2012 at the Zibambeleni Old 
Age Home in Clermont, KwaDabeka; 

•	 As part of its focus on youth development, the 

Company participated in the annual Cell C Take 
a Girl Child to Work Day initiative which included 
a sponsored lunch. Learners from various areas 
throughout the Province were hosted, thus making 
a positive contribution towards influencing future 
leaders in business; and

•	 Donated redundant assets to ten non-
governmental organisations (NGOs) in Umlazi on 
the 23rd of November 2012.

The Company achieved the maximum score of 15, in 
respect of its socio-economic development element, 
which has been independently verified by a verification 
agency for the year ending 31 March 2012. 

Housing development
•	 The focus for the Company is to expand its current 

loan book, focus on unsecured lending and 
providing funding to townships. The Company 
understands that it is important for citizens to be 
placed in proper human settlements, i.e. citizens 
are provided and financed to buy houses in areas 
with the required social amenities. It will continue 
to make inroads into the affordable housing space 
by building relationships with the Department of 
Human Settlements and other stakeholders to 
identify smart partnerships which will support the 
provision of housing. 

•	 In the President of South Africa’s state of the nation 
address on 9 February 2012, he announced that 
a special fund to assist people to buy their own 
homes would be rolled out in April 2012. The  
R1 billion loan guarantee fund would allow people 
who do not qualify for free RDP houses and who 
do not earn enough to qualify for mortgages to 
get loans from banks, accessing funding for their 
homes. In addition, people earning between  
R3 500 and R15 000 would from April 2012 be 
able to obtain a subsidy of up to R83 000 to assist 
them in buying houses through an accredited 
financial institution. In addition, the National 
Housing Finance Corporation intends establishing 
a Mortgage Default Insurance Company (MDI) 
which will have a positive impact on the credit life 
product. The Company intends to participate in 
this initiative.

•	 The Company currently finances its “Permission 
to Occupy” portfolio through its retail banking 
deposits received from its branch network. This 
“Permission to Occupy” portfolio enables it to 
deliver on its developmental mandate, specifically 
the access to housing finance for rural communities. 
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16. SOCIO-ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
(continued)

Consumer education
The Company has implemented a Home Owners’ 
Education Programme which has been rolled out to 
its clients during the financial year. The programme 
is essentially a home loan education programme for 
first time home owners. It seeks to provide information 
regarding home ownership, the servicing of a mortgage 
bond and the regulations governing the home loan 
industry. During the financial year, the Company held 
403 such programmes throughout the Province.

Special Project: Teach Children to Save South Africa 
(“TCTS SA”) teaches children to save by fostering a 
culture of saving. TCTS SA highlights the important 
role that volunteer bankers and financial sector 
professionals can play in educating our nation’s youth 
to become lifelong savers. The Company participated 
in the Banking Association’s “Teach a Child to Save” 
campaign, which included partnering with Embo 
Business and Employment Hub to host the TCTS SA 
campaign. Over 3 000 learners from different primary 
schools from Embo, KwaNyuswa, Ngcolosi and 
Molweni were taken through the campaign.

Beyond compliance 
As a financial institution which was created to serve the 
needs of the unbanked in the Province, the Company 
plays a vital role in providing access to financial services to 
disadvantaged individuals, businesses and communities.
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Development
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17. ACCESS TO FINANCIAL SERVICES–DISTRIBUTION “FOOTPRINT”

a. The Company currently has 48 operational 
branches spread throughout the Province.

b. Factors influencing access include:
•	 Distribution Channels – aims to reach the target 

market with particular focus on providing financial 
services in townships and marginalised areas. 

•	 Partnerships – Smart partnerships with retail stores 
will assist to expand its footprint and access points. 

•	 “Project Confidence” – Initiatives to forge 
relations with provincial government departments 

are currently underway. These partnerships are 
intended to encourage government institutions 
and Public entities to bank as well as invest with 
the Company.

•	 Developmental partnerships.
•	 Electronic banking / Virtual Banking strategy – 

aims to increase market share, enhance revenue 
streams and diversify products through the 
development of a virtual banking strategy.

ITHALA
LIMITED

BRANCHES CLOSED
 Philani Valley – Closed 2012

Updated: 13 June 2012

ITHALA BRANCHES
B1 Albert Street, Qualbert Centre, Sh.1 Durban
B2 Stavcom Centre, Main Rd Bulwer
B3 Ithala C. Zulmet Sh.2 Empangeni
B4 Ithala Centre, Harding St Sh.B6 Estcourt
B5 Ezakheni Estate Ezakheni
B6 Ingwavuma Sh. Centre Main Rd Ingwavuma
B7 Izingolweni S. Centre Sh.12 Izingolweni
B8 Ithala Centre Jozini Sh.12, Main Rd Jozini
B9 Murchison Street 116 Ladysmith
B10 Langalibalele Street 116 Pietermaritzburg
B11 Ithala C. Madadeni Sh.10 Madadeni
B12 Sundumbili Plaza Sh.24 Old Main Rd Mandeni
B13 Ithala Centre Manguazi Sh.7&8 Manguzi
B14 Ithala Centre Mbazwane Mbazwane
B15 Mkuze Plaza Sh.12 Mkuze
B16 Ithala C. Nkandla, Hadebe St. Nkandla
B17 St Lucia Rd Mtubatuba
B18 Boxer Supertrade Ndumo Ndumo
B19 Voortrekker Street 22 Newcastle
B20 Cnr. Shepstone Rd & Chelsea Ave New Germany
B21 Ngwelezana Branch Office Ngwelezana
B22 GH Centre Sh.337 Main St Umzinto
B23 Nongoma Plaza Sh.2 Main Rd Nongoma
B24 Ntuli Shopping Centre Nqutu
B25 Church Street 398 Pietermaritzburg
B26 Hill Street 35 Pinetown
B27 Ixopo, Margaret St 46 Ixopo
B28 Stanger Market Plaza Sh.44 Cato St Stanger
B29 Old Main Road 312 Tongaat
B30 Ithala C. Ondini, Ps. Mkhabayi St Ulundi
B31 Cnr Umgeni Road and Kolling St Game City, Durban
B32 Kokstad – Closed 2012 Kokstad
B33 Bloemnel Centre, Hoog St 121 Vryheid
B34 Ithala Centre Sh.U12, Umlazi W Umlazi W
B35 Ithala CSC, 17 Isilo Drive Umlazi V
B36 Hill Street Training Centre Pinetown
B37 Ithala C. Kwamashu Sh.2 Kwamashu
B38 Kwazi Mall, L33 Marastrase Richards Bay
B39 Ithala C. Esh. Sh.4 Osborne St Eshowe
B40 Ithala C. Tugela Ferry Sh.23 Tugela Ferry
B41 Umlazi Mega City Sh.1MC Umlazi
B42 Kings Centre Sh.15 Naude St Pongola
B43 Maxwell Street 44 Empangeni
B44 Harward St 15 Howick Howick
B45 Newcastle Reg Office – Closed 2012 Newcastle
B46 Ithala C. Harding Sh.38 Musgrave St Harding
B47 Ithala Ltd – Head Office. 303 West St Durban CBD
B48 Port Shepstone. Wooley St. 49 Port Shepstone
B49 Bell St. 39 Sh.7 Greytown Greytown
B50 Isithebe Industrial Estate Mandini
B51 JMS Centre Sh.3 Main Rd. Hluhluwe Hluhluwe
B52 Pinewalk Centre Sh.8, Kings Rd Pinetown
B53 Ntingwe Tea Estate Nkandla
B54 Philani Valley – Closed 2012 Umlazi Y
B55 Gardiner St, Mutual Mall Sh.62 Durban CBD
B56 Galleria S.C. – Closed 2012 Amanzimtoti
B57 Cnr South & Latham St Lot98/1 Bergville
B58 Basil’s S.Centre 1 Noodsberg Rd Dalton
A1 Moorton Agency Chatsworth

B53 Ntingwe Tea Estate (Red text denotes  
 Non Ithala Limited Location)
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18. PROCUREMENT SPEND

The Company supports Broad Based Black Economic 
Empowerment (BBBEE) as part of its strategic priorities 
for the advancement of economic participation of 
Black people in the South African economy. The 
objectives include supporting the Black Economic 
Empowerment drive through the:

•	 Development of Broad Based Black Economic 
Empowerment policies; and

•	 Supporting Black Economic Empowerment 
through suppliers. 

During the 2011 / 2012 financial year, the Company’s 
overall BBBEE spend was 61.72%. In the sub targets, 
the SME spend was 11.8%, the Black-owned enterprises 
spend was 3.78% and the Black women-owned (BWO) 
enterprises spend was 1.16%. This combined spend 
translates to a score for procurement of 16, 65 on the 
generic DTI scorecard.  

Supply Chain Management (SCM) policies and 
procedures were formulated by the Company and 
aligned throughout the Group to ensure compliance 
with Section 38 of the Public Finance Management Act 
(“PFMA”) which sets out the general responsibilities 
of Accounting Officers, one of which is to ensure that 
the Company has and maintains “an appropriate 
procurement and provisioning system which is fair, 
equitable, transparent, competitive and cost-effective”. 
The aim of the SCM Policy Manual seeks to ensure 
delivery of the PFMA provisions whilst ensuring that 

these activities are consistent with the Governance, 
Risk Management and Compliance requirements and 
standards of the Company. 

The Company has finalised the implementation of its 
“Procure to Pay (P2P)” IT related project which will result 
in end to end automation of the acquisition process 
including the completion of requisitions and authorisations 
required during the process. This automated system will 
promote effectiveness and efficiencies in the procurement 
process, thus ensuring that the Company’s BBBEE spend 
is directed towards target categories.

The Financial Sector Charter Council (FSC Council) 
announced the gazetting of its BBBEE Sector Code on 
2 March 2012, as provided for in terms of Section 9(5) 
of the BBBEE Act. The Financial Sector Code commits 
all participants to actively promote a transformed, 
vibrant and globally competitive financial sector that 
reflects the demographics of South Africa and which 
contributes to the establishment of an equitable 
society by providing accessible financial services to 
Black people and by directing investment into targeted 
sectors of the economy.

During the year under review an accredited verification 
agency conducted an independent assessment of the 
Company’s black economic performance in terms of 
the DTI Codes and the Financial Sector Code. The 
Company qualified as a level 4 contributor with an 
overall score of 67, 82. 

The following table and graph represents the Company’s 2011 / 2012 BBBEE scorecard in respect of each 
element:

Employment Equity Scorecard: Measures initiatives intended to achieve equity in the workplace:

BEE indicator Target 2011 / 2012 Performance

Total Score: Employment Equity 15 14, 5

Skills Development: Measures the extent that employers carry out initiatives designed to help develop 
competencies of Black employees

BEE indicator Target 2011 / 2012 Performance

Skills development spend on black employees 8 6, 67

Skills spend on black employees with disabilities 4 0

Number of black employees participating in in-service 
training programmes as a percentage of total employees 8 0

Total score: Skills Spend 20 6, 67

Preferential Procurement: Measures the extent that enterprises buy goods and services from BEE compliant 
as well as black-owned entities

BEE indicator Target 2011 / 2012 Performance

Total Score: Procurement 20 16, 65
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19. PROCUREMENT POLICY

The Company implements a procurement policy which embraces its commitment to BBBEE in a manner that is 
fair, transparent, competitive and cost-effective.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company continues to strive to deliver value 
to its stakeholders through governance principles 
underlying its strategic objectives and operational 
activities. The codes of good practice and the protocol 
of good governance that supports the Public Sector, 
continue to provide guidance to the Board. The 
Company is registered as a public company under 
the Companies Act and is listed as a major public 
entity in terms of Schedule 3 of the Public Finance 
Management Act (PFMA).

The Company is committed to continually enhancing 
its corporate governance processes in line with 
best practice ensuring that operations are ethically 
conducted within regulatory framework. The 
Company’s approach to corporate governance is 
based on six fundamental principles: accountability, 
transparency, responsibility, independence, ethical 
fairness and social development. These principles 
enhance its values expressed in the acronym PRIDE 
(Passion, Results, Integrity, Diversity and Excellence). 
Furthermore, the Company has a Code of Ethics, 
as well as behavioural standards specified in an 
employee manual.

STRATEGY
The strategic objectives are aligned with the strategic 
planning framework adopted by the Province, which 
is guided by the medium term strategic framework 
which reflects provincial outcome priorities. The 
Corporate Plan and Annual Performance Plans 
were developed with set targets and performance 
measurements to achieve the set outcomes which 
are aligned with stakeholder expectations. Capital 
planning and financial sustainability form part of the 
strategic objectives.

BOARD AND DIRECTORS (BOARD)
The Board is responsible for the decision-making 
process on strategy, planning and performance, 
allocation of resources, business ethics and risk 
management and communication with stakeholders.

The Terms of Reference and Board Charter for 
the Board define the framework, authority and 
parameters within which the Board operates. For 
ease of alignment and business interface with the 
company, the Board invites executive management to 
its meetings, whilst specifically reserving their right to 
meet without management’s presence when required.

Board Structure and Composition 
The Board currently comprises four Independent Non-
Executive Directors, two Non-Executive Directors and 
two Executive Directors namely, the Chief Executive 
Officer and the Finance Director. Three of the Non-
Executive and the two Executive Directors were 
appointed during the period under review. As at 31 
March 2013, the Board comprised of: 

•	 GNJ White – Non-Executive Director – Acting 
Chairperson

•	 L van Lelyveld – Independent Non-Executive 
Director

•	 M Mia – Independent Non-Executive Director
•	 B Ngonyama – Independent Non-Executive 

Director 
•	 SC Ngidi –  Independent Non-Executive Director
•	 YEN Zwane – Non-Executive Director
•	 SV Khoza – Executive Director
•	 PA Ireland – Executive Director

Mr MF Kekana was appointed to the Board as 
Chairperson with effect from 8 May 2013. Mr. Kekana 
has resigned from his position as Deputy Chairperson 
of Ithala Development Finance Corporation Limited 
in order to fulfill the role of an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Ithala Limited.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
The independence of the Board is maintained by 
adhering to certain key principles:

•	 The Annual General Meeting confirms the 
nomination and ratifies the appointment of the 
majority of the Board for a fixed term;

•	 The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer are kept separate;

2
Executive 
Directors 

2
Non-Executive 

Directors

4
Independent 
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•	 the Chairman is an independent non-executive 
member of the Board; and

•	 all Board committees are chaired by an 
independent, non-executive member.

Resignation and Retirement of Directors

Appointment policy

The appointment policy was adopted during the 
2011 / 2012 financial year.

Board responsibilities

•	 Reviewing the strategic direction of the Company 
and adopting business plans proposed by 
management for the achievement thereof and 
identify key performance areas affecting the 
business;

•	 Approving specific financial and non-financial 
objectives and policies proposed by management;

•	 Reviewing the processes for the identification and 
management of business risk;

•	 Responsible for information technology 
governance;

•	 Delegating appropriate authority to management 
for capital expenditure;

•	 Approving succession planning in respect of 
executive positions;

•	 Consider business rescue proceedings or other 
turnaround mechanisms; and

•	 Ensuring Board appointment processes are in place.

Delegated power of authority

The Board maintains an effective control through 
established Board committees that execute the 
delegated Board responsibilities. The Board 
committee mandate is reviewed annually. 

The day-to-day management of the Company vests in 
the hands of the Chief Executive Officer as provided in 
the Articles of Association subject to the delegations 
of authority approved by the Board.

Other governance related matters

The main focus of this function is to establish the 
Company’s internal control system to facilitate the 
effectiveness and efficiency of operations and assist in 
ensuring reliability of internal and external reporting, 
whilst also assisting with general compliance with 
Ithala’s compliance and regulating universe.

The Board also considers matters relating to 
procurement and capital expenditure which are 
above the delegated levels of authority of executive 
management.

The work is ongoing, geared at ensuring that Ithala is 
not adversely exposed to legal and compliance risks.

In the year under review, no material non-compliance 
of legislation / regulation has come to the attention 
of the Board.

Board Meetings
The Board meets four times a year with additional 
meetings convened when necessary. 

Board Charter

A Board Charter has been established and developed 
for Directors and includes the Directors’ code of 
conduct. The Board is fully committed to maintaining 
the standards of integrity, accountability and openness 
required to achieve effective corporate governance. 
The charter confirms the Board’s accountability, 
fiduciary duties, duty to declare conflict of interests, 
appointments to committees and relationship with 
the Company’s staff and meeting procedures.

Other Board responsibilities include: 
•	 Report on integrated sustainability;
•	 Ensure the Company has an effective and 

independent Audit Committee;
•	 Promote a stakeholder-inclusive approach 

towards the governance of the Company; 
•	 Monitor operational performance and 

management; and
•	 Determine policy and processes to ensure the 

integrity of the Company.
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BOARD AND DIRECTORS (BOARD)
Board meetings 

Attendance at Board meetings was as per the table below:

May June July Sept Oct Nov Feb

Non-Executive

MM Buthelezi  – Chairman 
(resigned as Chairman wef 30/9/2012)

√√ √ √√ A R

GNJ White – Acting Chairman** 
(appointed as Acting Chairman wef 1/10/ 2012)

√√ √√ √ √

SC Nzuza √√ √ √√ A A A R

SC Ngidi √√ √ √√ √√ √√ √ √

P Christianson √√ √ √√ √√ R

M Mia √√ √ √√ √√ A √ √

L Van Lelyveld** √√ A √

B Ngonyama** √ √√ √√ √√ A √

YEN Zwane A A √√ √√ √√ √ A

Executive

BTTT Mathe √√ √ √√ √√ √√ √ √

Y Dockrat √√ √ √√ √√ R

SV Khoza** √√ √ √

PA Ireland** √√ √ √

√ = Present A = Absent with apology √√ = Special meeting ** = New appointment R = Resigned

Board Effectiveness and Evaluation
The Board has a formal process of evaluating / 
assessing the performance of individual Board 
members which is done annually. Each Board member 
completes a self-assessment form where he / she 
evaluates his / her performance for the year. There is 
also a peer review process where the Board members 
evaluate the performance of their colleagues. The 
Chairman of the Board then engages each Board 
member individually and reviews the results of this 
process. Areas of improvement are discussed and 
corrective actions agreed upon. This exercise also 
assists the Chairman to identify training needs for 
each Board member. 

Board Committees
The Board has established four committees to focus on 
key functional areas where specialist expertise is required. 
All the committees are chaired by an Independent 
Non-Executive Director and their members include 
both Non-Executive Directors and Executive Directors. 
Executive Directors are members of the Enterprise Risk 
Committee. The Executive Directors attend the Board 
and Audit Committee meeting.

To ensure that the terms of reference of the 
committees remain current and comply with best 
practice, they are reviewed annually by the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
This committee meets four times a year to consider 
Annual Financial Statements, accounting policies and 
safeguarding of assets, approval of the combined 
assurance model audit plans and the findings of 
external and internal auditors. The committee also 
monitors governance and ethical standards.

4
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Non-Executive
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Audit Committee composition and meeting 
procedure:
All members of the committee are Independent Non-
Executive Directors. As at September 2012, a new 
Chairman was appointed. Both external and internal 
auditors have unrestricted access to the Chairman and 
may meet with the committee without any executive 
directors present when required, but formally at least 
once a year.

Attendance at the Audit Committee meetings was as 
per the table below:

Members
18 

May
23 

May Jul Aug Oct Nov Feb

P Christianson 
– Chairman 
(resigned wef 
17 Sept 2012)

√√ √ √√ √ R

B Ngonyama 
**–Chairperson 
(wef 17 Sept 
2012)

√ √ √√ √

SC Nzuza √√ √ √√ √ √ A R

M Mia √√ A √√ A √ √√ √

L Van 
Lelyveld **

√ √√ √

√ = Present A = Absent with apology
√√= Special Board meeting ** = New appointment

R = Resigned

Objectives
The Audit Committee Charter sets out the function and 
responsibilities including management’s processes. 
The objectives include:
•	 Examining and reviewing financial statements, 

the accompanying reports or other financial 
information prior to approval by the Board and 
where necessary introducing measures that may 
in the Committee’s opinion serve to enhance the 
credibility and objectivity of financial statements;

•	 Assisting the Board in discharging its duties 
relating to the safeguarding of assets, the 
operation of adequate systems, control processes 
and the preparation of accurate financial reporting 
and statements in compliance with all applicable 
legal requirements and accounting standards;

•	 Assisting the Board in evaluating the adequacy 
and efficiency of the internal control systems, 
accounting practices, information systems and 
auditing processes applied within the Company 
or, in the day-to-day management of its business;

•	 Assisting the Board to facilitate and promote 
communication, between the Board of Directors 

and the Executive Officers, the internal and 
external auditors;

•	 Considering any problems identified in the going 
concern or statement of internal controls;

•	 Reviewing the overall operational and financial 
reporting environment and ensuring management 
maintains proper and adequate accounting records;

•	 Ensuring that a risk management strategy is in 
place, which includes a fraud prevention plan;

•	 Sets out the roles, duties and responsibilities of 
the Auditor-General, External and Internal Auditors 
and Compliance for reporting purposes to the 
Audit Committee;

•	 Meeting the Auditor-General and the Head 
of Internal Audit regularly in the absence of 
management; and

•	 Reviewing the effectiveness of the system for 
monitoring compliance with laws and regulations 
and the results of management’s investigation 
and follow-up (including disciplinary action) or any 
instances of non-compliance.

WHISTLE BLOWING
The Company has a whistle-blowing facility available 
to employees. Matters are investigated and reported 
to a hotline that is in place to assist in the investigation 
and reporting of allegations. Suspicions or actual 
fraud is reported to the tip-offs anonymous hotline or 
Ithala@tip-offs.com.

ANTI-FRAUD AND CORRUPTION
The Company adopted a zero-tolerance approach 
towards fraud and corruption.

ENTERPRISE RISK COMMITTEE
Objectives:
The Enterprise Risk Committee (ERC) provides an 
objective oversight of risk and capital management.

ENTERPRISE RISK COMMITTEE
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ENTERPRISE RISK COMMITTEE 
(continued)

Composition 
The ERC comprises three Independent Non-Executive 
Directors, two Non-Executive Directors and Two 
Executive Directors.

Key activities
•	 Monitor liquidity risk, interest rate risk;
•	 Review and monitor credit risk;
•	 Review and monitor solvency risk;
•	 Review and monitor operational and technology risk;
•	 Review and monitor risks relating to going concern; 

and 
•	 Continuously review and enhance the adequacy and 

efficiency of risk management policies, procedures 
and practices.

Attendance at the ERC meetings was as per the table 
below:

Member May July Sept Nov Feb Mar

S C Nzuza – 
Chairman (resigned 
wef 30 Jan 2013)

√ √ √ √ R

L van Lelyveld – 
Acting Chairperson 
** (appointed as 
Acting Chairperson 
wef 30 Jan 2013)

√ √

P Christianson √ √ R

GNJ White** √ √ √ √

MM Buthelezi √ A A R

M Mia** √ A

B Ngonyama** A √

YEN Zwane √ √ A A A A

BTTT Mathe √ √ √ √ A A

Y Dockrat √ √ √ R

PA Ireland** √ √ √

SV Khoza** √ √ √

√ = Present A = Absent with apology
√√= Special Board meeting   ** = New appointment R = Resigned 

HUMAN RESOURCES, SOCIAL AND 
ETHICS COMMITTEE

Objectives
•	 To develop and implement a competitive Human 

Resources strategy to ensure that the Company 
is able to attract, retain and develop competent 
and talented staff to support superior business 
performance.

•	 To create an organisational culture, structure and 
process that ensures the development of people 

and the optimisation of their potential.
•	 To improve organisational efficiency by setting 

measurable employment targets and monitoring 
statutory compliance relating to employment 
matters.

In line with the principles of good corporate 
governance, the Board has enhanced the 
responsibility of the Committee to also assume the 
responsibility of social and ethics. On 26 November 
2012, the Board approved the name change of the 
Human Resources and Remuneration Committee 
to Human Resource, Social and Ethics Committee. 
This Committee will have an additional objective of 
providing strategic guidelines in all aspects of social 
ethics to the Company.  

Composition 
The Human Resources, Social and Ethics Committee 
comprises two Independent Non-Executive Directors 
and one Non-Executive Director. 

Attendance at the Human Resources Social Ethics 
Committee’s meetings was as per the table below:

Member June Oct Nov Mar

SC Ngidi – Chairman √ √ √ √

M Mia √ √ √ √

YEN Zwane √ √ √ √

√ = Present A = Absent with apology
√√= Special Board meeting ** = New appointment
R = Resigned 

DIRECTORS’ AFFAIRS COMMITTEE
This committee is chaired by the Chairman of the 
Board and its main function is to identify and make 
recommendations to the Board and shareholders 
concerning the appointment of Directors with suitable 

HUMAN RESOURCES, 
SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

1
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2
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skills and expertise and to monitor Board performance 
and effectiveness. The committee also considers the 
composition and performance of Board committees.

The Chief Executive Officer, where appropriate, is 
invited to attend meetings of this committee.

Attendance at the Directors’ Affairs Committee 
meetings during the year was as per the table below:

Member July

MM Buthelezi – Chairman √

SC Nzuza √

SC Ngidi √

P Christianson √

M Mia √

B Ngonyama** √

YEN Zwane √

√ = Present A = Absent with apology
√√= Special Board meeting ** = New appointment 
R = Resigned 

Remuneration of the Board
The Independent Non-Executive Directors’ 
remuneration is determined at the Annual General 
Meeting, in line with the provisions of the Treasury 
guidelines on remuneration for Independent Non-
Executives. The Directors are remunerated on the 
basis of a monthly retainer and Board / committee 
meeting attendance.

The Board has finance, audit, legal, risk management 
and human resources skills and experience. There are 
also skills and experience in general business, which 
fits the Company’s scope of operations.

Board Effectiveness and Governance

Declaration of interest

The Board of Directors conforms to a conflict of 
interest process. 

DIRECTORS’ AFFAIRS COMMITTEE
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COMPLIANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION
The Company has established a dedicated and 
independent compliance function as prescribed by 
various legislative requirements encompassed in 
Regulation 47 of the Banks Act No. 94 of 1990, section 
17 of the Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services 
Act No. 37 of 2002 (the FAIS Act), and Section 43 of 
the Financial Intelligence Centre Act (the FIC Act). These 
legislative prescripts further prescribe the appointment 
of an approved compliance officer to lead the 
compliance function in a financial services environment. 

The primary role of the compliance department is to 
assist management in discharging its responsibility 
to comply with statutory, regulatory and supervisory 
requirements through identifying, assessing, 
providing advisory support, monitoring and reporting 
on regulatory compliance.

The independent compliance function ensures:

•	 Lower impact of reputational risk due to, inter alia,  
specific focus on:
 - maintaining the highest personal standards of 

integrity at all levels;
 - the importance of fair dealing with all clients; 

and
 - The provision of qualitative and competent 

services.
•	 Lower impact of regulatory risk due to a continuous 

focus and / or awareness on compliance to all 
applicable laws, regulations and supervisory 
requirements.

Compliance risks that face the Company are loss 
of reputation, fines, civil claims, and / or loss of 
recognition by the regulators, which would jeopardise 
the business of the Company.  If legislation governing 
the business is breached, the Company could be 
fined, statutory registration withdrawn or the officers 
imprisoned. Damage to the Company’s reputation 
could result in an exodus of clients. Accordingly, 
compliance risks are very serious and are therefore 
required to be managed by all responsible individuals 
in the Company.

There is a renewed focus to ensure that the status 
of compliance continues to improve by adhering to 
the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. In 
instances where non-compliance has been identified, 
these have been managed via the implementation of 

initiatives at managerial level. A strong compliance 
culture is fostered through the implementation of key 
compliance risk controls in systems, processes, and 
training initiatives.

NATIONAL CREDIT ACT (NCA)
The credit industry is regulated by the National Credit 
Regulator (NCR). As a participant in this industry, the 
Company, similar to the requirements imposed on 
other credit providers, prepares regulatory reports 
for the NCR. As a result of the Company providing 
secured and unsecured lending products, monitoring 
of adherence to the stipulations of NCA takes place on 
an ongoing basis. All statutory returns and assurance 
reports were duly submitted. A Language Policy has 
also been implemented and is monitored to ensure 
that customers can have access to documents in at 
least two of the 11 official languages, being either 
English or isiZulu.

The Company subscribes to the Credit Ombud who 
resolves complaints from consumers and businesses 
that are negatively impacted by credit bureau 
information or in instances where consumers have 
disputes with a credit provider, debt counsellor or 
payment distribution agent. 

CODE OF BANKING PRACTICE (“THE 
CODE”)
The Company subscribes to the Code of Banking 
Practice, which is a voluntary Code that sets out 
the minimum standards for service and conduct 
expected from a financial institution with regards to 
the services and products it offers. The Company 
thus falls under the jurisdiction of the Ombudsman of 
Banking Services who manages all client complaints 
or disputes that cannot be resolved by the Company. 

The Company aims to address complaints that have 
been raised within a reasonable time. In accordance 
with this principle, a dispute resolution process is in 
place which serves as a platform for clients to lodge 
complaints.

The Company’s responsibilities to the customer are 
underpinned by the values of fairness, transparency, 
accountability and reliability.

BANKS ACT
The purpose of the Banks Act is to provide for the 
regulation and supervision of the business of public 
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Companies taking deposits from the public. Further to 
this, the objective is to provide for the establishment 
of basic principles relating to the maintenance of 
effective risk management by banks and controlling 
companies. 

During the period under review, compliance reports 
and the BA returns were submitted and the on-site 
visit by the South African Reserve Bank (“SARB”) 
was fruitful. The Company works very closely with 
the SARB and endorses principles of openness, 
transparency and accountability. 

CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT (CPA)
The Consumer Protection Act focuses on consumer 
protection by aiming to “promote a fair, accessible 
and sustainable marketplace for consumer products 
and services.” The objective of the CPA is to prevent 
exploitation or harm to consumers and to regulate 
the way businesses relate with consumers and how 
they market their products and services.

During the period under review, all related processes 
and documentation were reviewed and aligned with 
to ensure compliance with the regulatory requirements 
of the CPA. Further mechanisms were implemented to 
ensure that every transaction for the acquisition of goods 
or services and / or promotion thereof is conducted in 
accordance with the principles of the CPA.

FINANCIAL ADVISORY AND 
INTERMEDIARY SERVICES (FAIS) ACT
The Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services 
Act aims to regulate the rendering of advice and 
intermediary services to clients. 

The purpose of the FAIS Act is to protect consumers 
of financial services and to professionalise the 
financial services industry. To achieve this, the FAIS 
Act imposes certain requirements on financial services 
providers to ensure that consumers receive factual, 
sufficient financial advice and information in order 
to make informed investment decisions, to which it 
abides by.

The FAIS Act’s main objective is investor protection. 
The company ensures compliance with its general 
duty to, at all times, render financial service honestly, 
fairly, with due skill, care and diligence and in the 
interest of its clients.

The FAIS Act requires that any person who gives 
advice and / or renders an intermediary service in 
respect of a financial product must be authorised as 
a financial services provider, also referred to as an 

FSP, or must be appointed as a representative of an 
authorised financial services provider. 

The Company is a licensed FSP and for the period 
under review the Company’s focus included ensuring 
that its staff are “fit and proper” through ongoing 
training and assessments. The 2012 Compliance 
Reports were furnished to the Financial Services 
Board as required by section 17(4) of the FAIS Act and 
the on-site visit by the Financial Services Board (FSB) 
was successful. 

ANTI-MONEY-LAUNDERING (AML) 
AND COMBATING THE FINANCING 
OF TERRORIST AND RELATED 
ACTIVITIES
The Company has formulated and implemented its 
Internal Controls concerning the establishment and 
verification of the identity of persons as required. In 
addition, processes and systems have been enhanced 
and entrenched to ascertain the timing of the 
reporting of transactions as required by the Financial 
Intelligence Centre Act (“FIC Act“). 

For the period under review all necessary cash 
threshold and suspicious transactions reporting was 
submitted. Compliance reviews were also conducted 
during the year, which indicate a satisfactory status of 
compliance with the FIC Act.

PUBLIC FINANCE MANAGEMENT ACT 
(PFMA)
The purpose of the Public Finance Management Act is 
to regulate financial management within the spheres 
of national and local government so as to ensure 
that all revenue, expenditure, assets and liabilities of 
government are managed efficiently and effectively. 

The Company is a subsidiary of a provincial public 
entity established in terms of the KwaZulu-Natal 
Development Finance Corporation Act No. 2 of 1999, 
listed as set out under Schedule 3D to the PFMA, 
which also makes provision for the responsibilities of 
persons entrusted with financial management. The 
Board directs and guides the Company in a proper 
manner in keeping with the requirements set out in 
the PFMA. Compliance reviews conducted during the 
period under review indicate a satisfactory status of 
compliance with the PFMA.
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HOME LOAN AND MORTGAGE 
DISCLOSURE ACT 
The Home Loan and Mortgage Disclosure Act 
promotes fair lending practices, which require 
disclosure by financial institutions of information 

regarding the provision of home loans and requires 
that every financial institution disclose the required 
information in its Annual Financial Statements. 

The Company is an institution that extends credit to 
the public in terms of the Home Loan and Mortgage 
Disclosure Act and as such reports to the Department 
of Human Settlements in terms of the specified 
compliance requirements.

CONCLUSION
The Compliance Department is able to function 
adequately, independently and objectively during 

the period under review. In addition, the Compliance 
Officer’s function, as regards the internal control 
structure of the business, has been discharged in 
a manner that ensured that no actual or potential 
conflicts of interest arose, as regards the duties and 
functions of other employees and other control 
functions.

The Principles, Standards and Guidelines 
recommended by the Compliance Institute of South 
Africa (“CISA”) are applied wherever appropriate. 
These have been formulated to ensure adherence 
to both regulatory and supervisory requirements. 
In addition, the Company takes cognizance of 
compliance best practice guidelines and standards. 
The compliance framework, including independence, 
authority, structure and responsibilities are covered in 
more detail in the Company’s Compliance manual.

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2012 / 20133 0

Mega City branch.



ITHALA LIMITED ITHALA LIMITED

RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Risk is inherent in any business, more so in the business 
of banking. Risk management has become a key 
business driver as risk affects all parts of the business and 
influences both success and failure. Risk management is 
an essential part of the business strategy and operations 
that impacts business performance and financial results.

The responsibility for risk management rests with the 
Board. The Enterprise Risk Committee assists the Board 
in discharging its risk management responsibility, whilst 
the Audit Committee has an oversight responsibility.  The 
inter-relationships of the risks facing the organisation 
necessitate that they be viewed holistically. In this regard, 
the Board has adopted an integrated risk management 
strategy in which risk management, compliance, and 
internal audit operate within a common risk based 
framework. 

The Company addresses the risks inherent in its business 
activities with the aim of achieving sustained benefit 
within each business activity and across the portfolio 
of its operational activities. The Company is exposed 
to credit risk, operational risk, interest rate risk, liquidity 
risk, compliance risk, reputational risk and strategic risk. 
In managing these risks, a risk based framework is used 
which involves identification, measurement, monitoring, 
controlling and reporting to the relevant committees.

Risk management activities broadly take place 
simultaneously at different levels. At a strategic level risk 
management functions are performed by the Board of 
Directors and Management. These include definition of 
risk, determining risk appetite, formulating strategies 

and policies for managing risk and developing 
adequate systems and controls to ensure that overall 
risk remains within an acceptable level. At a macro 
level risk management activities are performed by units 
devoted to risk monitoring and reviews, namely, the 
Risk and Compliance functions and at a micro level risk 
management activities are performed within a business 
area, where risks originate. Risk management in these 
areas is embedded through adherence to operational 
procedures and guidelines set by management.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
The risk management framework encompasses the scope 
of risks to be managed, processes, systems and procedures 
to manage risk, as well as roles and responsibilities of 
individuals involved in risk management. The framework 
includes clearly defined risk management policies and 
procedures covering risk identification, acceptance, 
measurement, monitoring, reporting and control.

Management is responsible for developing risk 
management strategies and policies for each risk 
category. Board committees are responsible for review 
and recommendation of the said policies and strategies 
for Board approval. Risk tolerance levels are set out 
in the policies including exposure limits per product, 
and party or group of related parties. During the year 
under review there were no material deviations from the 
approved limits. 

Risk management strategies and policies are used in 
conjunction with delegated powers of authority, which 
detail the authority levels for various transactions.

RISK MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE
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RISK CATEGORIES
The Company is exposed to the following risks:

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk relates to exposure to funding 
mismatches due to contractual differences in maturity 
dates and the repayment structure of assets and 
liabilities resulting in the organisation not being able 
to meet its financial obligations.

Credit Risk
Credit risk arises from the potential that a borrower is 
either unwilling to perform on an obligation or its ability 
to perform such an obligation is impaired resulting in 
economic loss to the organisation.

Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the potential loss to which the 
Company is exposed to as a result of changes in interest 
rates. It is the risk associated with the margin between 
the interest rates earned on assets and paid on deposits, 
and the repricing gap between assets and liabilities.

Operational Risk
The risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed 
internal processes, people or systems, or from 
external events including legal risk, but does not 
include strategic or reputational risk.

Compliance Risk
Compliance risk relates to financial loss, damage to 
the organisation’s reputation due to failure to comply 
with applicable laws and regulations or supervisory 
requirements. 

Reputational Risk
The risk of damage to the Company’s image which 
could result in loss of business or the inability to 
attract new business.

Strategic Risk
The current or prospective impact on earnings or capital 
arising from adverse business decisions, improper 
implementation of decisions or lack of responsiveness 
to industry changes.

Integration of Risk Management
Risks are viewed and assessed holistically and not in 
isolation because a single transaction might have a 
number of risks and one type of risk can trigger other 
risks. Since interaction of various risks could result in 
diminution or increase in risk, the risk management 
processes recognise and reflect risk interactions in all 
business activities as appropriate. While assessing and 
managing risk, management will seek to obtain an 
overall view of risks the Company is exposed to as set 
out in risk category.

Risk Evaluation / Measurement
Risk evaluation / measurement gives a clear view 
of the Company’s exposure and assists in deciding 
on the relevant action plan. Existing controls are 
evaluated for effectiveness and whether amendments 
or additional controls are required.

STRATEGIC RISK ASSESSMENT
During the year under review the annual strategic risk 
assessment workshop was conducted, the objective 
of which was to identify risks that would prevent 
the Company from achieving its strategic objectives 
and any other risks it could be exposed to, and to 
formulate mitigation strategies. At the conclusion 
of the workshop the top ten (10) risks (per the table 
below) were identified. Mitigation strategies are 
evaluated on a regular basis to ensure that residual 
risks are reduced to the desired levels.

The graph depicts: Inherent Risk – risk before any controls are taken into account; Residual Risk – risk after the controls have been taken into 
account; Desired Residual Risk – the level of risk that the company is willing to accept; and Residual Risk Gap – the gap between residual risk 
and desired residual risk. 
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Ithala Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Ithala 
Development Finance Corporation Limited, maintains 
capital above minimum regulatory requirements. 
There are no known restrictions or major impediments 
to the transfer of funds from the holding Company 
to the subsidiary. However, transfer of funds from the 
subsidiary to the holding company is limited to 10% 
of the qualifying capital and reserves.

To ensure that adequate capital is maintained to 
support current business activities, anticipated 
growth and absorption of unexpected losses, a 
capital adequacy assessment is conducted, taking 
into consideration;

•	 Current and future minimum capital requirements 
in accordance with Pillar l;

•	 Additional capital requirements for risks not fully 
covered by Pillar l and risks not covered by Pillar II;

•	 Available capital against required capital; and
•	 Ability to raise additional capital.

An internal capital adequacy assessment process 
(ICAAP) is conducted to assess capital requirements 
against available capital. The process is forward 
looking and takes into account budgeted growth, risk 
exposures and anticipated losses. In addition, stress 
testing is conducted to test the capacity to absorb 
unexpected losses.

Capital requirements are calculated using the 
Standardised Approach for credit risk and Basic 
Indicator approach for operational risk. ‘Other’ relates 
to other assets, which in terms of Regulation 23 of 
the Banks Act are grouped with credit risk for the 
purposes of calculating regulatory capital, effectively 
using the same approach as for credit risk.

Regulatory Capital Requirements as at 31 March 2013

Exposure Capital requirements Risk weighted exposure

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Credit risk 91 816 90 988 918 163 936 034

Operational risk 44 010 42 017 440 095 428 243

Other 8 895 9 178 88 954 92 700

Total 144 721 142 183 1 447 212 1 456 977

Capital Adequacy as at 31 March 2013

Minimum  Capital 
requirements

Actual

2013 2012

Capital Adequacy ratio >=10.0% 11.06% 12.14%

Common Equity Tier I >= 5.5% 10.26% 11.33%

Total risk weighted assets (R’000) 1 447 212 1 456 977

Capital Structure
Common Equity Tier l capital is made up of issued ordinary shares, share premium and retained income. Tier ll 
capital comprises secondary unimpaired reserve funds made up of general allowance for credit impairment. 

2013
R’000

2012
R’000

Share capital 190 190

Share premium 189 810 189 810

Reserves (38 633) (21 398)

Prescribed deductions against capital and reserve funds (2 769) (3 481)

Total Tier I capital 148 598 165 121

General allowance for credit impairment 11 477 11 700

Total Tier II capital 11 477 11 700

Total qualifying capital 160 075 176 821
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)
The Company’s capital is in excess of minimum 
regulatory requirements. However the current level of 
capital and the fact that the Company has not come 
out of the loss making situation impacts negatively 
on growth opportunities and the sustainability of 
the company. Capital is required for investment in 
information technology and to facilitate business 
growth and profitability. In addition, Basel lll has raised 
the quality and quantity of capital requirements. 
Additional capital requirements are phased in from 1 
January 2013 and expected to be fully implemented 
on 1 January 2019. To this end a submission to the 
shareholder for an additional R105 million funding 
was approved in May 2013 and will be phased in 
during 2013. A total of R60 million of this was received 
subsequent to year end to the date of this report.

Other than the losses incurred in the normal operations 
of business, there were no undue, unexpected or 
unusual risks taken in pursuit of reward which could 
materially impact on capital.

CREDIT RISK
Credit risk arises from the potential that a borrower 
is either unwilling to perform on an obligation or 
the ability to perform such an obligation is impaired 
resulting in economic loss to the Company.

The major portion of credit risk exposure arises via 
individuals in the form of home, home improvement, 
personal and cash loans and the balance to businesses 
and property developers, in the form of property 
development and commercial property loans.

Credit Risk Management: Organisation and 
Structure
Credit risk constitutes the Company’s primary source 
of risk. Effective management of credit risk is essential 
and is underpinned by the credit risk management 
policy, which is subject to periodic review and 
approval by the Board.

The Enterprise Risk Committee assists the Board in 
discharging its responsibility regarding credit risk. 
The Management Credit Committee ensures that 
credit risk management strategies and policies are 
implemented. The committees are also responsible 
for approving material exposures.

The Management Credit Committee is chaired by 
the Chief Executive Officer. The committee approves 
loans which are considered to be significant.

Within the Credit Risk division, the responsibilities are 
as follows:

•	 Credit assessment and approval of loan 
applications, and monitoring of application 
scorecards, as is relevant;

•	 Monitoring of significant exposures and the 
various loan portfolios;

•	 Collections, including exposures which are past due;
•	 Monthly credit impairment calculations, in 

conjunction with the Finance department;
•	 Monthly internal reporting; and
•	 Completion of Credit Risk returns due to the 

South African Reserve Bank.

Credit Risk Reporting
Reports are submitted regularly to the Credit Sub-
Committee on portfolio analysis, status of significant 
exposures as well as those meeting pre-defined 
criteria, credit impairments and related matters. This 
Sub-Committee meets monthly and is a sub-set of the 
Management Credit Committee.

The following categories of reports are covered in 
committee structures within the Company:

•	 Credit granting statistics;
•	 Asset growth by product line;
•	 Portfolio analysis, including trends;
•	 Individually significant exposures, including large 

exposures and watch list exposures;
•	 Details of distressed loans;
•	 Credit impairment details;  and
•	 Other related reports.

Non-Performing Loans and Advances 
A non-performing loan is an exposure where specific 
credit impairment is raised against a credit exposure 
where the credit quality has declined significantly, or 
an obligation is past due for more than 90 days. An 
obligation is past due when the borrower has failed to 
honour it at the point when it fell due.

Impaired Loan and Advances, and Specific 
Impairments
Impaired loans and advances are defined as loans 
and advances in respect of which the entity has 
raised a specific impairment. A specific impairment is 
raised in respect of an asset that has triggered a loss 
event where the security held against the advance is 
insufficient to cover the total expected losses. Such 
a loss event may be significant financial difficulty of 
the issuer, a breach of contract, such as a default, or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments, with 
aging arrears as the primary driver.
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Portfolio Credit Impairment
Portfolio credit impairment represents the impairment 
on the loans and advances that have not been 
specifically impaired. These loans and advances 
have not yet individually evidenced a loss event. A 
period of time will elapse between the occurrence 
of an impairment event and objective evidence of 
the impairment becoming evident. This period is 
generally known as the emergence period. 

The approach adopted by the Company in respect 
of credit impairment, including specific and portfolio 
impairment, is as follows.

IAS 39 Credit Impairment Model
The Company undertakes a back-testing exercise to 
analyse the behaviour of the lending book during a 
specified period. This information is then collated and 
used to project the future behaviour of the lending 
book. Various time periods are tested. 

The time period selected is based on the following 
factors:
•	 The consistency of the base period in relation to 

the prior financial period;
•	 Consideration of the prevailing economic 

conditions; and
•	 Prudence in respect of anticipated interest rate 

changes.

The data used in the IAS 39 credit impairment model 
draws from the following factors, determined through 
backtesting:
•	 Default rates;
•	 Ratio of accounts that remained non-performing 

over the backtesting period;
•	 Cash Flows; and
•	 Time to realise security.

In most cases, the net realisable value of the 

security and cash flow is used to calculate the credit 
impairment amount.

For the purposes of determining the credit 
impairment, the security value on the banking system 
is reduced by the estimated selling costs and in the 
event that the net realisable security value is lower 
than the carrying amount, a further credit impairment 
based on the difference is raised. 

The credit impairment for non-performing loans is 
determined based on the security value of the loan 
less the cost of realising the security which is then 
discounted by the estimated period to realisation of 
the security and projected cash flows. 

Bond boycott loans are loans granted in areas where 
residents boycotted payments for bonds, municipal 
services and utilities. These loans have been ring-
fenced and have been fully impaired. 

Credit Risk Management policy
The Credit Risk Management Policy sets out the 
product limits, concentration limits, product pricing 
details as well general aspects relating to credit risk 
management within the Company. This policy is 
approved by the Board and is reviewed annually.  The 
policy forms the framework for the granting as well as 
the monitoring of credit exposures.

At the lending stage, the applicant’s repayment 
ability, cash flows, source of income and credit history 
is assessed. In addition, emphasis is placed on early 
identification of loans that pose high credit risk.  
Payment arrangements and work-out strategies are 
used to secure the high risk loans.

Major Types of Credit Risk Exposures
The aggregate amount of gross credit exposure after 
the effect of set-off but before the effects of credit 
risk-mitigation techniques is displayed below:

Total Gross Exposure

Major Types of 
Credit Exposures: 
Total Gross Expo-
sure

Amount 
Outstanding Impairment

Net 
Carrying 
Amount

Net 
Realisable 

Value of 
Security

Amount 
Outstanding Impairment

Net 
Carrying 
Amount

Net 
Realisable 

Value of 
Security

2013 
R’000

2013 
R’000

2013 
R’000

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

2012 
R’000

2012 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Commercial Loans 23 529  7 809 15 720 32 948 29 232 6 481 22 751 43 985

Property develop-
ment loans 10 476 6 733 3 743 6 500 15 089 9 897 5 192 13 524

Housing loans 
>R500k 342 384 23 609 318 775 291 516 289 898 20 299 269 599 264 856

Sub-total 376 389 38 151 338 238 330 964 334 219 36 677 297 542 322 365

Other loans 1 022 389 62 857 959 524 1 226 707 974 394 67 872 906 522 1 313 010

Total 1 398 770 101 008 1 297 762 1 557 671 1 308 613 104 549 1 204 064 1 635 375
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CREDIT RISK (continued)
Average Gross Exposures

Major Types of 
Credit Exposures: 
Average Gross 
Exposure

Amount 
Outstanding Impairment

Net 
Carrying 
Amount

Net 
Realisable 

Value of 
Security

Amount 
Outstanding Impairment

Net Carrying 
Amount

Net 
Realisable 

Value of 
Security

2013 
R’000

2013 
R’000

2013 
R’000

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

2012 
R’000

2012 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Commercial 
Loans 1 810 600 1 210 2 534 1 827 405 1 422 2 749

Property devel-
opment loans 3 492 2 244 1 248 2 167 2 515 1 649 866 2 254

Housing loans  
>R500k 736 51 685 627 763 53 710 697

Sub-total 6 038 2 895  3 143 5 328 5 105 2 107 2 998 5 700

Other loans 53 3 50 63 49 3 46 67

Total  6 091 2 898 3 193 5 391 5 154 2 110 3 044 5 767

Geographical Distribution of Credit 
Exposures
The Company operates solely in the province of 
KwaZulu-Natal and lends mainly to individuals in the 
mortgage sector. All exposures are within KwaZulu-
Natal, South Africa.

Sectoral Analysis of Loans and Advances
The table below shows distribution of exposures 
based on industry.

Sectoral Analysis

2013 2012

R’000 % R’000 %

Real Estate 23 529 2 29 232 2

Construction 10 476 1 15 089 1

Retail–mortgage 1 116 870 80 1 014 252 78

Retail–other 247 895 17 250 040 19

Total 1 398 770 100 1 308 613 100

Credit Risk Mitigation

Securities taken to mitigate credit risk:

In respect of home, commercial property and property 
development loans, mortgage bonds over properties 
and life insurance policies represent security.

For home improvement loans, the employee’s 
pension amount represents security and all cash loans 
are secured through deposits or investments.

The nature of security that is held by the Company 
in respect of loans and advances to customers is set 
out below:

Product Type of security

Housing loans, excluding 
Permission to Occupy (Pto’s)

Mortgage bond

Home Improvement loans Pledge of pension fund

Cash loans Cession of term investment

Commercial loans & 
property development loans

Mortgage bonds, cession of 
income, key man insurance 
policies, suretyships

On balance sheet netting

Term deposits, namely, fixed deposit and target save 
placed with the Company are considered eligible 
financial security.

On balance sheet, netting is used only on cash loans 
which are secured by a term investment. In cases 
where customers do not make regular payments, the 
term deposits are netted off against loan balances, 
on maturity.

Valuation of security

The amount of the loan is dependent on the value 
of the security. Prior to a mortgage agreement 
being concluded, a valuation is done to ascertain 
the appropriateness of the security. The valuation 
is done according to the guidelines of the Valuers’ 
Institute of SA. The value of the security is updated 
for non-performing loans or alternatively, the value at 
origination remains constant.
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In respect of home improvement loans granted to 
customers, the pension / provident proceeds are 
ceded to the Company and the loan is dependent 
on the pension amount accumulated at a particular 
time. The Company may call for additional security in 
the event that the risk is not properly mitigated by the 
existing security.

Enforcement of security

In the event of a defaulter failing to rehabilitate an 
overdue loan, the Company follows due legal process 
for the security. Those properties that are repossessed 
are made available for sale in an orderly manner to 
maximise the proceeds from sale. 

Basel ll / lll Approach
On adoption of Basel ll, the Standardised Approach 
was adopted for credit risk. As the standardised 
approach is one of the simpler approaches that Basel 
ll offers, it is well suited to the Company’s size and 
level of complexity. The implementation of Basel lll 
had no impact on the approach that Ithala adopted. 
Capital requirements for credit risk are determined 
based on the total risk weighted assets. The various 
assets are assigned different weightings dependent 
on their level of risk.

Credit Risk Exposures
Credit Risk Exposures 
relating to statement 
of financial position 
assets: Note

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000 

(Restated)

Statutory investments 4 218 037 116 275

Deposits with banks 5 414 934 584 421

Loans and advances 
to customers 6 1 398 770 1 308 613

Receivables and 
prepayment 7 15 175 18 418

Total assets subject 
to credit risk 2 047 916 2 027 727

Letters of undertaking 
issued 25 027 26 083

Credit risk exposures relating to interbank (deposits 
with banks) are risk weighted with reference to Fitch 
International ratings. The international ratings are 
mapped to risk weightings to determine capital 
requirements for these exposures. Banks with high 
ratings attract low risk weightings and consequently 
low capital requirements. 

The table below shows Fitch International ratings and 
the related risk weightings as at 31 March 2013:

Exposure Short-term Long-term
Risk 
Weightings

Interbank F2 50%

F3 100%

A- 50%

BBB 50%

BBB- 50%

Exposure per Asset class

Segmental analysis by industry of impairments in 
respect of non-performing loans 

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Real Estate 7 638 6 272

Construction 6 733 9 874

Retail – Mortgage 39 730 39 235

Retail – Other  14 702 21 530

Total 68 803 76 911

As at 31 March 2013

Category of Assets

Assets that are 
neither past due 

nor impaired

Assets that are 
past due but not 

yet impaired
Financial assets 

that are impaired Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Housing loans 1 172 487 50 002 99 764 1 322 253

Cash loans 23 164 - - 23 164

Commercial property loans 14 235 849 8 445 23 529

Microfinance – unsecured loans 21 754 1 327 6 743 29 824

Trade and other receivables 11 938 - 3 237 15 175

Total 1 243 578 52 178 118 189 1 413 945
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LIQUIDITY RISK
The nature of our business activities exposes the 
Company to liquidity risk. Liquidity risk exposure is 
due to contractual differences in maturity dates of 
assets and liabilities. Liabilities are short-term with the 
major part maturing contractually within six months, 
whereas, assets are long-term and the major part falls 
within the greater than one year maturity category. 
However, under normal circumstances adequate 
liquidity is maintained as deposits are rolled over and 
not withdrawn on maturity.

Liquidity risk management falls within the scope of 
the Asset and Liability Management Committee.

Liquidity risk management strategies and processes 
include:
•	 Management of assets and liabilities to ensure 

sufficient resources to meet approved and 
anticipated advances, repayment of maturing 
liabilities, withdrawals and any other commitments 
which become due in the ordinary course of 
business;

•	 Maintaining a diversified depositor base and 
limiting significant exposure to a single depositor 
or group of related depositors;

•	 Preparing cash flow projections regularly to assess 
available cash against cash requirements and 
determining funding sources;

•	 Maintaining a buffer of liquid assets in addition to 
statutory requirements;

•	 An assessment of the level of compliance with the 
statutory liquid asset requirements;

•	 An analysis of short-term liquidity mismatch and 
the trend;

•	 An assessment of sources of liquid funds available 
for funding such mismatches; and

•	 Projected cash inflow and outflow estimates and 
thus the net deficit or surplus over a time horizon.

Liquidity risk is measured by conducting an analysis of 
net funding requirements. Net funding requirements 
are determined by analysing future cash flows based 
on the assumptions of the expected behaviour of 
assets and liabilities and off balance sheet items.

Liquidity position is monitored on a monthly basis by 
the Asset and Liability Management Committee and 
reports to the Executive Committee on a monthly 
basis and to all Enterprise Risk Committee Meetings.

Basel lll
The adoption of Basel lll and the amendment of 
the Banks Act Regulations formalised the additional 

requirements in respect of liquidity risk management. 
These include:
•	 Liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) which sets out 

minimum requirements to ensure short-term 
resilience of liquidity risk profile i.e. maintenance 
of adequate level of unencumbered level one and 
level two high-quality liquid assets that can be 
converted into cash to meet the bank’s liquidity 
needs over a 30 calendar day time horizon under 
a significantly severe liquidity stress scenario.

•	 Net stable funding ratio (NSFR) sets out minimum 
requirements to promote resilience over a one year 
time horizon and ensures continuous maintenance 
of a specified amount of stable sources of funding 
relative to the liquidity profile of the assets and 
the potential for contingent liquidity needs arising 
from off balance sheet commitments.

From 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2014 the 
requirements of the Banks Act Regulation 26(12) relating 
to LCR apply to monitor the readiness to implement 
and fully comply with the said requirements and any 
subsequent amendments thereto as a minimum standard 
from 1 January 2015. The Company is monitoring these 
ratios and necessary action will be taken to ensure 
compliance when they become effective.

INTEREST RATE RISK 
Interest rate risk emanates from the repricing gap 
between assets and liabilities resulting from changes 
in the prime interest rate. It is the potential loss of 
income resulting from interest rate changes. 

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk due to 
deposit taking and lending activities. Balance sheet 
items, namely assets and liabilities, are both impacted 
by changes to interest rates irrespective of whether 
pricing is prime interest rate linked or not as they all 
change with interest rate changes, except for fixed 
rate products which reprice on maturity. 

Interest rate risk is the responsibility of the Asset and 
Liability Management Committee at management 
level and Enterprise Risk Committee at Board level.

Interest rate risk management strategy and processes 
include collaboration between the Finance and the 
Treasury function which manages placement of funds 
and the balance between risk and return, taking into 
account Ithala’s view on interest rates. Medium to 
long-term strategy return include initiatives to reduce 
exposure to interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis measures exposure to interest rate 
risk and is conducted on a monthly basis. Sensitivity 
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analysis measures the impact of a shock increase or 
decrease in interest rates. For regulatory purposes an 
interest rate shock of 200 basis points is used, and 
for business purposes it is aligned to the expected 
basis points increase / decrease per economists’ view, 
for the year under review being 50 basis points. The 
prime overdraft rate changed from 9% to 8.5% in July 
2012 and remained constant for the balance of the 
2012 / 2013 financial year.

The sensitivity analysis (calculated on a 200 basis point 
change) below is presented on a net interest income 
basis to reflect the operations of the Company:

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Increase:

Impact of increase in yield on 
assets on comprehensive income 38 303 37 967

Increased net interest income 
percentage 35% 35%

Impact of increase in cost of funds 
comprehensive income (24 606) (24 199)

Increased net interest income 
percentage (23%) (22%)

Decrease:

Impact of decrease in yield on 
assets on comprehensive income (38 787) (38 501)

Decreased net interest income 
percentage (36%) (36%)

Impact of decrease in cost of 
funds on comprehensive income 16 008 22 817

Increased net interest income 
percentage 15% 21%

Interest rate risk is monitored and managed through 
margin analysis and the monitoring of mismatch levels 
between re-pricing of assets and liabilities. 

OPERATIONAL RISK
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate 
or failed internal processes, people or systems or from 
external events, including legal risk, but does not include 
strategic and reputational risk. Operational risk exists in all 
products and business activities.

Responsibility
The Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring that 
operational risk is managed to an acceptable level. 
The Enterprise Risk Committee assists the Board 
in discharging this responsibility. Each and every 

individual within the Company is responsible for 
managing operational risk as it exists in all products 
and business activities. Line managers and their 
teams are responsible for day-to-day management 
of operational risk. The Management Operations 
Committee is responsible for ensuring that operational 
risk is managed to an acceptable level in line with 
approved parameters.

Framework
Operational risk management framework involves 
risk identification, assessment and measurement. 
Various methods are used to identify areas of risk and 
vulnerability. Risk assessment is conducted to determine 
the impact such events could have on the organisation.

Regulatory Capital
The Basic Indicator Approach was adopted upon 
Basel ll implementation. Measurement of the 
Regulatory Capital requirement for operational risk is 
computed using the following formula:

KBIA = [∑(GI1…n X α)]/n

Where:
KBIA - is the relevant required amount of capital and  
 reserve funds under the Basic Indicator  
 Approach.

GI -  is the relevant annual positive gross income  
 amount derived during the preceding three 
 year period. 

n -  is the relevant number of the previous three  
 years in respect of which gross income was  
 positive.

α -  is a fixed percentage, equal to 15 per cent.

Management and Monitoring
Operational risk is managed through implementation 
of appropriate internal control systems, supported by 
staff training. In addition, key controls and procedural 
manuals as well as delegated powers of authority are 
in place to assist staff in the execution of their duties. 
These are reviewed regularly. 

Risk monitoring includes monitoring of operational 
risk events and trends. The operational loss events 
are reported to the relevant committees.

Insurance
The Company’s assets are covered by relevant 
insurance policies to minimise losses. These insurance 
policies are reviewed annually. Insurance policies are 
considered to be a complementary tool rather than a 
substitute for operational risk management.
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OPERATIONAL RISK (continued)
Business continuity management
The Company maintains business continuity plans at 
organisational and business / branch levels.

TECHNOLOGY RISK
Technology risk is the risk of failures in systems, errors 
in the development of programmes, inadequate 
or inaccurate management information as well as 
inadequate security and contingency planning. 

Technology is the key enabler for conducting business, 
resulting in increased reliance thereon which in turn 
has increased the need for sound management of 
risks inherent in automated systems. To this end, 
disaster recovery plans are subject to review on an 
ongoing basis, thus ensuring that risks are mitigated. 
The business continuity programme identified sub-
projects which will enhance the Company’s ability 
to respond to emergencies and disasters as well as 
facilitate the resumption of critical business activities 
under abnormal circumstances.

Information Technology systems remain a challenge as 
the Company is still using legacy systems. The current 
system has limitations when it comes to introduction 
of new products aimed at growing the business 
and revenue. In order to address this risk a service 
provider has been contracted for the implementation 
of a hosted banking solution that will be used as 
an interim major while the company is working on 
sourcing and implementing a new banking system.

FRAUD PREVENTION
The Company is committed to eradicating fraud and 
to change the traditional role of being re-active and 
investigating to being pro-active and preventing. 
Measures in place to ensure that the risk of fraud is 
minimised include the following;

•	 The provision of fraud awareness training;
•	 Adherence to a culture of zero tolerance vis-à-vis 

fraud and theft;
•	 Effective management and implementation of 

policies aimed at governing staff behaviour;
•	 Conducting fraud risk susceptibility assessments 

to highlight areas of fraud susceptibility and 
formulation of appropriate controls and action 
plans to mitigate identified weaknesses; and

•	 An independent “whistle-blowing” service, 
enabling staff to report fraud anonymously.

These measures are the subject of ongoing review and 
refinement designed to minimise loss and improve 
fraud detection, awareness and control.

OTHER MATERIAL RISKS  
Compliance Risk
The management of compliance risk rests with the 
Compliance function, headed by the Compliance 
Officer, who monitors and reports regularly on 
the level of compliance with laws and regulations. 
Compliance is managed according to the Board 
approved framework, which gives priority to high risk 
laws and regulations.

Reputational Risk
Management of reputation is achieved through 
sound management of all risks as they may eventually 
impact on reputation. In addition, communication 
channels to all stakeholders exist to allow timely flow 
of information.

Strategic Risk
Strategic initiatives are supported by sound due 
diligence and risk management systems. These 
initiatives are well conceived and supported by 
appropriate communication channels, operating 
systems and service delivery channels. No new 
product or service is introduced without prior approval 
of the Board.
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HUMAN RESOURCES REPORT
Human resources management (HRM) continues 
to strengthen its contribution to the business, by 
partnership with management and employees in the 
journey to profitability. The Company has a strategy 
that is aimed at ensuring the return to profitability and 
sustainable growth. One of the significant strategic 
implementation pillars is the people plan that 
underpinned by the HRM strategy.  The HRM strategy 
focuses on the following core areas: 

•	 Talent management; 
•	 Organisational culture and change management; 
•	 Enhancement of organisational performance;

•	 Competitive remuneration system;
•	 Providing a healthy and conducive working 

environment;
•	 Capacity development;
•	 Corporate governance; and
•	 Organisational development.

IMPLEMENTATION OF TALENT 
MANAGEMENT STRATEGY
The talent management strategy has commenced 
with a phased implementation. The strategy has 
been launched and communicated throughout the 
Company. 

The Talent Management Framework:

Business Strategy

Strategic HR/Talent Plan

Talent 
Acquisition

Le
ad

ersh
ip

People Management People M
an

ag
ement

Leadership

Talent 
Deployment

Talent 
Development

Talent 
Retention

Organisation 
Culture

Talent Management System, Process, Tools & Metrics

Available Skills 
Pools

Educational 
Health

War for Talent

Labour and EE 
Legislation

HR Policy & 
Processes

•	 Performance 
Management

•	 Remuneration
•	 Promotion
•	 Transformation
•	 Diversity
•	 Empowerment

ORGANISATIONAL CULTURE AND 
CHANGE MANAGEMENT
The principles upon which change management 
processes are based are as follows:

•	 Change interventions do not exist in isolation, 
but are aimed at supporting defined business or 
technology projects;

•	 An effective change programme should contribute 

to the success of the project roll-out, as well as in 

obtaining buy-in and participation of its targeted 

groupings. Change management is ultimately 

concerned with the maximisation of project benefits 

to the business; and
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ORGANISATIONAL CULTURE AND 
CHANGE MANAGEMENT (continued)
•	 Change management is a collaborative effort 

between the facilitation team, leadership and 
business. It is for this reason that leadership 
participation, executive sponsorship, change 
agent network, end-user forums, etc. are a strong 
component of change programmes.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 
SYSTEM
The primary purpose of implementing a Performance 
Management System in the Company is to create 
a culture of performance which will continuously 
enable higher levels of efficiency and effectiveness 
throughout.

The Performance Management System is based on 
an annual work cycle that commences with a planning 
phase, where issues such as overall job purpose, 
key result areas, specific objectives, objectives, 
performance indicators and measures are clarified 
and agreed.

The broad guiding principles are: 

•	 An understanding of roles, responsibilities and 
performance expectations between managers 
and employees; 

•	 A shared commitment to, and responsibility 
for, ongoing and long-term performance 
improvement; 

•	 Providing employees with the appropriate 
knowledge, skills, support and resources to meet 
performance goals and objectives as well as their 
own career aspirations; 

•	 Integration of individual and team objectives 
with those of divisions / business units and the 
Company; 

•	 Recognition of the value of individual contributions 
to the success of the Company; 

•	 Monitoring of performance, identification of 
obstacles to the achievement of performance 
goals and objectives;

•	 Taking prompt remedial action to overcome such 
obstacles; and 

•	 A commitment to effective communication and 
effective working relationships. 

REMUNERATION PHILOSOPHY
We perform remuneration benchmarks to ensure 
we attract and retain the required talent and enable 
comparisons with our competitors. The information is 
utilised to provide input into salary negotiations for 
increments. Our remuneration and benefit policies 
are continuously being reviewed by the executive 
management with recommendations from the 
Human Resources, Social and Ethics Committee and 
final approval is granted by the Board to enable the 
Company to strive to be an employer of choice. As 
part of the enhancement, we have introduced the 
flexible remuneration payment primarily for sales 
positions. The magnitude of the sales generation 
focus required an alternative approach that will 
ensure payment for the sales generated, and which 
will coincide with the Company drive for profitability 
and sales maximisation.

EMPLOYEE WELLNESS
Our Employee Wellness Programme is in the process 
of being enhanced to ensure optimal response to 
employee demands. While the usage of local NGOs, 
health clinics and health professional bodies to assist 
in driving the programmes occurs especially in rural 
areas, it has become critical to secure the services of 
a dedicated Wellness partner for optimal support to 
our employees.

Below are some of the wellness interventions that are 
conducted annually:

•	 Annual wellness days which focused on the 
promotion of healthy living and prevention of 
diseases;

•	 Financial wellness / debt rehabilitation;
•	 Pre-retirement seminar; 
•	 Medical screening, which included eye screening, 

HIV and TB screening;
•	 SANBS donor clinic;
•	 Management of chronic diseases and other 

ailments; and
•	 Disability management for people with disabilities 

and health / lifestyle education.

These interventions continue to contribute towards 
general healthy living, improved absenteeism and 
usage of temporary staff, which ultimately contributes 
to cost containment.
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
While the focus continues to be on cost containment 
in the business, we rely on the performance 
management and succession plan driven individual 
development plans to develop the workplace skills 
plan. Within the Company, training needs have been 
done to ensure alignment of the plan to people 
needs and requirements. The Company continues 
to fund employees who enrol for their first formal 
qualifications. 

BURSARY SCHEME
In our approach of focusing on mission critical and 
scarce skills aligned to Accountancy and Mathematics 
in the banking sector, the Company has continued 
to fund two students through the University of Cape 
Town and the Durban University of Technology. 
The Company has further funded the studies of 
one employee towards the Chartered Accountancy 
qualification. The employee has recently passed the 
first part of the professional qualifying examination by 
the Public Accounting and Auditor’s Board (PAAB).

•	 Letsema learnership: BANKSETA has continued 
to place learners from previously disadvantaged 
communities and post matriculants in the 
organisation as a host employer. In 2013, we 
received a total number of five learners who have 
been placed in the Distribution Channels space. 

LEADERSHIP AND MANAGEMENT 
DEVELOPMENT
In developing potential managers and shaping 
their career prospects, the HR development section 
has been working closely with business units and 
BANKSETA through various initiatives; horizons are 
broadened for the participants whilst at the same time 
contributing to transformation in the banking sector.  
In the process, the initiatives create new networks and 
alliances for our participating employees.

•	 Certificate in management development 
programme: This programme is aimed at building 
employee competence and skills for junior and 
middle management positions. 

Leveraging from the five employees who successfully 
attended this intensive and challenging programme 
through Milpark Business School in 2012 and in 
2013, the identification process through talent 
management processes is in progress. We anticipate 
a similar number or more employees who will enrol in 
this programme.

MENTORSHIP AND COACHING
With the business turnaround strategy and change, 
the executive management team will also undertake 
a coaching programme for a 12-month period that 
is aligned with the change management strategy. 
This programme will introduce the team to new and 
innovative ways of doing business. This will ensure 
that team members efficiently deliver within the 
matrix environment.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE
Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services 
(FAIS) Accreditation: in 2013, the Company has 
had to remove the non-compliant employees from 
positions that require compliance. While this process 
demanded extreme cautionary implementation 
from a human resource management perspective, 
it was successful. The journey to be compliant by 
our employees continues and they will enrol for 
their National Certificate in Banking Service Advice 
through Milpark Business School. In 2013, the focus is 
also on Regulatory Examinations 1 (Representatives), 
which has not been given much attention due to a 
high failure rate. The recent exercise where non-
compliant employees were transferred from positions 
that require compliance also positively affected the 
general attitude towards the programme as well as 
self-belief from the employees. 

With regard to Board Notice 104, the supervision of 
employees not fulfilling the requirements of being fit 
and proper, a Supervision Plan has been rolled out 
and is closely monitored by both the Compliance 
and HR Division. The Regulatory Examination for 
representatives and key Individuals will be rolled out 
in the new financial year. Intensive workshops and 
e-learning interventions have been secured to assist 
employees to become competent in this requirement.
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REGULATORY COMPLIANCE (continued)

Workforce profile and core and support functions:

Occupational Levels

Male Female
Foreign 
National

TotalA C I W A C I W Male Female

Top management 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Senior management 2 1 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 6

Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists and mid-
management 11 0 3 2 3 0 2 0 0 0 21

Skilled technical and 
academically qualified workers, 
junior management, supervisors, 
foremen and superintendents 51 0 2 3 88 2 3 3 0 0 152

Semi-skilled and discretionary 
decision making 65 0 0 0 149 0 1 0 0 0 215

Unskilled and defined decision 
making 1 0 0 0 22 0 0 0 0 0 23

Total Permanent 131 1 5 6 264 2 7 3 0 0 419

Temporary Employees 8 0 3 0 41 0 0 0 0 0 52

Grand Total 139 1 8 7 305 2 7 3 0 0 471

People with Disabilities:

Occupational Levels

Male Female
Foreign 
National

TotalA C I W A C I W Male Female

Skilled technical and academically 
qualified workers, junior 
management, supervisors, 
foremen and superintendents 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3

Total Permanent 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3

Temporary Employees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3

Key: 
A – African
C – Coloured
I – Indian
W – White
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Ithala Group Internal Audit and Risk Assurance 
Services (IGARAS) is responsible for providing 
independent, objective assurance on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the Company’s system of 
governance, risk management and internal control 
to the Board and executive management and, in 
doing so, helps enhance the controls culture within 
the Company. Furthermore, consultative and forensic 
investigation services are provided by IGARAS. 
The Company’s Board is ultimately responsible for 
governance, risk management and internal control. 
Management is accountable to the Board for designing, 
implementing and monitoring the effectiveness of 
internal financial controls, general control environment 
and compliance. The independence and objectivity 
of IGARAS is underpinned by the functional reporting 
of the Internal Audit unit to the Audit Committee 
and administratively to the Chief Executive Officer. 
IGARAS’s mandate is contained in the Internal Audit 
Charter submitted to and approved annually by the 
Audit Committee, in line with the requirements of 
International Standards for the Professional Practice 
of Internal Auditing as well as Treasury Regulations. 
As from April 2013, the Company will have its own 
independent internal audit capability and no longer 
utilise the services of Group IGARAS.

The end of the 2013 financial year denotes the end of 
the second year of the three-year rolling audit coverage 
plan which was presented and approved by the Audit 
Committee in February 2011. A comprehensive risk-
based 2013 annual audit plan was derived from the 
three-year rolling plan after intensively conducting 
a formal risk assessment of the entire business. The 
Audit Universe included its strategic business units 
and support functions (IT Department, Finance, Credit 
Risk, etc.). Internal Audit also liaises with the external 
auditors and other assurance providers to enhance 
efficiencies in terms of combined assurance.

To ensure that IGARAS continues to provide a 
service in conformance to its approved charter and 
the International Standards for the Professional 
Practices of Internal Auditing as well as the Code 
of Ethics, the quality assurance and improvement 
programme applied on the function covers all aspects 
of the internal audit activity. The programme includes 
internal and external evaluations which assess the 

ITHALA GROUP INTERNAL AUDIT AND RISK 
ASSURANCE SERVICES

effectiveness and efficiency of the internal audit 
activity. The most recent external assessment was 
carried out by The Institute of Internal Audit (SA) in the 
last quarter of the financial year and concluded that 
IGARAS conformed to the International Standards for 
the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.

ANTI-FRAUD AND CORRUPTION
The Company is committed to eradicating all 
forms of fraud and corruption, and hence applies a 
‘zero tolerance’ approach. All internal and external 
known incidents of fraud and corruption are fully 
investigated. The Anti-Fraud and Ethics Framework 
(AFEC) provided detailed guidance on how the 
Company fights fraud and corruption and encourages 
ethical individuals within the Company to raise their 
concerns in a responsible manner. To this end, the 
Chief Executive Officer had signed, together with 
the Company’s management and employees, an 
Anti-Fraud Declaration as a pledge to zero tolerance 
against fraud and corruption. 

The Anti-Fraud and Ethics Committee, an Executive 
oversight structure chaired by the Group Chief Finance 
Officer, safeguards employees from occupational 
detriment should they ‘blow the whistle’ on fraud and 
corruption, as well as assisting management to identify 
and manage fraud  risk in order to protect the reputation 
of the Company. Generally, one of the obstacles faced 
in the fight against fraud and corruption is the fact 
that individuals are often too intimidated to speak 
out on corrupt and unlawful activities they observe 
in the workplace. It is for this reason the Company 
promotes an ethical organisational culture premised 
on openness, transparency and accountability. 

Essentially the framework harnesses a common interest 
between employees who raise concerns they may have 
in the workplace with accountable managers who are 
prepared to respond to the bona fide concerns of their 
employees. This is ensured through the four-pronged 
approach to anti-fraud and corruption, namely fraud 
prevention, detection, deterrence and investigation. 
To assist in addressing any fraud and corrupt activities, 
the Forensic Investigation Unit works in collaboration 
with various law enforcement agencies as well as 
service providers such as Tip-Offs Anonymous.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE 
BOARD IN TERMS OF REGULATION 27.1.10(B) 
AND (C) OF THE TREASURY REGULATIONS 
[IN TERMS OF SECTIONS 51(1)(A)(II) AND 76(4)
(D) OF THE PUBLIC FINANCE MANAGEMENT 
ACT OF 1999 AS AMENDED] AND SECTION 
94(7)(F) OF THE COMPANIES ACT
The Audit Committee is a committee of the Board of 
Directors and in addition to having specific statutory 
responsibilities in terms of the Companies Act, it assists 
the Board through advising and making submissions on 
financial reporting, oversight of the risk management 
process and internal financial controls, external and 
internal audit functions and statutory and regulatory 
compliance of the Company.

TERMS OF REFERENCE
The Audit Committee has adopted formal terms of 
reference that has been approved by the Board of 
Directors, and has executed its duties during the past 
financial year in accordance with these terms of reference.

COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS
The committee consists of three independent non-
executive directors.

The Audit Committee held eight meetings during the 
period. The composition of the Committee and their 
attendance at these meetings is shown in the table below:

Members Qualifications May Jun Jul Aug Oct Nov Feb

B Ngonyama (Chairperson**)  
(appointed as Chairperson – 17/9/2012)

CA (SA)
√ √** √√ √

P Christianson  
(Chairman until 17/9/2012)

CA (SA)
√√ √ √√ √ R

M Mia Director of Companies √√ A √√ A √ √√ √

SC Nzuza  
(resigned – 30/1/2013)

B Com, H Dip Tax, 
MBA

√√ √ √√ √ √ A R

L van Lelyveld**  
(appointed 30/9/2012)

CA (SA)
√** √√ √

√= Present √√=Special meeting **=New appointment A=Apology R=Resigned

The Chief Executive Officer, the Finance Director, Senior 
Executives of the Company and representatives from 
the external and internal auditors attend the committee 
meetings by invitation only. The internal and external 
auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.

STATUTORY DUTIES
In execution of its statutory duties during the past 
financial year, the Audit Committee:

•	 Believes that the appointment of the Auditor-
General (South Africa (“AG(SA)”) as auditor complies 
with the relevant provisions of the Companies Act 
and the Public Finance Management Act;

•	 Determined the fees to be paid to the AG(SA) 
as disclosed in Note 13 of the Annual Financial 

Statements;
•	 Determined the terms of engagement of the AG(SA);
•	 Reviewed the quality of financial information; 
•	 Reviewed the Annual Report and Financial Statements;
•	 Received no complaints relating to the accounting 

practices and internal audit of the Company, the 
content or auditing of its financial statements, the 
internal financial controls of the Company, and 
other any related matters;

•	 Made the submission to the Board on matters 
concerning the Company’s accounting policies, 
financial control, records and reporting; and 

•	 Concurs that the adoption of the going concern 
premise in the preparation of the financial 
statements is appropriate.
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OVERSIGHT OF RISK MANAGEMENT
The Audit Committee has:

•	 Received assurance that the process and 
procedures followed by the Enterprise Risk 
Committee are adequate to ensure that financial 
risks are identified and monitored;

•	 The committee has satisfied itself that the following 
areas have been appropriately addressed:

 - Financial reporting risks;
 - Internal financial controls;
 - Fraud risk as it relates to financial reporting; and 
 - IT risk as it related to financial reporting.

INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS
The Audit Committee has:

•	 Reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s 
system of internal financial controls including 
receiving assurance from management, internal 
audit and external audit;

•	 Reviewed significant issues raise by the internal 
and external audit process;

•	 Reviewed policies and procedures for preventing 
and detecting fraud; and

•	 Reviewed significant cases of misconduct or fraud 
or any other unethical activity by employees of 
the Company.

Based on the processes and assurances obtained, the 
Committee believes that significant internal financial 
controls are effective.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE
The Audit Committee has:

•	 Reviewed the effectiveness of the system for 
monitoring compliance with laws and regulations.

EXTERNAL AUDIT
The Audit Committee has:

•	 Reviewed the external audit scope to ensure 
that the critical areas of the business are being 
addressed; and

•	 Reviewed the external auditors report including 
issues arising out of the external audit.

The external auditors have furthermore provided 
written assurance to the Audit Committee that they 
have remained independent of the Company. 

Details of the external auditor’s fees are set out in 
Note 20 of the Annual Financial Statements.

INTERNAL AUDIT
The Audit Committee has:

•	 Reviewed and recommended the internal audit 
charter for approval;

•	 Evaluated the independence, effectiveness and 
performance or the internal audit function and 
compliance with its mandate;

•	 Reviewed internal audit reports, including the 
response of management to issues raised therein;

•	 Satisfied itself that the internal audit function has the 
necessary resources, budget, standing/authority within 
the Company to enable it to discharge its functions;

•	 Approved the internal audit plan; and 
•	 Encouraged cooperation between external and 

internal audit.

COMBINED ASSURANCE MODEL
In addition to its normal activities, the committee dealt 
with the introduction of a combined assurance model 
for the Company. The committee has determined that 
a process of co-ordinating all assurance activities are 
appropriate to address the significant risks facing the 
Company for each principal risk and business area. The 
model will be owned and managed by Internal Audit 
with Risk and Compliance, being an integral part of the 
process. The committee recognises that there will be 
continuous strengthening and enhancing of both the 
process and its activities as it matures the approach to full 
integrated reporting, particular on non-financial issues.

FINANCE FUNCTION
The Audit Committee believes that the Finance Director, 
Mr PA Ireland, possesses the appropriate expertise and 
experience to meet his responsibilities in that position. 
The Committee is furthermore satisfied with the expertise 
and adequacy of resources within the finance function. 
Based on the processes and assurances obtained, the 
Audit Committee believes that the accounting practices 
are effective.

INTEGRATED REPORT
Based on processes and assurances obtained, we 
recommend the integrated report to the Board for 
approval.

On behalf of the Audit Committee:

_________________________________
Mrs B Ngonyama 
Chairperson
25 July 2013

_________________________________
Mrs B Ngonyama 
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The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Annual Financial Statements of 
Ithala Limited, comprising the statement of financial position at 31 March 2013, the statement of comprehensive 
income, the statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flow for the year then ended, and the notes 
to the Annual Financial Statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes, and the Directors’ report, in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (SA GAAP) and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa. 

To enable the Directors to meet these responsibilities: 
•	 The Board and management set standards and management implements systems of internal controls and 

accounting and information systems aimed at providing reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and 
the risk of fraud, error or loss is reduced in a cost-effective manner. These controls, contained in established 
policies and procedures, include the proper delegation of responsibilities and authorities within a clearly 
defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties. 

•	 The internal audit function, which operates unimpeded and independently from operational management, and 
has unrestricted access to the Audit Committee, appraises and, when necessary, recommends improvements 
in the system of internal controls and accounting practices, based on audit plans that take cognisance of the 
relative degrees of risk of each function or aspect of the business. 

•	 The Audit Committee, together with the Internal Audit department, plays an integral role in matters relating 
to financial and internal control, accounting policies, reporting and disclosure. 

To the best of our knowledge and belief, based on the above, the Directors are satisfied that no material 
breakdown in the operation of the system of internal control and procedures has occurred during the year under 
review.

The Company consistently adopts appropriate and recognised accounting policies and these are supported by 
reasonable judgements and estimates on a consistent basis and provides additional disclosures when compliance 
with the specific requirements in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (SA GAAP) are insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other 
events and conditions on the Company’s financial position and financial performance.

The Directors’ responsibility also includes maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective system 
of risk management. All employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring that the 
Company’s practices are concluded in a manner which in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. 

The Directors have made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and have 
included appropriate disclosure in the Directors’ report. The basis of accounting has been adopted by the Board 
of Directors after having made enquires of management and given due consideration to information presented to 
the Board, including budgets and cash flow projections for the year ahead and key assumptions and accounting 
policies relating thereto. Accordingly, the Directors have no reason to believe that the Company will not continue 
as a going concern in the year ahead.

The Auditor-General was appointed, as independent auditor, in terms of the Public Audit Act 2004 (Act No. 25 
of 2004) and the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999), and has audited the Company’s Annual 
Financial Statements. Their report is presented on pages 51 to 53.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
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APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Annual Financial Statements of Ithala Limited, as identified in the first paragraph, was approved by the Board 
of Directors on 26 July 2013 and are signed on their behalf by:

_____________________________________ _____________________________________
MF Kekana SV Khoza
Chairman Chief Executive Officer

COMPANY SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATION
Mrs M Sajiwan, as duly appointed Company Secretary, certifies that all returns required of a public company in 
terms of the Companies Act, in respect of the year ended 31 March 2013, have been lodged with the Registrar 
of Companies and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

_________________________________

Company Secretary

_____________________________________ _____________________________________
MF Kekana SV Khoza
_____________________________________ _____________________________________
MF Kekana SV Khoza

_________________________________

Company Secretary
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ITHALA LIMITED

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO THE 
KWAZULU-NATAL PROVINCIAL
LEGISLATURE ON ITHALA LIMITED

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
INTRODUCTION

1. I have audited the financial statements of lthala 
Limited set out on pages 55 to 100, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 
31 March 2013, the statement of comprehensive 
income, the statement of changes in equity and 
the statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and the notes, comprising a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY’S 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

2. The board of directors which constitutes the 
accounting authority is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with South African 
Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (SA Statements of GAAP) and the 
requirements of the Public Finance Management 
Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) 
(PFMA), the Companies Act of South Africa, 2008 
(Act No.71 of 2008) (Companies Act), the Banks 
Act of South Africa, 1990 (Act No. 94 of 1990) 
(Banks Act) and for such internal control as the 
accounting authority determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR-GENERAL’S RESPONSIBILITY

3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the financial statements based on my audit. I 
conducted my audit in accordance with the Public 
Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 
2004) (PAA), the General Notice issued in terms 
thereof and International Standards on Auditing. 
Those standards require that I comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

4.  An audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.

5.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my audit opinion.

OPINION

6. In my opinion, the financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of lthala Limited as at 31 March 2013, and its 
financial performance and cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with SA Statements 
of GAAP and the requirements of the PFMA, the 
Companies Act and the Banks Act.

EMPHASIS OF MATTERS

7.  I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion 
is not modified in respect of these matters.

FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY

8.  As disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements, 
lthala Limited incurred a Net Loss of R24, 38 million
(2012: R6, 14 million) for the year ended 
31 March 2013. The holding company has resolved 
to provide additional share capital amounting to 
R105 million during the 2013 / 2014 financial year 
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FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY (continued)

 to recapitalise Ithala Limited and to ensure that 
it meets its regulatory minimum capital adequacy 
ratio and its financial obligations in the ordinary 
course of business.

BANKING LICENCE EXEMPTION

9.  As disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements, 
the entity’s banking licence exemption expires on 
31 December 2013. The Minister of Finance has 
provided the South African Reserve Bank (SARB) 
with certain requirements that the company 
should meet in order to ensure further renewal 
of the banking licence exemption. The board of 
directors have implemented a process to ensure 
that the minister’s requirements are met prior to 
31 December 2013 and are confident that the 
exemption will be renewed.

SIGNIFICANT UNCERTAINTY

10. As disclosed in Note 26 to the financial statements, 
the entity is the defendant in various claims at 
31 March 2013. The ultimate outcome of these 
matters cannot currently be determined and 
therefore no provision for any liability has been 
made in the financial statements.

MATERIAL LOSSES

11. As disclosed in Note 27.2 to the financial 
statements, material losses of R18, 4 million were 
reported by the entity as a result of the write-off of 
previously impaired loans and advances. A further 
R2, 7 million loss was incurred as a result of theft 
and collusion at branches. 

RESTATEMENT OF CORRESPONDING 
FIGURES

12. As disclosed in Note 32 to the financial statements, 
the corresponding figures for 31 March 2012 and 
2011 have been restated as a result of a review 
of the entity’s application of the direct attribution 
rule, which was approved by the South African 
Revenue Service in the current year.

ADDITIONAL MATTER

13. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion 
is not modified in respect of this matter.

OTHER REPORTS REQUIRED BY THE 
COMPANIES ACT

14. As part of my audit of the financial statements for 
the year ended 31 March 2013, I have read the 
Directors’ report, the Audit Committee’s report 
and the Company Secretary’s Certificate for the 
purpose of identifying whether there are material 
inconsistencies between these reports and the 
audited financial statements. These reports are 
the responsibility of the respective preparers. 
Based on my review of these reports I have not 
identified material inconsistencies between these 
reports and the audited financial statements. I 
have not audited the reports and accordingly do 
not express an opinion on them.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND 
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

15. In accordance with the PAA and the General	
Notice issued in terms thereof, I report the 
following findings relevant to performance against 
predetermined objectives, compliance with laws 
and regulations and internal control, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion.

Predetermined objectives
16. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about 

the usefulness and reliability of the information 
in the annual performance report as set out on 
pages 101 to 112 of the annual report.

17. The reported performance against predetermined 
objectives was evaluated against the overall 
criteria of usefulness and reliability. The usefulness 
of information in the annual performance report 
relates to whether it is presented in accordance 
with the National Treasury’s annual reporting 
principles and whether the reported performance 
is consistent with the planned objectives. The 
usefulness of information further relates to 
whether indicators and targets are measurable 
(i.e. well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable 
and time bound) and relevant as required by 
the National	Treasury’s	Framework	 for	managing	
programme	performance	information	(FMPPI).

18. The reliability of the information in respect of 
the selected objectives is assessed to determine 
whether it adequately reflects the facts (i.e. 
whether it is valid, accurate and complete).
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19. There were no material findings on the annual 
performance report concerning the usefulness 
and reliability of the information:

Additional matter
20. I draw attention to the following matter below.

Achievement of planned targets
21. Of the total number of 88 planned targets for the 

year, 45 targets (51%) were not achieved during 
the year under review. This was mainly due to the 
fact that indicators and targets were not suitably 
developed during the strategic planning process.

Compliance with laws and regulations
22. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that 

the entity has complied with applicable laws and 
regulations regarding financial matters, financial 
management and other related matters. My 
finding on material non-compliance with specific 
matters in key applicable laws and regulations as 
set out in the	General	Notice issued in terms of 
the PAA is as follows:

Regulations to the Banks Act
23. As required by Regulation 42 (1) of the Banks Act, 

a BA 020 return was not completed and submitted 
to the Registrar, by the accounting authority, in 
respect of every person who was appointed as a 
director or executive officer, at least 30 days prior 
to the appointment becoming effective.

Internal control
24. I considered internal control relevant to my 

audit of the financial statements, annual 
performance report and compliance with laws and 
regulations. The matter reported below under the 
fundamentals of internal control is limited to the 
significant deficiency that resulted in the finding 
on compliance with laws and regulations included 
in this report.

Leadership
25. The accounting authority has not implemented 

controls to ensure that SARB approval is obtained 
prior to the appointment of directors.

OTHER REPORTS

Investigations
26. lthala Group Audit and Risk Assurance Services 

(IGARAS) conducted investigations into 
allegations of teller shortages, theft at branches 
and disputed withdrawals. The results of these 

investigations and the progress made were 
tabled by IGARAS at the entity’s audit committee 
meetings.

Agreed upon procedures engagements
27. Agreed upon procedures reports were issued to 

the SARB relating to returns issued in terms of 
the Banks Act.

28. A report was issued to the National Credit 
Regulator relating to form 40 (annual financial 
return).

29. A report was issued to the National Department 
of Human Settlements relating to the annual 
return submitted in accordance with the Home 
Loans and Mortgage Disclosures Act of South 
Africa, 2000 (Act No. 63 of 2000).

Pietermaritzburg

31 July 2013
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The Directors of the Company have pleasure in presenting their report, for the year ended 31 March 2013. 

INTRODUCTION

Ithala Limited is wholly-owned by Ithala Development Finance Corporation Limited which in turn, is wholly-
owned by the KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Government. The Company is a limited liability Company incorporated 
and domiciled in South Africa. The address of its registered office and principal place of business is Old Mutual 
Building, 303 Dr Pixley KaSeme Street (formerly West Street), Durban, South Africa.

The Company was established in 2001 to “ring-fence” the deposit taking activities of the group into a separately 
incorporated entity, which has operated under an exemption granted by the Minister of Finance from certain 
provisions of the Banks Act. 

The Company provides key retail banking services including savings and home loan products primarily to the 
previously unbanked citizens of the KwaZulu-Natal Province. 

TAXATION

The South African Revenue Services has granted Ithala Limited an income tax exemption in accordance with 
section 10(1)(cA)(ii) of the Income Tax Act. 

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS

A full list of Directors is included in the corporate governance report. The following changes to the Board were 
made during the period under review.

Appointments:
•	 Mr GNJ White – 28 August 2012

•	 Mrs B Ngonyama – 15 May 2012

•	 Mrs L van Lelyveld – 30 September 2012

•	 Mr SV Khoza – 1 November 2012

•	 Mr PA Ireland – 1 October 2012

Resignations:
•	 Mr MM Buthelezi – 30 September 2012

•	 Mr SC Nzuza  – 30 January 2013

•	 Mr PD Christianson – 17 September 2012

•	 Mr Y Dockrat – 30 September 2012

Mr BTT Mathe, who was appointed Acting Chief Executive Officer from April 2011, performed this role in the 
current financial year up to 31 October 2012 until the new Chief Executive Officer, Mr SV Khoza, was appointed 
on 1 November 2012.

The Board thanks the outgoing Directors, for their dedicated service. 

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The financial results for the year ended 31 March 2013 are disclosed in the Annual Financial Statements, as set 
out on pages 55-100.

DIVIDENDS

No dividends were declared or paid during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

Note
2013 

R’000

2012 
R’000 

(Restated)*

Interest earned on loans and advances to customers 17 124 083 118 766

Interest expenditure 18 (54 024) (55 570)

Net margin 70 059 63 196

Interest on held to maturity investments 17 38 736 44 316

Net interest income  108 795 107 512

Fees and other income 19 136 904 140 142

Net income 245 699 247 654

Credit impairment charges  (16 709)  (9 762)

Loans and advances to customers 6  (14 945)  (8 773)

Properties in possession 8 (452) (1 165)

Trade and other receivables 7 (1 312) 176

Operating income 228 990 237 892

Operating expenditure 20 (253 372)  (244 034)

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year  (24 382)  (6 142)

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the shareholder  (24 382) (6 142)

*Refer to Note 32 for details of restatement
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2013

Assets Note
2013 

R’000

2012  
R’000 

(Restated)*

2011 
R’000 

(Restated)*

Cash 3 42 107 52 483 54 204

Statutory investments 4 218 037 116 275 104 473

Deposits with banks 5 414 934 584 421 657 646

Loans and advances to customers 6 1 297 762 1 204 064 1 079 399

Trade and other receivables 7 11 938 16 493 14 571

Properties in possession 8 7 149 7 105 10 405

Equipment 9 53 025 62 295 73 054

Intangible assets 10 2 769 3 481 3 407

Total assets 2 047 721 2 046 617 1 997 159

LIABILITIES

Customer deposits 11 1 803 457 1 775 383 1 745 780

Trade and other payables 12 38 064 37 657 34 775

Provisions 13 14 484 12 465 11 738

Loan account with holding company 14 15 954 23 989 3 013

Retirement benefit obligations 15.1 23 289 21 374 19 962

Defined benefit provident fund shortfall 15.2.2 1 106 - -

Total liabilities 1 896 354 1 870 868 1 815 268

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to the 
equity holders of the shareholder

Issued share capital 16 190 190 190

Issued share premium  16 189 810 189 810 189 810

Accumulated loss (38 633)  (14 251)  (8 109) 

Total equity 151 367 175 749 181 891

Total liabilities and equity 2 047 721 2 046 617 1 997 159

*Refer to Note 32 for details of restatement
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

Note

Attributable to equity holders of the shareholder

Issued share 
capital

Issued share 
premium

Accumulated 
loss Total equity

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2011

Balance as at 31 March 2011 16 190 189 810 (13 651) 176 349

Restatement of 2011 comprehensive income 32 - -   5 542 5 542

Balance as at 31 March 2011 (Restated) 16 190 189 810 (8 109) 181 891

2012

Balance as at 31 March 2011 (Restated) 16 190 189 810 (8 109) 181 891

Total comprehensive expense for the year 
(Restated) - - (6 142) (6 142)

Balance as at 31 March 2012 16 190 189 810 (14 251) 175 749

2013

Balance as at 31 March 2012 (Restated) 190 189 810 (14 251) 175 749

Total comprehensive expense for the year - - (24 382) (24 382)

Balance as at 31 March 2013 190 189 810 (38 633) 151 367
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

Note
 2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000 

(Restated)*

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year (24 382)  (6 142)

Operating activities

Adjustments for:

Non-cash items included in profit 22 12 882 16 552

Increase in operating liabilities 23 25 486  55 600

Increase in operating assets 23  (89 183) (125 011)

Proceeds from sale of properties in possession 2 002  4 159

Net cash flow utilised in operating activities (73 195)  (54 842)

Investing activities

Acquisition of business 9 - (78)

Acquisition of equipment 9  (5 386)  (7 719)

Acquisition of intangible assets 10  (28)  (514)

Proceeds from sale of equipment 508 9

Net cash flow utilised in investing activities  (4 906) (8 302)

Net movement in cash for the year  (78 101) (63 144)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 3  753 179 816 323

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 3 675 078 753 179

*Refer to Note 32 for details of restatement
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company provides key retail banking services including 
savings and home loan products primarily to the previously 
unbanked citizens of the KwaZulu-Natal Province. The 
Company is wholly-owned by the Ithala Development 
Finance Corporation Limited which is in turn wholly-owned 
by the KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Government as a finance 
development agency. 

The Company is a limited liability Company incorporated 
and domiciled in South Africa. The address of its registered 
office and principal place of business is Old Mutual Building, 
303 Dr Pixley KaSeme Street (formerly West Street), Durban, 
South Africa. 

1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation 
of these financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the South African Statements of Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (Statements of GAAP), which are based 
on the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
with the exception of four IFRSs (IFRS10, 11, 12 & 13), 11 
Amendments to IFRSs including amendments made under 
the annual improvements process (namely, amendments 
to IFRS1, 7, 9 and 10 and amendments to IAS1, 16, 19, 
27, 28, 32 & 34) and one IFRC (IFRIC 20) which have not 
been included in GAAP due to a  joint announcement by 
the Accounting Practices Board and the Financial Reporting 
Council to withdraw SA GAAP, which will cease to apply from 
financial years commencing on or after 1 December 2012. 

The Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 
March 2013 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the Board of Directors (Board) on 26 July 2013.

Basis of preparation
The Annual Financial Statements are prepared on the basis 
of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This 
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future 
operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement 
of liabilities will occur in the ordinary course of business. 

Financial Sustainability
The Company incurred a net loss for the year ended 
31 March 2013 of R24, 38 million (2012 net loss: R6, 14 
million). As at 31 March 2013 the Company’s total assets 
exceeded total liabilities by R151, 36 million (2012: R175, 
74 million) and total cash resources were R457, 04 million  
(2012: R636, 9 million). As at statement of financial position 
date the capital adequacy ratio of the Company was 11.06% 
(2012: 12.14%). This level is above the minimum capital 
adequacy ratio required by the South African Reserve Bank 

of 10%. Ithala Development Finance Corporation Limited 
has further resolved to provide additional share capital 
amounting to R105 million during the 2013 / 2014 financial 
year to recapitalise the Company. A total of R60 million of 
this was received subsequent to year end to the date of this 
report. The capital is anticipated to be sufficient to ensure 
that the SARB regulatory prescribed minimum ratios are met 
as well as to ensure future growth of Company based on the 
Board approved strategy. 

Based on these circumstances, the Board expects all 
obligations to be settled in the normal course of business 
and have accordingly adopted the going concern basis 
of accounting in the preparation of the Annual Financial 
Statements. 

Banking License Exemption:
During the 2012 / 2013 financial year the Board, together 
with the Banking License Committee (a special Board 
committee of the shareholder, Ithala Development Finance 
Corporation Limited), applied for an extension of the 
exemption for a period of three years ending 31 December 
2014. The Minister of Finance extended the Company’s 
exemption for a period of one year ending 31 December 
2013 and provided the South African Reserve Bank with 
certain requirements that the Company should meet in order 
to ensure a further renewal. Subsequent to consultation with 
the South African Reserve Bank, the Board has implemented 
a process to ensure that the Minister’s requirements are met. 
The Board believes that these requirements will be met prior 
to 31 December 2013 and is confident that the exemption 
will be renewed.

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in South African 
Rands, which is the Company’s operational currency. All 
financial information presented has been rounded to the 
nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
SA GAAP requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment 
in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. 
The areas involving a high degree of judgment or complexity, 
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements are disclosed in Note 2. 

Significant accounting policies
Except as described otherwise, the accounting policies set 
out below have been applied consistently to all periods 
presented in these financial statements:

a. Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the 
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured at fair value, which is 
calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values 
of the assets transferred by the Company, the liabilities 
incurred by the Company to the former owners of the 
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Company in  
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a. Business combinations (continued) 
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition related 
costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired 
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair 
value at the acquisition date, except for the combination 
of entities or businesses under common control which are 
accounted for in terms of the consideration paid. Business 
combination involving entities or businesses under common 
control is defined in IFRS3: Business Combinations as a 
business combination in which all of the combining entities 
or businesses ultimately are controlled by the same party 
or parties both before and after the combination and that 
control is not transitory.

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising 
from assets that are not capable of being individually 
identified and separately recognised in a business 
combination and is determined as the excess of the cost of 
acquisition over the group’s interest in the net fair value of 
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
of the entity. If, after reassessment, the Company’s interest 
in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identification assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the 
business combination, the excess is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and 
is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated 
to each of the group’s cash-generating units expected 
benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are 
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when 
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. An 
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in 
a subsequent period.

b. Financial instruments
A financial instrument is defined as a contract that gives rise 
to a financial asset in one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument in another entity.

The classification of financial assets and financial liabilities 
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial 
instrument and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition.

The Company classifies its financial assets as loans and 
receivables or held-to-maturity financial assets. The 
Company does not hold financial assets at fair value through 
comprehensive income or expense or available-for-sale 
assets.

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other 
payables, provisions and the inter-company loan. They are 
not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-
term resale. All financial liabilities are held at amortised cost.

Initial recognition 
Financial instruments are recognised on the statement of 
financial position when the Company becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial 
instruments are recognised on the date that the Company 
commits to purchase or sell the instruments (trade date).

Initial measurement
All financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value 
plus transaction costs. 

Subsequent measurement
Financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables 
for measurement purposes are held at amortised cost. Loans 
and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses. 
South African Reserve Bank debentures are classified as 
held-to-maturity financial assets as the debentures are 
non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturity. The Company has the positive 
intention and ability to hold these assets to maturity. Held 
to maturity assets are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method, less any impairments.

All financial liabilities are classified as non-trading financial 
liabilities and are measured at amortised cost. Origination 
transaction costs and origination fees received that are 
integral to the effective rate are capitalised to the value of 
the loan and amortised through interest income as part of 
the effective interest rate. They are not entered into with the 
intention of immediate or short term resale.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities is the amount for 
which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled, 
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction. On initial recognition, the best evidence of the 
fair value of a financial instrument is the asset’s transaction 
price carried at amortised cost. The Company does not hold 
any derivative instruments.

Amortised cost
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition or issue including fees 
and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest 
rate. The amortisation is accounted for as ‘Interest and 
similar income or Interest expenditure and similar charges’ 
in the statement of comprehensive income. The losses 
arising from impairment are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income as ‘Credit impairment charges’.

Effective interest rate method
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated 
future cash receipts or payments over the expected life 
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where 
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial 
instrument. The effective interest rate method takes into 
account all contractual terms of the financial instrument and 
includes any fees or incremental costs which are directly 
attributable to the instrument and is an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, but not future credit losses. The 
carrying amount of the financial instrument is adjusted if the 
Company revises its estimate of receipts or payments. The 
adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the original 
effective interest rate and the change in carrying amount is 
recorded as interest income or expense.
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Impairment of financial assets
Loans and advances are assessed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is objective evidence 
of impairment. Impairment losses are incurred if there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after initial recognition but before the 
reporting date that indicates that it is probable that the 
Company will be unable to collect all amounts due. Losses 
expected as a result of future events, no matter how likely, 
are not recognised.

The impairment of non-performing advances is based 
on periodic objective evaluations of advances and takes 
into account past loss experiences adjusted for changes 
in economic conditions and the nature and level of risk 
exposure since the recording of the historic losses. The 
methodology and assumptions used for estimating future 
cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences 
between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 

The Company’s criteria in the determination of impairment 
of a financial asset or group of assets include observable 
data that comes to the attention of the holder of the asset 
about the following loss events:

•	 Significant financial difficulty of the customer or 
borrower;

•	 A breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in 
interest or principal payments;

•	 The lender, for economic or legal reasons relating 
to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the 
borrower a concession that the lender would not 
otherwise consider;

•	 It becomes probable that the lender is over-indebted;
•	 Observable data indicates that there is a measurable 

decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a 
group of financial assets since the initial recognition 
of those assets that may have arisen from global 
economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the 
assets as a result of adverse changes in the financial 
services sector which has impacted on borrowers.

The carrying amount of a financial asset identified as 
impaired is reduced to its estimated recoverable amount 
through the provision of an allowance. The estimated 
recoverable amount of the advance is calculated as the 
present value of expected future cash flows discounted at 
the effective interest rate. In estimating the expected future 
cash flows from the realisation of “permission to occupy” 
security, past experience in realising this type of security has 
been taken into account. 

When a loan carried at amortised cost has been identified 
as impaired, the carrying amount of the loan is reduced to 
an amount equal to the present value of estimated future 
cash flows, including the recoverable amount of the security, 
discounted at the financial asset’s effective interest rate. The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised as 
credit impairment in the statement of comprehensive income. 

In order to provide for latent losses in a portfolio of loans 
that have not yet been individually identified as impaired, 
a credit impairment for incurred but not reported losses 

is created based on historic loss patterns and estimated 
emergence periods. Loans are also impaired when adverse 
economic conditions develop after initial recognition which 
may impact on future cash flows.

Once all reasonable attempts have been made at collection 
and there is no realistic prospect of recovering outstanding 
amounts, the advance is written off against the related 
allowance account. When the impairment loss subsequently 
reverses, the carrying amount of the advance is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but 
such that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the advance 
in previous years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
immediately recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income. Impairment provisions raised during the year, less 
recovery of advances previously written off, are charged to 
the statement of comprehensive income.

Subsequent to impairment, the effects of discounting 
unwind over time as interest income.

Derecognition of financial instruments 
The Company derecognises a financial asset or group of 
financial assets when and only when:

•	 The contractual rights to the receipt of cash flows 
arising from the financial assets have expired; 

•	 The Company retains the right to receive cash flows 
from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay 
them in full without material delay to a third party 
under a pass-through arrangement; and

•	 The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset and either:

•	 Has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards 
of the asset; and

•	 Has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of 
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its right to receive cash 
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, nor 
transferred control of the assets, the asset is recognised to the 
extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset.

A financial liability or group of financial liabilities is 
derecognised when and only when the liability is 
extinguished i.e. when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or has expired.

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial 
asset or financial liability (or part thereof) that is derecognised 
and the consideration paid or received, including non-cash 
assets transferred or liabilities assumed is recognised in 
comprehensive income for the year.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
reported on the statement of financial position where there is 
a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amount 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
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b. Financial instruments (continued)
Income and expenses are offset only to the extent that their 
related instruments have been offset in the statement of 
financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash 
comprises cash on hand net of bank overdrafts, statutory 
liquid assets and deposits with other banks. 

Borrowed funds
Borrowed funds arise from contractual arrangements which 
result in the Company having an obligation either to deliver 
cash or another financial asset to the holder. Borrowed 
funds are recognised initially at fair value of proceeds, net 
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method. Any difference between proceeds net of 
transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income over the period of 
the borrowings as interest.

c. Financial guarantees
In the ordinary cost of business, the bank issues guarantees 
consisting of letters of credit, letters of guarantees and 
confirmations. These are disclosed at fair value.

d. Properties in possession
Properties in possession comprise of assets that are expected 
to be recovered primarily through a sale transaction rather 
than through continuing use. 

Properties in possession are recognised at the lower of fair 
value less costs to sell and the carrying amount of the asset 
with which they are associated.

The Company is firmly committed to the sale of these assets 
with various initiatives implemented to ensure transfer of 
these properties. No depreciation is charged on these 
assets. Any subsequent write-down of the acquired asset to 
fair value less costs to sell is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income, as ‘Operating expenditure’. Any 
subsequent increase in the fair value less costs to sell, to the 
extent that this does not exceed the cumulative write-down 
is also recognised as ‘Credit impairment charge’, and any 
realised gains and losses on disposal recognised in ‘Fees 
and other income’.

e. Trade and other receivables 
Trade receivables comprises of amounts due to the Company 
as a result of advances given to clients for which an outstanding 
balance in terms of the lending agreement exists at reporting 
date, less any allowance for credit impairment that has been 
identified in instances of default by the said clients. 

Other receivables are deferred assets which arise as a result 
of the Company having paid an amount in advance, for which 
the benefit of the corresponding goods and/or services will 
only be received within the course of the next 12 months from 
reporting date.

f. Equipment
Equipment consists of tangible items that are held for 
administrative purposes and are expected to be used during 
more than one period.

Equipment, furniture, vehicles, other tangible assets 
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses whilst capital work in 
progress is not subject to depreciation. Cost includes 
all costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended.

Equipment, furniture, vehicles and other tangible assets are 
depreciated on the straight line basis, from the date they are 
available for use which may be earlier than the date they are 
actually in use, over the estimated useful lives of the assets 
to the current values of their expected residual values. The 
Company’s Leasehold improvements are depreciated over 
the expected useful life of assets based on Management’s 
best estimate. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date 
and the depreciation method is reviewed annually. Additions 
include fixed assets purchased but not yet in use. Work in 
progress (WIP) includes equipment not yet brought into use 
and as such are not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives of tangible assets that have been 
reassessed in terms of IAS 16 for the current financial year 
have been detailed, as follows: 

Computer Equipment 3-10 years

Furniture and Fittings Maximum of 15 years

Leasehold Improvements Maximum of 10 years

Office Equipment  2-5 years

Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by 
changing the amortisation period or method as appropriate 
and are treated as changes in accounting estimates.

The carrying value of assets are reviewed at each statement 
of financial position date to assess whether there is any 
indication of impairment and in instances where the carrying 
amounts are greater than their estimated recoverable 
amounts; the assets are written down immediately to these 
recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

Subsequent expenditures are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Company and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repair 
and maintenance costs are charged to operating expenses 
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

An item of equipment is derecognised when the contractual 
right to receive the cash flows have been transferred or expired 
or when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
have passed on disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising 
from de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset) is recognised as ‘Other Income’ or ‘Operating 
Expenditure’ in the statement of comprehensive income in 
the year in which the asset is derecognised. Gains shall not be 
classified as revenue.
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g. Intangible assets
Intangible assets are recognised if it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the entity from intangible 
assets and the costs of the intangible assets can be reliably 
measured.

Intangible assets comprise of computer software licenses 
and other intangible assets. Intangible assets are recognised 
at cost. Intangible assets with a definite useful life are 
amortised using the straight-line method over their useful 
economic life, generally not exceeding 20 years. Intangible 
assets with an indefinite life are not amortised. At each 
date of the statement of financial position, intangible assets 
are reviewed for indications of impairments or changes in 
estimated future economic benefits. If such indications exist, 
the intangible assets are analysed to assess whether their 
carrying amount is fully recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable 
amount.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested 
annually for impairment and whenever there is an indication 
that the asset may be impaired.

(a) Computer software and licenses
Acquired computer software and licenses are capitalised 
as assets on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and 
bring the specific software into use. Capitalised computer 
software is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses. Computer software is tested annually for 
impairment or changes in estimated future benefits. 

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method 
to write down the cost of intangible assets to their residual 
values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

•	 Computer software 2-5 years

(b) System development costs
Costs associated with maintaining computer software 
programmes are recognised as an expense as and when 
incurred.

Direct software development costs that enhance the benefits 
of computer software programmes are clearly associated 
with an identifiable and unique software system, which will 
be controlled by the Company and has a probable benefit 
exceeding one year, are recognised as intangible assets. 
These costs are initially capitalised as work-in-progress up 
to the date of completion of project after which the asset is 
transferred to computer software and accounted for as per 
the computer software and licenses policy.

Management reviews the carrying value of capitalised work-
in-progress on an annual basis, irrespective of whether there 
is an indication of impairment.

Development costs are recognised as intangible assets 
when the following criteria are met:

•	 It is technically feasible to complete the software 
product so that it will be available for use;

•	 Management intends to complete the software product 
and use or sell it;

•	 There is an ability to use or sell the software product;
•	 It can be demonstrated how the software product will 

generate probable future economic benefits;
•	 Adequate technical, financial and other resources to 

complete the development and to use or sell software 
product are available; and 

•	 The expenditure attributable to the software product 
during its development can be reliable measured.

h.  Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 
other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews 
the carrying amount of its tangible and intangible assets in 
order to determine whether there is any indication that those 
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated 
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if 
any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of individual assets, the Company estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis 
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also 
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise 
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating 
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis 
can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible 
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at 
least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the 
asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which 
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant 
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, so that 
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) 
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is 
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

i. Provisions and contingent liabilities
A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount which 
will be recognised when:
•	 The Company has a present obligation (legal or 

constructive) as a result of a past event; and
•	 It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 

economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation. 
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i. Provisions and contingent liabilities 
(continued)

A reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

If these conditions are not met, no provision will be 
recognised. 

The Company recognises no provisions for future operating 
losses. 

Onerous contracts
Present obligations arising under onerous contacts are 
recognised and measure as provisions. An onerous 
contract is considered to exist where the Company has a 
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the 
obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefit 
expected to be received from the contract.

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities, which include certain guarantees other 
than financial guarantees, are possible obligations that arise 
from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by 
the occurrence, or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain 
future events; not wholly within the Company’s control. 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial 
statements but are disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements unless they are remote.

j. Retirement benefit obligations
The Ithala Group provides for retirement benefits of 
employees by means of a number of defined benefit and 
defined contribution plans, the assets of which are held in 
separate trustee administered funds. All employees of the 
Company are entitled to membership of one of these plans 
which are governed by the Pensions Fund Act of 1956.

Pension Obligations

Defined benefit plans
The plans are funded by contributions to a separately 
administered fund, taking into account recommendations of 
independent qualified actuaries. A defined benefit plan is a 
pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that 
an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent 
on one or more factors such as age, years of service and 
compensation. 

The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by 
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit 
method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation 
is determined by the estimated future outflows using interest 
rates of government securities that have terms to maturity 
approximating the terms of the related liability. 

Under this method, the cost of providing pensions is 
charged to the statement of comprehensive income spread 
on a monthly basis over the service lives of employees in 
accordance with the advice of qualified actuaries who carry 
out a valuation of the plan every three years. The liability 
recognised in the statement of financial position in respect 
of a defined benefit plan is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation at the reporting date less the fair value 
of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised 
actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. 

Cumulative unrecognised actuarial gains and losses arising 
from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions in excess of the greater of 10% of the value of 
plan assets of the defined benefit obligation were charged 
or credited to the statement of comprehensive income over 
the employees’ expected average remaining working lives. 

Past service costs are recognised immediately in 
administration expenses.

Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which 
the Company pays fixed contributions into a separate 
fund. The Company has no legal or constructive obligation 
to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold 
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating 
to employee service in the current and prior periods. The 
regular contributions constitute net periodic costs for the 
year in which they are due and as such are included in staff 
costs as a charge to the statement of comprehensive income 
in the period to which they relate.

Post retirement medical obligations
Eligible employees and pensioners are entitled to certain 
post-retirement medical benefits in the form of medical aid 
contribution subsidies. Employees who commenced service 
after 1 August 2000 are not entitled to post retirement 
medical benefits. The expected costs of these benefits are 
accrued over the period of employment using an accounting 
methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension 
plans.

The liability recognised in the statement of financial position 
in respect of the post-retirement medical obligation is the 
present value of the post-retirement medical obligation at the 
reporting date, together with adjustments for unrecognised 
actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. 

Long service award benefits 
Employees are entitled to a long-term benefit based on 
various periods of long service to the Company. The long 
service award liability is calculated by independent actuaries 
using the projected unit credit method. The long service 
award liability is an unfunded liability in that there are no 
separate plan assets out of which obligations are to be 
settled. The amount recognised as a long service award 
liability is therefore the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the end of the reported period. Current 
service costs and interest costs are recognised as expenses. 
All actuarial gains and losses and past service costs are 
recognised immediately as expenses.

k. Share capital
Ordinary shares and share premium are classified as equity. 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

l. Interest income and interest expense
Interest income is considered the most appropriate 
equivalent of revenue. Interest income and expenses are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on 
the accrual basis using the effective interest rate method for 
all interest bearing financial instruments. 
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The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability 
and of allocating the interest income or interest expense 
over the relevant period. When calculating the effective 
interest rate, the Company estimates cash flows considering 
all contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not 
consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees 
paid or received between parties to the contract that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and all other premiums or discounts.

m. Fee and commission income
Fee and commission income are recognised on an accrual 
basis when the service has been rendered. 

Other income includes amounts recognised for dormant 
accounts which are greater than five years and efforts have 
been exhausted to contact the customer to refund the 
balances. The method of recognition is consistent with 
the proposed treatment as recommended by the Banking 
Association of South Africa. The Company maintains records 
of dormant accounts recognised as income in line with the 
Banking Association of South Africa’s guidelines. Amounts 
disclosed are net of amounts refunded to customers who 
were able to validate their dormant accounts. 

n. Operating leases
Leased assets are classified as operating leases where the 
lessor effectively retains the risks and benefits of ownership. 
Payments, including pre-payments, made under operating 
leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are 
charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Determining whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease 
shall be based on the substance of the arrangement and 
requires an assessment of whether:

•	 Fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the 
use of a specific asset or assets; and/or

•	 The arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

o. Taxation
The Company is not subject to normal tax as a result of 
an exemption granted in terms of Section 10(1)(cA)(ii) of 
the Income Tax Act. The Company is, however, subject to 
indirect taxes which comprise non-recoverable value added 
taxation (VAT) and skills development levies (SDL). 

p. Related parties
A party is related to the Company if any of the following 
are met:

•	 Directly, or indirectly through one or more 
intermediaries, the party controls, is controlled by or is 
under common control with the Company;

•	 It is a joint venture or an associate; 
•	 The party is a member of the key management 

personnel and/or Non-Executive Directors of the 
Company or its parent; and 

•	 The party is a close member of the family of any 
individual referred to above.

Close family member of the family of an individual includes:

•	 The individual’s domestic partner and children;
•	 Children of the individual’s domestic partner; and 
•	 Dependents of the individual or the individual’s 

domestic partner.

q.  Financial assets that are subject to 
renegotiated terms

Loans with renegotiated terms are loans that have been 
restructured due to deterioration in the borrower’s financial 
position. These loans are not considered to be past due after 
renegotiations but are treated as current loans after the loan 
has performed for a specified period. These loans continue 
to be subject to an individual or collective impairment 
assessment, calculated using the loan’s original effective 
interest rate.

Restructuring activities include extended payment 
arrangements and deferral of payments. 

Following restructuring, a previously overdue advance is 
managed together with other similar accounts once the 
customer demonstrates the ability to make contractual 
payments for a specific period. Restructuring policies and 
procedures are based on indicators or criteria which, in the 
judgment of management, indicate that payment will most 
likely continue. 

Loans where terms have been renegotiated are subject to 
ongoing review to determine whether they are considered 
impaired or past due.

r.  Change in basis of accounting
During March 2013 the Accounting Practices Board (APB) 
and the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) jointly 
announced that SA GAAP will be withdrawn and will cease 
to apply in respect of financial years commencing on or after 
1 December 2013.

Although the Treasury Regulations issued in terms of the 
Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (“PFMA”) require 
some state-owned entities to apply SA GAAP, National 
Treasury and the Public Sector Accounting Standards Board 
are in the process of considering proposed changes to the 
Treasury Regulations in order to address the withdrawal of 
SA GAAP. 

Accordingly, the impact on the financial statements cannot 
be determined until the new framework is gazetted. 

s. New standards and interpretations not yet 
adopted
Below are new standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 
2013, these have not been applied in preparing these 
financial statements:
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Standard Description
Annual periods  

beginning on or after

IFRS 1 (AC 138) 
amendment

First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

•	 Amendments add an exception to the retrospective application of IFRSs to 
require that first-time adopters apply the requirements in IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments and IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure 
of Government Assistance prospectively to government loans existing at the 
date of transition to IFRSs.

1 January 2013

•	 Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle amendments clarify the options 
available to users when repeated application of IFRS 1 is required and to add 
relevant disclosure requirements.

1 January 2013

•	 Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle amendments to borrowing costs. 1 January 2013

•	 The Company will have to apply IFRS 1 in the 2014 AFS should the APB 
determine that public entities should comply with IFRS for accounting periods 
effective on or after 1 December 2012.

IFRS 7 (AC 144) 
(amendment 
not adopted 
into SA GAAP)

Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1 January 2013

•	 Amendments require entities to disclose gross amounts subject to rights of 
set-off, amounts set off in accordance with the accounting standards followed, 
and the related net credit exposure. This information will help investors 
understand the extent to which an entity has set off in its balance sheet and 
the effects of rights of set-off on the entity’s rights and obligations.

•	 Based on the new disclosure requirements, the adoption of the amendment 
to IFRS 7 requires more extensive disclosures about rights to set-off. The 
Company will have to provide information about what amounts have been 
offset in the statement of financial position and the nature and extent of rights 
of set off under master netting or similar arrangement.

IFRS 9 (AC 146) 
(amendment 
not adopted 
into SA GAAP)

Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement 1 January 2015

•	 New standard split into a three-part project to replace IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

•	 The IFRS 9 (2009) requirements represent a significant change from the 
existing requirements of IAS 39 in respect of financial assets. There are two 
primary measurement categories in the standard, namely, amortised cost and 
fair value. A financial asset will be measured at amortised cost if it is held to 
collect contractual cash flows, and the assets contractual terms give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. 
All other financial assets will be measured at fair value. The existing IAS 39 
categories of held to maturity, available for sale and loans and receivables will 
be eliminated. 

•	 IFRS 9 (2010) introduces a new requirement in respect of financial liabilities 
designated under the fair value option to present fair value changes 
attributable to the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income rather 
than in profit or loss. Except for this change, IFRS 9 (2010) largely carries 
forward the guidance on classification and measurement of financial liabilities 
from IAS 39.

•	 Given the nature of the Company’s operations, this standard is expected to 
have a pervasive impact on the Group’s Annual Financial Statements.

s. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued)
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Standard Description
Annual periods  

beginning on or after

IFRS 13 (not 
adopted into SA 
GAAP)

Fair value measurements 1 January 2013

•	 IFRS 13 provides a single source of guidance on how fair value is measured, 
and replaces the fair value measurement guidance that is currently dispersed 
throughout IFRS. IFRS 13 is applied when fair value measurements or 
disclosures are required or permitted by other IFRSs. 

•	 Although many of the IFRS 13 disclosure requirements regarding financial 
assets and financial liabilities already required, the adoption of IFRS 13 will 
require the Company to provide additional disclosures. These include fair 
value hierarchy disclosures for non-financial assets/liabilities and disclosures 
on fair value measurements that are categorised in level 3. 

IAS 1 (AC 101) 
(amendment 
not adopted 
into SA GAAP)

Presentation of Financial Statements 

•	 Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle: Amendments clarifying the 
requirements for comparative information including minimum and additional 
comparative information required.

1 January 2013

IAS 16 (AC 123) Property, Plant and Equipment

•	 Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle: Amendments to the recognition 
and classification of servicing equipment.

1 January 2013

IAS 19 (AC 116) 
(amendment 
not adopted 
into SA GAAP)

Employee Benefits 1 January 2013

•	 IAS 19 (2011) changes the definition of short-term and other long-term 
employee benefits to clarify the distinction between the two.

•	 For defined benefit plans, removal of the accounting policy for recognising 
actuarial gains and losses is expected to have an impact on the Company as 
the Company currently utilises the corridor method to account for such gains 
and losses. The Company may need to assess the impact of the change in 
measurement principles of the expected return on plan assets. 

IAS 32 (AC 125) 
(amendment 
not adopted 
into SA GAAP)

Financial Instruments: Presentation 1 January 2013

•	 Amendment clarifies the offsetting criteria in IAS 32 by explaining when an 
entity currently has a legally enforceable right to set – of and when gross 
settlement is equivalent to net settlement. 

•	 Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle: Amendments to clarify the tax effect 
of distribution to holders of equity instruments.

•	 Based on an initial assessment, the Company is not expecting a significant 
impact from the adoption of the amendments to IAS 32.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12, IAS 27, IAS 28, 
IAS 34 and IFRIC 20 are not applicable to the business of 
the Company and will therefore have no impact on future 
financial statements.

All standards and interpretations will be adopted at their 
effective date (except for those Standards and Interpretations 
that are not applicable to the Company). 

t. Comparative figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted 
to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

In preparing the Company’s financial statements, 
management is required to exercise its judgment in the 
process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, 
making estimates and assumptions that affect reported 

income, expenses, assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent liabilities. 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning 
the future that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year. The resulting 
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the 
related actual results. 

Estimates and assumptions made predominantly relate to 
going concern, impairment of loans and advances, disclosed 
in Note 6 and determination of the useful lives, residual 
values as well as depreciation methods for equipment 
as disclosed in Note 9. Other judgments made relate to 
classifying financial assets and liabilities into their relevant 
categories.

Management has made an assessment of the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that 
the Company has the resources to continue in business for 
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2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 
(continued)

the foreseeable future. Management’s consideration for 
preparing the financial statements on the going concern 
basis is disclosed in Note 1. 

A change in accounting estimate is defined as an adjustment 
to the carrying value of an asset, liability or the amount of 
the periodic consumption of an asset that results from new 
information or new developments. In certain instances, 
changes in accounting estimates are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income during the period in 
which the change is made.

Assumptions are used in the calculation of fair values in 
properties in possession, which is disclosed in Note 8 
including “permission to occupy” and “bond boycott” loans. 
Historical realisation values are used as part of a back-testing 
exercise to estimate the recoverable amount of properties 
in possession. For permission to occupy and bond boycott 
properties, the subsidy value received from the Department 
of Human Settlements is used to estimate the fair value.

The estimates and assumptions which may result in a 
material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Impairment of loans and advances and 
properties in possession
The credit impairment allowance represents management’s 
best estimate of losses incurred in the loan portfolios at the 
statement of financial position date.

Management is required to exercise judgment in making 
assumptions and estimations when calculating such 
allowances on both specific and portfolio loans and 
advances.

The Company arrives at the credit impairment allowance 
using the following factors:

•	 Default rates;
•	 Ratio of accounts that remained non–performing over 

the back-testing period;
•	 Estimated cash flows; and
•	 Time taken to realise security.

The time period selected for back-testing is based on the 
following factors:

•	 The consistency of the base period in relation to the 
current financial period; and

•	 Consideration of the prevailing economic conditions.

This key area of judgment is subject to uncertainty and is 
highly sensitive to factors such as loan portfolio growth, 
product mix, unemployment rates, loan product features, 
economic conditions such as property prices, the level of 
interest rates, the rate of inflation, account management 
policies and practices, and other factors that can affect 
customer payment patterns. 

These judgment areas and their underlying assumptions are 
reviewed at the statement of financial position date.

The Company assesses its loans and advances as well as the 
properties in possession for impairment at each reporting 
date. In particular, judgment by management is required in 
the estimation of the timing of the recoverable amount. 

Impairment of assets
The impairment of assets is based on the estimated 
remaining useful lives and original costs or market values. 

Furniture and fittings in branches are estimated to be 
replaced in line with the branch refurbishment programme. 
Management expects this programme to be executed as 
scheduled however any changes in the programme will 
affect the impairment of the related assets.

Defined benefit pension plan
The cost of the defined benefit pension plan is determined 
using an actuarial valuation. The actuarial valuation involves 
assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return 
on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future 
pension increases. Due to the long-term nature of these 
plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. 
Refer to Note 15 for the assumptions used.

Asset lives and their residual values 
Equipment is depreciated over its estimated useful lives 
taking into account residual values, where appropriate. 
The remaining useful lives of assets and residual values 
are assessed annually. The effect of the change in estimate 
during the current year is disclosed in Note 30.1.

3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Note
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Cash 42 107 52 483

Statutory investments 4 218 037 116 275

Deposits with banks 5 414 934 584 421

Total 675 078 753 179

Included in cash is an amount of R11, 2 million (2012: R11, 1  million) relating to cash in transit at year-end.
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4. STATUTORY INVESTMENTS

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

South African Reserve Bank (SARB) debentures 117 175 116 275

Treasury bill 100 862 -

Total 218 037 116 275

Debentures comprise of three instruments and yield interest at 5%. Their maturity values are as follows:

•	 R40, 3 million on 15 May 2013;
•	 R55, 4 million on 15 May 2013; and
•	 R22, 2 million on 22 May 2013.

The treasury bill yields interest at 5.1%. This instrument matures on 10 April 2013 and its maturity value is R101 million.

The Company invests in statutory investments to ensure that the minimum reserve requirements are met. These funds are not 
available for use in operational activities. Amounts held as at 31 March 2013 exceed the minimum reserve requirements by 
R109 million, and are invested in terms of the Company’s capital management strategy. 

5. DEPOSITS WITH BANKS

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Deposits with banks 414 934 584 421

Deposits with banks is analysed, as follows:

Fixed term funds 323 098 490 505

Call funds 91 836 93 916

Maturity analysis of fixed term funds

Maturing up to 1 month 174 487 76 723

Maturing after 1 month but within 3 months 30 138 241 182

Maturing after 3 months but within 6 months 30 141 166 358

Maturing after 6 months but not exceeding 1 year 88 332 6 242

Total 323 098 490 505

The Company invests surplus funds with financial institutions that are rated in accordance with Fitch ratings ranging from AA- 
to AAA+. These financial institutions are Investec Limited, Nedbank Limited, Standard Bank Limited, First National Bank and 
Absa Bank Limited. Due to investments being held in institutions that are highly-rated, these instruments are neither past due 
nor impaired.

Funds on fixed deposit at ABSA Bank Limited are subject to a general cession in its favour up to an amount of R20 million for 
electronic banking facilities granted to the Company. At year-end, funds on fixed deposit with ABSA Bank Limited totalled 
R28 million (2012: R189 million).
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6. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Housing loans 1 322 253 1 237 785

Micro finance – secured loans 23 164 23 405

Commercial property loans 23 529 29 232

Micro finance – unsecured loans 29 824 18 191

1 398 770 1 308 613

Credit impairments for loans and advances (101 008) (104 549)

Loans and advances net of impairment 1 297 762 1 204 064

Maturity analysis

On demand 8 546 7 418

Maturing from 1 month to 6 months 38 447 34 818

Maturing from 6 months to 1 year 42 972 40 759

Maturing from 1 year to 5 years 309 908 309 823

Maturing after 5 years 998 897 915 795

Total 1 398 770 1 308 613

The general terms and conditions for the granting of loans relate to serviceability of the loan by the applicant and adequacy of 
security provided. The loan pricing is linked to the prevailing prime interest rate.

The maturity analysis is based on the remaining periods to contractual maturity from year-end based on the contractual 
instalments to be received.

Credit impairments for loans and advances
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Balance at beginning of the year 104 549 107 788

Amounts written off against specific credit impairment (18 486) (12 012)

Impairments raised and impairments released 14 945 8 773

Balance at end of the year 101 008 104 549

Comprising:

Impairments for performing loans 32 205 27 638

Impairments for non-performing loans 68 803 76 911

Total credit impairments for loans and advances 101 008 104 549

Credit impairment analysis in respect of performing and  
non-performing loans

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Non-performing loans

Balance at beginning of the year 76 911 79 356

Impaired accounts written off (18 486) (12 012)

Net impairments raised 10 378 9 567

Balance at end of the year 68 803 76 911

Performing loans

Balance at beginning of the year 27 638 28 432

Net impairments released 4 567 (794)

Balance at end of the year 32 205 27 638

Total 101 008 104 549
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Segmental analysis by industry of impairments in respect of non-
performing loans

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Real estate 7 638 6 272

Construction 6 733 9 874

Retail – Mortgage 39 730 39 235

Retail - Other 14 702 21 530

Total 68 803 76 911

Concentration of credit risk
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Loans granted within the boundaries of KwaZulu-Natal 1 398 770  1 308 613

Loans granted outside the boundaries of KwaZulu-Natal -  -

Total 1 398 770  1 308 613

Non-performing loans and advances 
A non-performing loan is an exposure where a specific credit 
impairment is raised, where the credit quality has declined 
significantly, or an obligation is past due for more than 90 
days. An obligation is past due when the borrower has failed 
to honour it at the point when it fell due.

Impaired loans and advances, and specific credit 
impairments
Impaired loans and advances are defined as loans and 
advances in respect of which the Company has raised 
specific credit impairments. A specific credit impairment is 
raised in respect of an asset that has triggered a loss event 
where the security held against the advance is insufficient to 
cover the total expected losses. Such a loss event may be, 
for example, significant financial difficulty of the borrower, 
a breach of contract such as a default, or delinquency in 
interest or principal payments.

Portfolio credit impairment
Portfolio credit impairment represents the impairment on 
loans and advances that have not been specifically impaired. 
These loans and advances have not yet individually 
evidenced a loss event. A period of time will elapse between 
the occurrence of an impairment event and objective 
evidence of the impairment becoming evident. This period 
is generally known as the “emergence period”. 

The following table is an analysis of financial assets that 
are past due but not impaired. The credit granting process 
on these loans should mitigate any potential risk around 
the credit quality of these assets. The security provided is 
considered to be sufficient to mitigate potential risk around 
default in the event that the credit quality is compromised.

Age analysis of assets past due but not impaired

2013 
R’000

Less than 
30 days

31 to 60 
days

61 to 90 
days

More than 
90 days Total

Net 
realisable 

amount of 
security

Housing loans 5 533 9 421 7 287 27 761 50 002 50 423

Micro finance – unsecured 
loans 102 85 19 1 121 1 327 -

Commercial property loans - - - 849 849 3 000

Total 5 635 9 506 7 306 29 731 52 178 53 423

2012 
R’000

Less than 
30 days

31 to 60 
days

61 to 90 
days

More than 
90 days Total

Net 
realisable 

amount of 
security

Housing loans 25 180 7 038 8 319 20 096 60 633 73 717

Micro finance – unsecured loans 457 7 - - 464 -

Commercial property loans 2 838 903 99 - 3 840 5 644

Total 28 475 7 948 8 418 20 096 64 937 79 361
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6. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO 
CUSTOMERS (continued)

At statement of financial position date, the value of non-
performing loans was R124, 5 million (2012: R131, 3 million)  
against which credit impairments of R68, 8 million  
(2012: R76, 9 million) are held. There is no individual loan or 
advance included above that exceeds 10% of the Company’s 
qualifying capital and reserves as at 31 March 2013.

The net realisable amount refers to the fair value of the security 
and expected cash flows discounted to its present value.

The security held by the Company, represented by the 
net realisable amount which has been disclosed above, 

comprises of properties as well as financial guarantees that 
are taken into the Company’s possession only in the event of 
default. In respect of security for home improvement loans, 
the borrowers’ rights to their pension and provident fund 
assets are ceded to the Company. 

The assets held as security which are not readily convertible 
into cash are disposed of in accordance with the Company’s 
policy by employing the following methods:

•	 Outsourcing the marketing and sale of properties in 
possession; and 

•	 Interviewing occupants by encouraging them to 
purchase the properties utilising any applicable 
government housing subsidy.

7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000 

(Restated)

Trade and other receivables 12 255 16 028

Less: provision for trade and other receivables (3 237)  (1 925)

Sub-total 9 018 14 103

Prepayments 2 920 2 390

Total 11 938 16 493

Credit impairments movement 

Balance at beginning of the year 1 925 2 101

Additional provisions made during the year 2 037 1 265

Unused amounts reversed during the period  (725)  (1 441)

Balance at end of the year 3 237 1 925

Amounts released during the financial year  (154)  (759)

Amounts expected to be recovered after more than 12 months from 
reporting date 613 682

The amount of R0, 6 million (2012: R0, 7 million) represents the amount expected to be received after more than 12 months 
from reporting date whilst the aging of trade and other receivables, as disclosed in Note 28.1 represents the contractual 
maturity.

Analysis of trade and other receivables
2013 

R’000

2012 
R’000 

(Restated)

Accrued fees 292 236

Properties in possession debtors 857 523

Service deposits 179 180

VAT apportionment 454 8 040

Service fees 1 311 1 568

Net refunds due from insurance underwriters 1 509 3 115

Outstanding deposits 2 974 165

Other 1 442 276

Total 9 018 14 103

Service deposits are deposits held at the Municipalities for the payment of utilities, which are available on demand. Funds due from 
properties in possession will only be available to the Company once the Department of Human Settlements has made payment for 
the transfer of properties to be effected and estate agents have affected the transfer on registration of properties in possession. 
Uninsured losses arise as a result of theft and fraud committed by ex-staff. A provision has been raised for these amounts. Other 
debt encompasses short delivery of cash, unpaid cheques and stained notes which are also receivable on demand.
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8. PROPERTIES IN POSSESSION

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Gross amount at beginning of the year 10 636 12 771

Additions  2 269 1 839

Disposals (1 773)  (3 974)

Gross amount at end of the year 11 132 10 636

Fair value decrease  (3 983)  (3 531)

Carrying amount 7 149 7 105

Fair value 

Balance at beginning of the year 3 531 2 366

Increase / (decrease) for the year 452 1 165

Balance at end of the year 3 983 3 531

Properties in possession relate to immovable properties that have been repossessed by the Company and comprise mainly of 
private residential dwellings. These assets are valued in terms of AC 142: Non-Current Assets Held for Sale.

The manner and timing of the expected disposals of properties situated in rural areas are ascertained based on a back-testing 
exercise performed on prior disposals and an expected net realisable value being the government housing subsidy receivable 
on disposal. 

9. EQUIPMENT

Cost
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Computer equipment 42 267 37 429

Furniture and fittings 18 950 20 718

Office equipment 20 196 19 455

Leasehold improvements 56 934 58 978

Work in progress - 6 248

Total 138 347 142 828

Accumulated depreciation

Computer equipment 25 390 21 532

Furniture and fittings 12 004 11 353

Office equipment 11 917 11 371

Leasehold improvements 36 011 36 277

Total 85 322 80 533

Net book value 53 025 62 295

Movement in equipment

2013

Computer 
equipment 

R’000

Furniture & 
fittings 
R’000

Office 
equipment 

R’000

Leasehold 
improvements 

R’000

Work in 
progress 

R’000
Total 

R’000

Net carrying value at 
beginning of the year 15 898 9 167 8 084 22 898 6 248 62 295

Additions 635 2 831 1 920 - - 5 386

Disposals (133) (273) (102) - - (508)

Net WIP movement 
transfers 6 244  (145)  149 - (6 248)  -

Impairment - (127) - - - (127)

Depreciation  (5 771)  (6 459)  (1 791) - - (14 021)

Net carrying value at end of 
the year 16 873 4 994 8 260 22 898 -  53 025
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9. EQUIPMENT (continued)
Movement in equipment (continued)

2012

Computer 
equipment 

R’000

Furniture & 
fittings 
R’000

Office 
equipment 

R’000

Leasehold 
improvements 

R’000

Work in 
progress 

R’000
Total 

R’000

Net carrying value at 
beginning of the year 17 677 10 774 8 051 31 638 4 914 73 054

Additions 3 026 55 1 741 293 2 604 7 719

Disposals  (10) - (13) - -  (23)

Acquisition of Business (Note 
31) 76 - 2 - - 78

Write off - (185)  (279)  (1 275) -  (1 739)

Impairment - - -  (1 836)  (1 270)  (3 106)

Depreciation  (4 871)  (1 477)  (1 418)  (5 922) - (13 688)

Net carrying value at end of 
the year 15 898  9 167 8 084 22 898 6 248  62 295

The aggregate gross carrying amount of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment still in use amounts to R11, 2 million 
(2012: R9, 9 million).

10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Intangible assets
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Cost

Computer software 7 709 9 214

Work in progress 32 787 32 787

Total 40 496 42 001

Accumulated amortisation

Computer software 5 323 6 117

Accumulated impairment 

Work in progress 32 404 32 403

Net book value 2 769 3 481

Movement in intangible assets

2013
Computer software 

R’000
Work in progress 

R’000
Total 

R’000

Net carrying value at beginning of the year 3 097 384 3 481

Additions 28 - 28

Transfers 1  (1) -

Amortisation  (740) -  (740)

Net carrying value at end of the year 2 769 383 2 769

2012
Computer software 

R’000
Work in progress 

R’000
Total 

R’000

Net carrying value at beginning of the year 1 311 2 096 3 407

Additions 514 - 514

Transfers  1 712 (1 712)  -

Amortisation (440) -  (440)

Net carrying value at end of the year 3 097 384 3 481
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An amount of R32, 4 million had been recognised as an 
intangible asset impairment provision during the 2011 year. 
This impaired asset relates to the banking system project 
(Temenos MCB) which was scheduled to be commissioned 
in June 2010. Testing conducted by the Company revealed 
significant deficiencies which led to the Board of Directors 
delaying the “go live” decision. The impairment was 
recognised due to rectification efforts by the vendor failing 
to produce the desired result and significant uncertainty 
as to the implementation of the system. Subsequent 
negotiations with the vendor relating to the rectification 
of the deficiencies and the continuation of the project on 

amended terms and conditions was not successful. The 
Company is currently obtaining external legal opinion on 
the way forward.

The recoverable amount from the asset can only be 
reassessed based on the outcome of the case above. 
Furthermore, the long term strategy of the Company 
includes the implementation of a bespoke banking system, 
and as such certain intrinsic value may exist within the 
capitalised amount from the previous project which may be 
realised on the implementation of any new system.

11. CUSTOMER DEPOSITS

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Call deposit accounts 44 594 41 103

Savings accounts 745 511 821 823

Term deposits 1 013 352 912 457

Total deposits 1 803 457 1 775 383

Maturity analysis

On demand 796 470 862 926

Maturing up to 1 month 159 042 97 586

Maturing after 1 month but within 6 months 501 265 477 835

Maturing after 6 months but within 1 year 320 936 296 223

Maturing after 1 year but within 5 years 25 744 40 813

1 803 457 1 775 383

The maturity analysis is based on the remaining periods to contractual maturity from year end. At 31 March 2013, the balance 
of funds deposited by various trusts for land restoration compensation exceeded 5% of total deposits. The Department of Land 
Affairs disburses these funds to community trusts for land restitution. The current condition of this disbursement is that the 
funds are placed with the Company.

Savings accounts are further analysed as follows:
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Pass book* 523 811 576 467

Trust 95 291 121 661

Debit card 84 742 83 474

Corporate 41 667 40 221

Total savings 745 511 821 823

Term deposits are further analysed as follows:

Retail accounts 782 648 667 015

Corporate accounts 230 704 245 442

Total term deposits 1 013 352 912 457

*A passbook is a paper book used to record bank transactions on a depositor’s account and is an alternative means of banking 
for customers who do not prefer electronic banking. 

Savings accounts, as disclosed in the table above, have no fixed terms and are available to customers on demand. Term 
deposits are available to customers upon maturity.
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ITHALA LIMITED

12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Trade creditors 4 515 3 560

Accruals 6 843 6 383

Operating leases – accrued expenditure 910 1 476

South African Revenue Services – VAT 309 272

Loans and advances reflecting credit balances 1 717 3 148

Stale cheques 1 085 1 316

Insurance Payables - 354

Accrual for leave pay 10 407 9 490

Outstanding cheques 3 506 3 620

Sundry payables 8 772 8 038

Total 38 064 37 657

Amounts expected to be settled more than 12 months from reporting 
date 15 401 1 611

The amount of R15, 4 million (2012: R16, 7 million) represents the amount expected to be settled more than 12 months from 
the reporting date while the ageing of trade and other payables, as disclosed in Note 28.3, represents the contractual maturity.

13. PROVISIONS

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Provisions comprise:

Provision for audit fees 3 473 2 336

Provision for bonuses 1 553 1 448

Provision for long services award 9 458 8 681

Total 14 484 12 465

Provision for audit fees

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 2 336 2 986

Additional provisions during the year 3 641 3 144

Amounts utilised during the year (2 504) (3 794) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 3 473 2 336

The provision for audit fees is determined based on the audit fee to be 
incurred for the financial year under review. The audit fee is approved by 
the Audit Committee.

Provision for bonuses

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 1 448 1 438

Additional provisions during the year 4 652 4 331

Amounts utilised during the year  (4 548)  (4 321)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 1 552 1 448

The provision for bonuses is paid out annually in November. These 
bonuses relate to a “13th cheque” paid only to “A – C band” employees 
that are employed by the Company at the time of payment.
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2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Provision for long service awards:

Balance at beginning of the year 8 681 7 314

Expensed during the year 2 012 2 105

Benefits vesting during the year  (1 235) (738)

Balance at end of the year 9 458 8 681

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as 
follows:

Present value of obligations 9 458 8 681

Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are 
as follows:

Current service costs 1 298 992

Interest costs 565 546

Net actuarial loss recognised during the year 149 567

Total included in staff costs 2 012 2 105

Sensitivity analysis 

Assumption Change
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Present value of obligations 9 458 8 681

Average salary inflation +1% 10 252 9 248

-1% 8 745 8 168

Withdrawal rates -50% 12 272 11 016

Average retirement age -2 years 8 476 7 898

+2 years 10 470 9 553

The Company provides long service awards to permanent employees in the form of cash from ten years of continuous service 
and every five years thereafter. An actuarial valuation of the provision for long service awards at 31 March 2013 quantified the 
present value of obligations at R9, 4 million (2012: R8, 6 million). These actuarial valuations are conducted annually at statement 
of financial position date. 

The most recent actuarial valuation of the long service awards was carried out for the current financial years by Alexander 
Forbes, fellow of the Institute of Actuaries of South Africa. The present value of the liability was measured using the Projected 
Unit Credit Method.

The principal actuarial assumptions used included a discount rate of 6.5% (2012: 7.05% ) and an average salary inflation of  
5.8% (2012: 6.60%). 

14. LOAN ACCOUNT WITH HOLDING COMPANY

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Loan account with holding company 15 954 23 989

The loan account with the holding company is unsecured, bears interest based on the ABSA Bank Limited call rate and has no 
fixed terms of repayment. 
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ITHALA LIMITED

15. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

15.1. Post-retirement medical benefits
The Company provides post–retirement medical benefits 
to employees who commenced employment prior to  
1 August 2000. An actuarial valuation of post–retirement 
medical obligations at 31 March 2013 quantified the 
present value of unfunded obligations at R19, 4 million  
(2012: R20, 6 million). These actuarial valuations are 
conducted annually at statement of financial position date. 

The most recent actuarial valuation of the present value of 

defined benefit obligations were carried out for the current 
financial years by Alexander Forbes, fellow of the Institute of 
Actuaries of South Africa. The present value of the liability 
was measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

The principal actuarial assumptions used included a discount 
rate of 8.60% (2012: 8.06%) and a health care cost inflation 
rate of 8.30% (2012: 5.64%). The movement in the liability 
annualised in the statement of financial position is as follows:

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Movement in the defined benefit obligation, is as follows :

Balance at beginning of the year 21 374 19 962

Expensed during the year 2 403 1 895

Contributions paid (488)  (483)

Balance at end of the year 23 289 21 374

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position, are as 
follows:

Present value of unfunded obligations 22 967 20 645

Unrecognised actuarial gain 322 729

Present value of unfunded obligations 23 289 21 374

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, are 
as follows:

Current service costs 759 516

Interest costs 1 644 1 379

Net actuarial gain recognised during the year - -

Total included in staff costs 2 403 1 895

Sensitivity analysis – unfunded accrued liability   

Assumption Change
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Present value of obligation 22 967 20 645

Health care cost inflation +1% 26 967 24 165

+1.5% 29 320 26 230

+1.75% 30 599 27 350

-1% 20 090 17 784

Post–retirement mortality -2 years 25 052 21 259

Expected retirement age -1 year 21 662 21 795
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15.2. Pension and provident fund schemes
The Company provides retirement benefits to all employees 
by contributing to pension and provident funds. Membership 
of either the pension or provident fund is compulsory.

The defined benefit pension fund and the defined benefit 
provident fund are governed by the Pension Funds Act, 
1956, with retirement benefits being determined with 
reference to both pensionable remuneration and years of 
service. Both funds are closed to new members. 

The defined contribution pension fund and defined 
contribution provident fund are governed by the Pension 
Funds Act of 1956 and are open to new members and 
members who have elected to transfer from the defined 
benefit funds.

Actuarial valuations of the defined benefit pension and 
provident funds were conducted as at the end of each of the 

three preceding financial years and the actuary found the 
funds to be in a sound financial position. An actuarial review 
conducted as at 31 March 2013 showed that in respect of 
the Defined benefit Pension fund, the present value of the 
obligation was adequately covered by the fair value of the 
scheme assets. However, for the Defined benefit provident 
fund the present value of the obligation did not adequately 
cover the fair value of the scheme assets and a liability 
has accordingly been recognised as at 31 March 2013 as 
quantified below.

The most recent actuarial valuation of plan assets and 
present value of defined benefits obligations were carried 
out for the current and prior annual financial years by Old 
Mutual Actuarial Consultants, fellow of the Institute of 
Actuaries of South Africa. The present value of the defined 
benefits obligations and the related current service cost 
were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

15.2.1. Defined benefit pension fund

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Present value of funded obligations 24 272 22 124

Fair value of plan assets  (24 556) (23 763)

(284) (1 639)

Unrecognised actuarial gain 284  1 639

Liability at end of the year - -

It was resolved during the prior year to close the defined benefit pension fund. All active members of the fund have been 
transferred to a defined contribution fund of the Company as at 31 December 2011. The approval for closure of the fund in 
terms of section 14 of the Pensions Fund Act of 1956 is still outstanding from the Financial Services Board. Accordingly, the 
trustees have not yet apportioned the surplus in the fund.

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year 22 124 22 140

Interest cost 2 284 1 755

Current service cost - 182

Benefits paid (16 799)  (1 487)

Contributions by plan participants (employees) - 76

Actuarial loss/(gain) on obligation 16 663 (542)

Balance at end of the year 24 272 22 124

The movement in the fair value of plan assets over the year, is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year 23 763 23 027

Expected return on assets 2 816 2 049

Contributions received - 113

Benefits paid  (16 799)  (1 487)

Investment gain on assets 14 776 61

Balance at end of the year 24 556 23 763

Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, are as follows:

Current service cost - 182

Interest cost 2 284 1 755

Expected return on plan assets  (2 816) (2 049)

Recognised actuarial loss 532 149

Total included in staff costs - 37
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15.2. Pension and provident fund schemes (continued)
15.2.1. Defined benefit pension fund (continued)

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

 2011 
R’000

2010 
R’000

2009 
R’000

Present value of obligation 24 272 22 124 22 140 16 882 18 705

Fair value of fund assets  (24 556)  (23 763) (23 027) (19 941)  (19 877)

Surplus (284) 1 639 887 3 059 1 172

Experience loss / (gain) on 
fund liabilities  16 663  (542)  5 039  (1 621) 1 479

Experience loss / (gain) on 
fund assets 14 776  61 2 502  (3 035) 380

Plan asset portfolio
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Investment assets 23 384 15 588

Annuity contracts - 8 977

Current liabilities 1 172 (802)

Total 24 556 23 763

Effective rate of return on plan assets (actual) 7.21% 10.5%

Expected return Fair value of fund assets

2013 2012
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Equity instruments 10.4% 10.3% 12 371 12 886

Debt instruments 7.4% 7.3% 10 240 8 748

Property 8.4% 8.3% 1 945 2 129

Weighted average expected return 8.99% 9.02% 24 556 23 763

The overall expected rate of return is a weighted average of the expected returns of the various categories of fund assets held. 
The Director’s assessment of the expected returns is based on historical trends and analysts’ predictions of the market for the 
asset over the life of the related obligation. 

The principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date were 
(expressed as weighted averages): 2013 2012

Discount rate (annualised yield on R208) 6.5% 8.0%

Expected rate of return on plan assets 9.0% 9.0%

Future salary increases (inflation plus 1%) 7.4% 7.3%

Inflation 6.4% 6.3%

Sensitivity Analysis – Fund Liability   
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

At valuation assumptions: 24 272 22 124

*No sensitivity analysis has been disclosed during the current or prior year due to the closure of the fund as disclosed above.

The Company expects to make no contributions to the Ithala Defined Benefit Pension Fund due to the closure of the fund as 
disclosed above.

15.2.2. Defined benefit provident fund

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position, are as follows:

Present value of funded obligations 25 628 17 866

Fair value of plan assets  (24 522) (20 773)

 1 106  (2 907)

Unrecognised actuarial gain  -   2 907

Liability at end of the year (1 106) -
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Defined Benefit Provident Fund
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year, is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year 17 866 18 977

Interest cost 1 583 1 462

Current service cost 802 849

Benefits paid (2 151)  (2 980)

Contributions by plan participants (employees) 312 292

Actuarial loss/(gain) on obligation 7 216 (734)

Balance at end of the year  25 628 17 866

The movement in the fair value of plan assets over the year, is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year 20 773 20 142

Expected return on assets 2 074 1 731

Contributions received 1 001 683

Benefits paid (2 151) (2 980)

Investment gain/(loss) on assets 2 825 1 197

Balance at end of the year 24 522 20 773

Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, are as follows:

Current service cost 802 849

Interest cost 1 583 1 462

Expected return on plan assets (2 074)  (1 731)

Recognised actuarial gains  2 510  (285)

Total included in staff costs 2 821 295

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

2011 
R’000

2010 
R’000

2009 
R’000

Present value of obligation 25 628 17 866 18 977 17 998 16 007

Fair value of fund assets  (24 522) (20 773) (20 142) (20 431) (18 200)

Surplus (1 106) 2 907 1 165 2 433 2 193

Experience loss/(gain) on fund 
liabilities  7 126  (734) 860 1 207 1 279

Experience gain/(loss) on fund assets 2 825 1 197 (429) 1 411 (767)

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Plan asset portfolio

Investment assets 28 828 21 802

Annuity contracts - -

Current liabilities (191) (1 029)

Total 28 637 20 773

Effective rate of return on plan assets (actual) 7.21% 10.5%
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15.2. Pension and provident fund schemes (continued)
15.2.2. Defined benefit provident fund (continued)

Expected return Fair value of fund assets

2013 2012
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Equity instruments 10.4% 10.3% 16 358 13 665

Debt instruments 7.4% 7.3% 5 919 5 156

Property 8.4% 8.3% 2 249 1 952

Weighted average expected return 9.49% 9.37% 24 526 20 773

The overall expected rate of return is a weighted average of the expected returns of the various categories of fund assets held. 
The Directors’ assessment of the expected returns is based on historical trends and analysts’ predictions of the market for the 
asset over the life of the related obligation.

The principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date were 
(expressed as weighted averages) 2013 2012

Discount rate (annualised yield on R208) 6.5% 8.0%

Expected rate of return on plan assets 9.5% 9.0%

Future salary increases (inflation plus 1%) 7.4% 7.3%

Inflation 6.4% 6.3%

Sensitivity Analysis  - Fund Liability Change
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

At valuation assumptions: 25 628 17 866 

Discount rate +1% 24 278 17 139 

-1% 26 552 18 667 

Expected rate of salary increases +1% 26 253 18 471 

-1% 24 526 17 313 

No salary increases 20 731 14 849 

The Company expects to make a contribution of R648 513 (2012: R554 766) to the Ithala Defined Benefit Provident Fund.

16. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Authorised share capital

191 million (2012: 191 million) ordinary shares of 0, 1 cent each 191 191

Issued share capital and premium

190 million (2012: 190 million) ordinary shares of 0, 1 cent each issued 
and fully paid for 190 190

Share premium 189 810 189 810

Total 190 000 190 000
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17. INTEREST ON LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS AND SURPLUS FUNDS

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Revenue arising from held to maturity investments

Interest received on call accounts 1 797 1 187

Interest received on fixed deposit accounts 29 693 37 296

Interest income on treasury bills and debentures 7 246 5 833

Total interest received from deposits with banks and from statutory 
investments 38 736 44 316

Revenue arising from loans and advances to customers

Home improvement loans 9 248 9 785

“Cash backed” loans 2 721 2 835

Interest on rural property loans 9 166 10 988

Interest on personal loans 5 968 5 915

Housing loans 93 913 85 054

Property development loans 1 045 1 490

Commercial loans 1 924 2 699

Debt Consolidation 98 -

Total interest earned on loans and advances to customers 124 083 118 766

Total interest on loans and advances and surplus funds 162 819 163 082

18. INTEREST EXPENDITURE 

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Interest paid on customer deposits (53 975)  (55 538)

Loan account with holding company (49) (32)

Total  (54 024)  (55 570)
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19. FEES AND OTHER INCOME

Commission and fee income comprises of the following significant 
categories of revenue:

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000 

(Restated)

Revenue generated by Insurance division 16 817 16 777

Rebates received 130 242

Commission income 12 423 11 261

Administration fee 2 114 2 736

Development fee 609 684

Funeral cover commission and other fees 1 541 1 854

Commission and fee income 110 117 108 555

Investigation and initiation fees from “cash backed” loans 1 969 1 877

Investigation and initiation fees from housing loans 3 898 2 760

Other Investigation and initiation fees  income 5 796 4 351

Service fees received from business accounts 3 769 3 508

Service fees received from pass book based accounts 31 029 32 281

Service fees received from club accounts 3 600 3 437

Service fees received from debit card based savings accounts 53 615 54 563

Other service fee income 5 513 4 331

Electronic fund transfer fee income 834 868

Valuation fee income 94 579

Other income 9 970 14 810

Dormant account balances recognised in income  3 383 5 268

Bad debts recovered 180 1 070

Value Added Taxation 2 563 5 170

Recovery of operating expenses from holding company 2 390 2 608

Insurance settlement 1 046 -

Sundry income 408 694

Total fees and other income 136 904 140 142
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20. OPERATING EXPENDITURE

Operating expenditure is stated after the following items:

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Auditors’ remuneration 3 641 3 144

Audit fees 3 687 3 458

Prior year over provision  (46)  (314) 

Fees for other services - -

Amortisation of intangible assets 740 440

Depreciation of equipment 14 021 13 688

Impairment of equipment 127 3 106

Profit on disposal of properties in possession (229)  (185)

Loss on disposal of equipment  - 14

Proceeds on insurance claims   -  (9)

Professional fees 960 884

Operating leases 18 524 20 451

Personnel costs (excluding Directors’ and  key management remuneration) 116 863 108 457

Included in personnel costs above are contributions to retirement benefit 
schemes: 8 897 7 963

Defined benefit plans 678 961

Defined contribution plans 8 219 7 002

Write-off of equipment - 1 739

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Directors’ emoluments

Emoluments paid to Non-Executive Directors – Directors’ fees 1 768 2 064

SC Ngidi 262 175

PF Lugayeni - 208

PD Christianson 189 84

M Mia 312 220

R Morar - 24

M Buthelezi - 668

SC Nzuza 263 258

AN Zondi* - 159

DM McLean* - 158

DK Golding - 110

B Ngonyama 213 -

GNJ White* 383 -

L Van Lelyveld 146 -

The Non-Executive Directors do not have service contracts.  

* These Directors are also directors on board committees of the holding company. Their remuneration for these services is 
disclosed in the Annual Financial Statements of the holding company.  
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20. OPERATING EXPENDITURE (continued)

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

VP Misra – Chief Executive Officer 667 2 091

Short-term employee benefits 228 2 089

Other benefits 439 2

On 7 April, Mr VP Misra was suspended with remuneration pending the outcome of disciplinary 
action instituted against him. Mr Misra was subsequently dismissed on 16 May 2012.

BTT Mathe – Acting Chief Executive Officer* 1 056 1 867

Short-term employee benefits 789 1 313

Post-employment benefits 111 185

Other benefits 156 236

*Mr BTT Mathe was appointed as the Acting Chief Executive Officer on 18 April 2011. His 
remuneration was paid by the holding company and is further disclosed in the holding company 
annual report. Mr Mathe Resigned as the Acting Chief Executive officer on 31 October 2012.

SV Khoza – Chief Executive Officer (appointed 1 November 2012) 1 550 -

Short-term employee benefits 657 -

Post-employment benefits 93 -

Other benefits 800 -

Y Dockrat – Finance Director (resigned 4 October 2012) 879 1 432

Short-term employee benefits 650 1 220

Post-employment benefits 89 171

Other benefits 140 41

PA Ireland – Finance Director (appointed 1 October 2012) 769 -

Short-term employee benefits 668 -

Post-employment benefits 96 -

Other benefits 5 -

AMA Ramavhunga – Operations Director (resigned 31 January 2012) - 1 052

Short-term employee benefits - 856

Post-employment benefits - 124

Other benefits - 72

KEY MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

PN Baloyi – Compliance Officer (resigned 10 May 2012) 295 1 040

Short-term employee benefits 107 927

Post-employment benefits 8 88

Other benefits 180 25

M Sajiwan – Compliance Officer (appointed 1 October 2012) 430 -

Short-term employee benefits 370 -

Post-employment benefits 35 -

Other benefits 25 -

PN Salanje – Divisional Manager: Risk 986 955

Short-term employee benefits 876 850

Post-employment benefits 83 81

Other benefits 27 24

NM Dlamini – Divisional Manager: Credit Risk 1 050 1 017

Short-term employee benefits 934 907

Post-employment benefits 89 86

Other benefits 27 24
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2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

KEY MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

B Ntshangase – Divisional Manager: Housing 788 765

Short-term employee benefits 718 697

Post-employment benefits 68 66

Other benefits 2 2

NF Ngobese – Acting Divisional Manager: Channels (1 February 2012 to 16 
September 2012)

254 63

Short-term employee benefits 207 54

Post-employment benefits 18 6

Other benefits 29 3

P Bowden – Divisional Manager: Channels (appointed 17 September 2012) 453 -

Short-term employee benefits 400 -

Post-employment benefits 41 -

Other benefits 12 -

M Maharaj – Divisional Manager: Insurance (resigned 31 May 2011) - 193

Short-term employee benefits - 154

Post-employment benefits - 15

Other benefits - 24

RS Anif – Acting Divisional Manager: Insurance (1 July 2011 to 31 December 2011) - 385

Short-term employee benefits - 360

Post-employment benefits - -

Other benefits - 25

ZK Beshe – Divisional Manager: Insurance (appointed 1 January 2012) 872 216

Short-term employee benefits 776 195

Post-employment benefits 74 18

Other benefits 22 3

21. TAXATION

There is no provision for normal taxation as the Company has been granted an income tax exemption in accordance with 
Section 10(1)(cA)(ii) of the Income Tax Act. 

22. OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Non-cash items included in comprehensive expense
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Depreciation of equipment 14 021 13 688

Amortisation of intangible assets 740 440

Fair value increase on properties in possession 452 1 165

Loss on disposal of equipment - 14

Write-off of equipment - 1 739

Impairment of equipment 127 3 106

Profit on disposal of properties in possession  (229) (185)

Credit impairment in loans and advances (3 541)  (3 239)

Credit impairment in trade and other receivables  1 312 (176)

Total 12 882 16 552
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23. CHANGES IN OPERATING FUNDS

Note
2013 

R’000

2012 
R’000 

(Restated)

Increase in operating liabilities

Increase in deposits 28 074 29 603

Increase in trade and other payables and provisions 2 426 3 609

Increase in retirement benefit obligations and defined 
benefit provident fund shortfall

3 021 1 412

(Decrease) / increase in loan account with holding company  (8 035) 20 976

Total 25 486 55 600

Increase in operating assets

Increase in loans and advances 6 (90 157)  (121 426)

Increase in properties in possession 8  (2 269)  (1 839)

Decrease / (increase) in trade and other receivables 7 3 243  (1 746)

Total (89 183)  (125 011)

24. COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Authorised but not yet contracted for* 41 133 18 740

Authorised and contracted for 3 495 3 433

Total 44 628 22 173

Comprising of capital expenditure for the acquisition of equipment

Authorised but not yet contracted for*  14 559 15 740

Authorised and contracted for 1 277 1 209

Comprising of capital expenditure for the development of intangible 
assets

Authorised but not yet contracted for* 26 574 3 000

Authorised and contracted for 2 218 2 224

Capital expenditure will be financed from internal resources.

*Amounts relate to capital expenditure approved by the Board of Directors. Amounts are not contractually committed for 
at financial year end.

Operating lease commitments
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments are as follows:

Not later than one year 12 777 16 494

Later than one year and not later than five years 8 732 10 148

Total 21 509 26 642

The Company as a lessee has entered into 16 (2012: 17) related party lease agreements with the holding company. These 
contracts, in aggregate, amount to R2, 1 million (2012: R 6, 8 million).

The Company has entered into commercial leases for premises and equipment. These lease agreements contain clauses 
indicating an average lease period of five years and in some instances, a one-term renewal option. Operating lease commitments 
have been calculated on the original lease term. No renewal periods have been considered due to the uncertainties, amongst 
others, around the amount to be paid on renewal.

Unutilised facilities on advances at statement of financial position date was R25, 02 million (2012: R26, 08 million).
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25. RELATED PARTIES

The holding company is Ithala Development Finance Corporation Limited and the ultimate controlling shareholder is the 
KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Government through the MEC of the Department of Economic Development & Tourism.

The following are identified as related parties of the Company:

25.1. Ithala Development Finance Corporation Limited
The nature of the relationship between Ithala Development Finance Corporation Limited and the Company is that of holding 
company and subsidiary.

The outstanding balance of the current loan accounts is disclosed in Note 14.

Outstanding balances with the holding company 
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Outstanding balance on savings and fixed deposits 2 929 1 380

Loan account with holding company  (15 954)  (23 989)

The transactions with the holding company during the financial year have been analysed below:

Transactions with the holding company
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Bank charges received (51) (47)

Interest paid on customer deposits 49 32

Interest paid on holding company loan account -  -

Service fees -  248

Rental paid 3 871  3 672

Recovery of operating expenses (2 390) (2 608)

Insurance commission  (2 500)  (1 798)

Total  (1 021)  (501)

During the financial year, the Company received “services in kind” from the holding company which are estimated at R17,  2 million 
(2012: R29, 4 million).

25.2. KZN Growth Fund Managers (Proprietary) Limited
The nature of the relationship between KZN Growth Fund Managers (Proprietary) Limited and the Company is that of fellow 
subsidiaries of Ithala Development Finance Corporation Limited.

2013 
Deposits due 

R’000

2013 
Interest expense 

R’000

2012 
Deposits due 

R’000

2012 
Interest expense 

R’000

Deposit funds 20 131 267 - -

25.3. KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Government
The KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Government is the ultimate shareholder of the Company. 

The Company received deposit funds from various departments of the KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Government.

Deposit funds from the KwaZulu-
Natal Provincial Government

2013  
Deposits due 

R’000

2013  
Interest expense 

R’000

2012  
Deposits due 

R’000

2012  
Interest expense 

R’000

KwaZulu-Natal Local Government 24 154 1 407 23 160 1 350

Department of Agriculture and 
Environmental Affairs 1 100 18 1 083 22

Department of Human Settlements 12 287 201 12 114 251

KwaZulu-Natal Health 2 254 3 - -
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25. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

25.4.  The related party transactions detailed below refer to housing loans which were granted to key management 
personnel. Key management personnel compensation is found in disclosed in Note 20.

25.4.1. Key management personnel – Directors of the Company and / or holding company 
Directors of the Company and holding company are the individuals responsible for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Company.

Housing loans granted to executive management 
and Directors of the holding company

Outstanding 
balance 

R’000

Net realisable 
amount of security 

R’000
Interest received 

R’000

2013 1 203 1 730 92

2012 1 198 1 975 94

Housing loans granted to executive management 
and Directors of the Company

Outstanding 
balance 

R’000

Net realisable 
amount of security 

R’000
Interest received 

R’000

2013 2 577 2 670 170

2012 2 796 5 042 257

Impairment and terms of business relating to related party loans
No specific credit impairments (2012: Nil) have been recognised in respect of loans to Executive and Non-Executive Directors.  
These loans are secured by mortgage bonds over properties. The Company, in the ordinary course of business, entered into 
various transactions with related parties. These transactions occur under terms that are no more favourable to those entered 
into with third parties at arm’s length except for housing loans where all full time employees qualify for the prime overdraft 
rate less 1.75%. 

No amount has been expensed during this financial year in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from these related parties.

26. CONTINGENT LIABILITY
The Company is a defendant in the following matters which may result in possible loss to the Company:

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

KZN Security Services 2 843 2 843

Eskom guarantees 81 81

Mr PR Bele 325 325

26.1. KZN security services
A claim was instituted against the Company by KZN Security 
Services during the 2009 / 2010 financial year based on early 
termination of a written service level agreement between 
both parties which was due to expire on 31 March 2009. 
KZN Security Services has further alleged that the agreement 
was to have been extended based on a verbal agreement 
between the holding company and KZN Security Services for 
a further three years until 31 March 2012. The claim has been 
quantified by the applicant at an amount of R2, 8 million. 
The Company is opposing the application and as at the year-
end, the outcome of this legal dispute is still uncertain. 

26.2. Eskom guarantees
The Company has issued guarantees totalling R0, 08 million 
(2012: R0, 08 million) in favour of Eskom.

26.3. Mr. PR Bele
A claim was instituted against the Company by Mr PR Bele. 
The claim is for damages allegedly resulting from incorrect 
investment advice given by a branch manager. The claim has 
been quantified by the applicant at an amount of R0, 3 million.  

The Company is opposing the application and as at the 
date of this report, the outcome of this legal dispute is still 
uncertain.

26.4. Legal dispute with ex-employee
The Company is currently a co-defendant in a disputed dismissal 
case being arbitrated at CCMA. The Company is opposing the 
dispute, the outcome of which is still uncertain at the date of this 
report. Due to the sensitive nature of the case, further disclosure 
may be prejudicial to the outcome of the case. 

26.5. Fraudulent transaction claims
The Company has been subject to receipt of Europay, 
MasterCard and Visa (EMV) liability shift claims for fraudulent 
transactions processed on the Company’s ATMs. Such 
claims are subject to a validation process and may result in 
possible settlement. Management has reviewed the existing 
service level agreements with outsourced service providers 
and believes that the claims are recoverable. Furthermore 
legal opinion has also been sought confirming the view on 
recoverability. Management has begun to engage with the 
service providers on the matter. 
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27. FRUITLESS, WASTEFUL AND IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE, MATERIAL LOSSES AND 

IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE 

27.1. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure amounting to  
R0, 765 million was incurred during the year (2012: Nil). The 
amount comprises of two (2) matters as follows:

•	 R0, 2 million – The amount relates to claims made 
against the Company in respect of EMV liability shift 
relating to fraudulent transactions on Ithala ATMs. 
Management has reviewed the existing service level 
agreements with outsourced service providers and 
believes that the claims are recoverable. Furthermore 
legal opinion has also been sought confirming the view 
on recoverability. Management has begun to engage 
with the service providers on the matter. The request 
for condonation for the expenditure is being prepared 
and is expected to be presented to the Accounting 
Authority at their next meeting.

•	 R0, 565 million – The amount relates to settlement of a 
claim in respect of ownership / title deed to a previous 
property in possession (PIP) sale. The settlement 
was condoned by the Accounting Authority at their 
meeting subsequent to year end.

27.2. Material losses incurred 
As disclosed in Note 6, loans and advances to the amount 
of R18, 4 million (2012: R 12, 0 million) was written off during 
the financial year.

The Company has suffered losses from theft due to break-ins 
at branches during the year amounting to R1, 8 million. An 
amount of R1 million was recovered from the insurance claim 
for the events.

The Company further suffered a loss of R0, 9 million from 
possible fraudulent collusion by staff. The Company has 
claimed for the loss from its underwriter, the outcome of 
which has not been finalised as at the date of this report. 

27.3. Irregular expenditure 
An amount of R176 358 (2012: R3 061 392) which relates 
to irregular expenditure was incurred in the current financial 
year as a result of not complying with the Company’s 
Supply Chain Management Policy. The table below reflects 
a summary of expenditure incurred and condoned by the 
Accounting Authority:

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Opening Balance - 18 026

Add: Irregular Expenditure – current year 176 3 061

Less: Amount condoned  (176)

Less: Amount recoverable (not condoned) -  -

Irregular Expenditure awaiting condonation -  -

Analysis of expenditure awaiting condonation per age classification

Current year -  -

Prior years - -

Total -  -

Details of Irregular Expenditure – Current year

Incident
Disciplinary steps taken / criminal 
proceedings

Non-compliance with supply chain 
management policies

None 
176 2 943

Non-compliance with supply chain 
management policies

Disciplinary steps in process
- 118

Total 176 3 061

Incident
Condoned by (condoning 
authority)

Non-compliance with supply chain 
management policies

Accounting Authority
 176 21 087

Total 176 21 087

Included in the amount condoned in 2012 above is an amount of R0, 397 million relating to the 2012 year and R3, 461 million 
relating to the 2010 financial year which was condoned by the Accounting Authority during a meeting held on 25 May 2012.

9 1INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2012 / 2013



ITHALA LIMITED

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The core function of the Company’s risk management 
department is to identify all key risks impacting the 
Company, measure these risks, manage the risk positions 
and determine capital allocations. The Company regularly 
reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect 
changes in markets, products and industry best practice.

The Company’s aim is to achieve an appropriate balance 
between risk and return and minimise potential adverse 
effects on the Company’s financial performance.

The Company defines risk as the possibility of losses or 
profits foregone, which may be caused by internal or 
external factors.

The Company’s primary financial risks are:
•	 Credit risk
•	 Liquidity risk
•	 Market risk

The Board takes overall responsibility for risk management 
and approves risk management strategies and policies. 
Senior management is responsible for implementing the 
Board approved financial risk management strategies and 
policies and creating a risk management culture within the 
Company through communication, education and training.

The risk management policies are designed to set 
appropriate limits and controls. These policies are reviewed 
at least annually.

The table below displays an explanation of the classes of 
financial instruments held and their related measurement 
categories.

Note

Financial asset 
and liabilities 
at amortised 

cost 
R’000

Non-financial 
instruments at 

fair value 
R’000

Total 
R’000

Fair value 
R’000

2013    

Cash 3 42 107 - 42 107 42 107

Statutory investments 4 218 037 - 218 037 218 037

Deposits with banks 5 414 934 - 414 934 414 934

Loans and advances to customers 6 1 398 770 - 1 398 770 1 297 762

Trade and other receivables 7 12 255  2 920 15 175 11 938

Customer deposits and trade and 
other payables

11 & 12
 (1 840 436)  (1 085)  (1 841 521)  (1 841 521)

Loan account with holding company 14 (15 954) -  (15 954)  (15 954)

2012 (Restated)    

Cash 3 52 483 - 52 483 52 483

Statutory investments 4 116 275 - 116 275 116 275

Deposits with banks 5 584 421 - 584 421 584 421

Loans and advances to customers 6 1 308 613 - 1 308 613 1 204 064

Trade and other receivables 7 16 028 2 390 18 418 16 493

Customer deposits and trade and 
other payables

11 & 12
 (1 811 755)  (1 285)  (1 813 040)  (1 813 040)

Loan account with holding company 14  (23 989) -  (23 989)  (23 989)

28.1.  Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any 
of the Company’s customers or market counterparties fail to 
fulfill their contractual obligations to the Company. Credit 
risk arises mainly from commercial and consumer loans and 
advances.

Credit risk is a significant risk for the Company resulting in 
management carefully managing its exposure. Credit risk 
management and control are centralised within a credit risk 

management team, which reports to the Chief Executive 
Officer.

In terms of Basel II, the Standardised Approach has been 
adopted in the management of credit risk. It is well suited 
to the Company’s size and level of complexity. Capital 
requirements for credit risk are determined based on the 
total risk weighted assets. The various assets are assigned 
different weightings based on their level of risk.
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28.1.1. Credit portfolio analysis
The credit quality of the Company’s advances is presented in the table below:

As at 31 March 2013

Category of Assets

Assets that are 
neither past due nor 

impaired

Assets that are past 
due but not yet 

impaired
Assets that are 

impaired Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Housing loans 1 172 487 50 002 99 764 1 322 253

Cash loans 23 164 - - 23 164

Commercial property loans 14 235 849 8 445 23 529

Microfinance – unsecured 
loans 21 754 1 327 6 743 29 824

Trade and other receivables 11 938 - 3 237 15 175

Total 1 243 578 52 178 118 189 1 413 945

As at 31 March 2012 (Restated)

Category of Assets

Assets that are 
neither past due nor 

impaired

Assets that are past 
due but not yet 

impaired
Assets that are 

impaired Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Housing loans 1 084 811 60 633 92 341 1 237 785

Cash loans 23 385 - 20 23 405

Commercial property loans 17 371 3 840 8 021 29 232

Microfinance – unsecured 
loans 9 583 464 8 144 18 191

Trade and other receivables 16 493 - 1 925 18 418

Total 1 151 643 64 937 110 451 1 327 031

IAS 39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement 
The Company regularly undertakes a back-testing exercise 
to analyse customer behaviour during a specified period. 
This information is then collated and used to project the 
future performance of loans and advances. 

The time period selected is based on the following factors:

•	 The consistency of the base period in relation to the 
current financial period; and

•	 Consideration of the prevailing economic conditions.

The data used in the credit impairment model draws from 
the following factors, determined through back-testing:

•	 Defaults rates;
•	 Ratio of accounts that remained non–performing over 

the backtesting period;
•	 Cash flows; and
•	 Time to realise security.

In most cases, the net realisable value of the security and 
cash flow are used to calculate the credit impairment 
amount.

For the purposes of determining the credit impairment, the 
security value is reduced by the estimated selling costs and 
in the event that the net realisable security value is lower 
than the carrying amount, a further credit impairment based 
on the difference is raised. 

The credit impairment for non-performing loans is 
determined based on the present value of projected cash 
flows and net realisable security. 
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

28.1.  Credit risk (continued) 
28.1.2. Credit risk measurement

Maximum exposure to credit risk
The maximum exposure is the full amount exposed to credit risk without taking into account any form of security. The table below 
shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the relevant component, as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

Credit risk exposures relating to statement of financial 
position assets: Note

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000 

(Restated)

Statutory investments 4 218 037 116 275

Deposits with banks 5 414 934 584 421

Loans and advances to customers 6 1 398 770 1 308 613

Trade and other receivables 7 15 175 18 418

Total assets subject to credit risk 2 046 916 2 027 727

Letters of undertaking issued 25 027 26 083

Maturity analysis of credit risk exposures
Residual contractual maturity analysis for credit risk exposures is as follows:

31 March 2013

Credit risk exposure 
relating to on 
statement of financial 
position assets: Note

Up to 1 
month

From 1 to 6 
months

From 6 
months to 1 

year
From 1 year 

to 5 years After 5 year Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Statutory investments 4 100 862 117 175 - - - 218 037

Deposits with banks 5 266 323 60 279 88 332 - - 414 934

Loans and advances to 
customers 6 8 546 38 447 42 972 309 908 998 897 1 398 770

Trade and other 
receivables 7 14 997 178 - - - 15 175

Total assets subject to 
credit risk 390 728 216 079 131 304 309 908 998 897 2 046 916

Letters of undertaking 
issued  25 027 - - - - 25 027

31 March 2012 (Restated)

Credit risk exposure 
relating to on 
statement of financial 
position assets: Note

Up to 1 
month

From 1 to 6 
months

From 6 
months to 1 

year
From 1 year 

to 5 years After 5 year Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Statutory investments 4 116 275 - - - - 116 275

Deposits with banks 5 170 639 407 540 6 242 - - 584 421

Loans and advances to 
customers 6 7 418 34 818 40 759 309 823 915 795 1 308 613

Trade and other 
receivables 7 18 238 180 - - - 18 418

Total assets subject to 
credit risk 312 570 442 538 47 001 309 823 915 795 2 027 727

Letters of undertaking 
issued  26 083 - - - - 26 083

Individually assessed exposures
The Company considers certain exposures to be individually significant warranting an assessment of impairment individually. 
Large exposures are the commercial property loans, property development loans and housing loans exceeding R500 000. 

The following tables reflect the total gross and average loans and advances exposed to credit risk.
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Total gross exposures

Major types 
of credit 
exposures: 
total gross 
exposure

Amount 
outstanding Impairment

Net 
carrying 
amount

Net 
realisable 

value of 
security

Amount 
outstanding Impairment

Net 
carrying 
amount

Net 
realisable 

value of 
security

2013 2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012 2012

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Commercial 
loans 23 529 7 809 15 720 32 948 29 232 6 481 22 751 43 985

Property 
development 
loans 10 476 6 733 3 743 6 500 15 089 9 897 5 192 13 524

Housing loans 
>R500k 342 384 23 609 318 775 291 516 289 898 20 299 269 599 264 856

Sub-total 376 389 38 151 338 238 330 964 334 219 36 677 297 542 322 365

Other loans 1 022 381 62 857 959 524 1 226 707 974 394 67 872 906 522 1 313 010

Total 1 398 770 101 008 1 297 762 1 557 671 1 308 613 104 549 1 204 064 1 635 375

Net realisable amount relates to security provided for these exposures.

Average gross exposures

Major types of 
credit exposures: 
average gross 
exposure

Amount 
outstanding Impairment

Net 
carrying 
amount

Net 
realisable 

value of 
security

Amount 
outstanding Impairment

Net 
carrying 
amount

Net 
realisable 

value of 
security

2013 2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012 2012

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Commercial 
loans 1 810 600 1 210 2 534 1 827 405 1 422 2 749

Property 
development 
loans 3 492 2 244 1 248 2 167 2 515 1 649 866 2 254

Housing loans 
>R500k 736 51 685 627 763 53 710 697

Sub-total 6 038 2 895 3 143 5 328 5 105 2 107 2 998 5 700

Other loans 53 3 50 63 49 3 46 67

Total 6 091 2 898 3 193 5 391 5 154 2 110 3 044 5 767

The average amount of gross exposure is determined as the year-end balance over the number of loan exposures outstanding 
as at the end of the reporting period.

The nature of security that is held by the Company in respect of loans and advances to customers is set out below:

Product Type of security

Housing loans Mortgage bond

Home improvement loans Pledge of pension and provident fund assets

Micro finance – secured loans Cession of term deposit

Commercial loans and property development loans
Mortgage bonds, cession of income, suretyships and where 
appropriate key man insurance policies
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(continued) 
28.2.  Credit risk mitigation (continued)
28.2.1. Valuation of security

The amount of the loan is dependent on the value of 
the security. Therefore prior to a mortgage agreement 
being concluded, a valuation is done to ascertain the 
appropriateness of the security. The valuation is done 
according to the guidelines of the Valuers’ Institute of South 
Africa. The value of the security is updated for the non-
performing loans or alternatively, the value at origination 
remains constant.

In respect of home improvement loans granted to customers 
the pension/provident proceeds are ceded to the Company 
and the loan is dependent on the pension/provident amount 
accumulated at a particular time.

28.2.2. Enforcement of security
In the event of a defaulter failing to rehabilitate an overdue 

loan, the Company will follow due legal process to obtain 
the security. Properties are repossessed and made available 
for sale.

28.2.3. Credit risk concentration
Credit risk concentration occurs when a number of 
counterparties are engaged in similar activities and have 
similar economic characteristics that would cause their ability 
to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by 
changes in market conditions. 

The Company operates solely in the province of KwaZulu-
Natal and lends mainly to individuals in the housing 
mortgage sector. The Company has set a limit of 10% of the 
qualifying capital and reserves as the maximum exposure to 
an individual client or group of related clients. This limit is 
closely monitored by the ERC.

The majority of the housing loan customers are employees 
of KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Government.

Funds are placed with banks meeting the criteria set by the 
ERC.

Sectoral analysis of loans and advances

Sectoral analysis
2013 

%
2013 

R’000
2012 

%
2012 

R’000

Real estate 2 23 529 2 29 232

Construction 1 10 476 1 15 089

Retail – mortgage 80 1 116 870 78 1 014 252

Retail – other 17 247 895 19 250 040

Total 100 1 398 770 100 1 308 613

As at 31 March 2013

Category of assets

Assets that 
are neither 

past due nor 
impaired

Assets that 
are past due 

but not yet 
impaired

Financial 
assets that are 

impaired Total
Credit 

impairments

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Real estate 14 235 849 8 445 23 529 7 809

Construction 93 - 10 383 10 476 6 734

Retail – mortgage 990 210 45 151 81 509 1 116 870 65 176

Retail – other 227 103 6 177 14 615 247 895 21 289

Total 1 231 641 52 177 114 952 1 398 770 101 008

As at 31 March 2012

Category of assets

Assets that 
are neither 

past due nor 
impaired

Assets that 
are past due 

but not yet 
impaired

Financial 
assets that are 

impaired Total
Credit 

impairments

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Real estate 17 373 3 840 8 019 29 232 6 480

Construction 2 295 - 12 794 15 089 9 897

Retail – mortgage 895 337 53 962 64 953 1 014 252 59 181

Retail – other 220 145 7 135 22 760 250 040 28 991

Total 1 135 150 64 937 108 526 1 308 613 104 549
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Credit Impairment Reconciliation

31 March  
2012

Impaired accounts 
written off

Net impairments 
raised / (released)

31 March  
2013

Category of assets R’000 R’000  R’000 R’000

Real estate 6 480 -  1 329 7 809

Construction 9 897  (1 378)  (1 785) 6 734

Retail – mortgage 59 181  (11 463) 17 458 65 176

Retail – other 28 991  (5 645)  (2 057) 21 289

Total 104 549  (18 486) 14 945 101 008

31 March  
2011

Impaired accounts 
written off

Net impairments 
raised

31 March  
2012

Category of assets R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Real estate 3 557 - 2 923 6 480

Construction 11 636  (1 761) 22 9 897

Retail – mortgage 60 138 (2 153) 1 196 59 181

Retail – other 32 457  (8 098) 4 632 28 991

Total 107 788 (12 012) 8 773 104 549

28.3. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk relates to exposure to funding mismatches due to contractual differences in maturity dates and repayment 
structures of assets and liabilities resulting in the Company not being able to meet its financial obligations.

Liquidity risk management
The ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board, which has established an appropriate liquidity risk 
management framework. The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves by continuously monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flows as well as matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The tables below 
represent the contractual and expected maturities of financial liabilities as at the reporting date:

Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2013

Note
On demand 

R’000

Up to one 
month 
R’000

1–6 months 
R’000

6-12 
months 

R’000

More than 1 
year 

R’000
Total 

R’000

Deposits from 
customers 11 796 470 159 042 501 265 320 936 25 744 1 803 457

Trade creditors 12 - 4 515 - - - 4 515

Accruals and accrual 
for leave pay 12 - 17 250 - - - 17 250

Loans and advances 
with credit balances 12 1 717 - - - - 1 717

Other payables and 
sundry payables 12 11 531 3 051 - - - 14 582

Provision for audit 
fees 13 258 3 215 - - 3 473

Provision for bonuses 13 - - - 1 553 - 1 553

Provision for long 
service awards 13 - 40 200 240 8 978 9 458

Loan account with 
holding company 14 15 954 - - - - 15 954

Retirement benefit 
obligations 15.1 - 24 120 144 23 001 23 289

Defined benefit 
provident fund 
shortfall 15.2.2 - - - - 1 106 1 106

Total 825 672 184 180 504 800 322 873 58 829 1 896 354

% of weighting 43.5% 9.7% 26.6% 17.0% 3.2% 100%
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
28.3. Liquidity risk (continued)

 Liquidity risk management (continued)

Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2012 

Note
On demand 

R’000

Up to one 
month 
R’000

1–6 months 
R’000

6-12 
months 

R’000

More than 1 
year 

R’000
Total 

R’000

Deposits from 
customers 11 862 926 97 586 477 835 296 223 40 813 1 775 383

Trade creditors 12 - 3 560 - - - 3 560

Accruals and accrual 
for leave pay 12 - 15 873 - - - 15 873

Loans and advances 
with credit balances 12 3 148 - - - - 3 148

Other payables and 
sundry payables 12 11 072 4 004 15 076

Provision for audit fees 13 - - 1 998 338 - 2 336

Provision for bonuses 13 - - - 1 448 - 1 448

Provision for long 
service awards 13 - 116 578 694 7 293 8 681

Loan account with 
holding company 14 23 989 - - - - 23 989

Retirement benefit 
obligations 15.1 - 40 200 240 20 894 21 374

Defined benefit 
provident fund shortfall 5.2.2 - - - - - -

Total 901 135 121 179 480 611 298 943 69 000 1 870 868

% of weighting 48.2% 6.5% 25.7% 15.9% 3.7% 100%

The maturity analysis is based on the contractual amounts payable (including interest) over the remaining periods to contractual 
maturity from year-end.

28.4. Market risk

28.4.1. Interest rate risk 
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on loans and advances to customers, deposits with banks, customer deposits 
(savings and term) and the Company’s loan account balance with the holding company.

Key assumptions applied in projections and forecast cash flows are that:

•	 Levels of repayments (including prepayments) from existing clients will continue at a  similar rate; and 
•	 As a result of clients regularly depositing their incomes and renewing investments, net deposits (based on historical 

behaviour) continue growing except over the annual festive season during which higher than usual withdrawals are made. 
Provision for this reduction is made. 

The table below demonstrates the re-pricing gap between the Company’s assets and liabilities upon the application of a 
change in market interest rates. The table shows the impact of a 2% (2012: 2%) increase / (decrease) in interest rates on the 
interest income of the Company. The scenario analysis is limited to the impact on interest income and expenditure over the 
period of 12 months. The application of the change in interest rates is applied to a static statement of financial position and is 
in accordance with Regulation 30 of the Banks Act, 1990.

The sensitivity analysis below has been presented on a net interest income basis to reflect the operations of the Company.

Projected impact on statement of comprehensive income for 12 months due to a 200 basis points increase / (decrease) in 
interest rates:
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2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Increase: 

Impact of increase in yield on assets on comprehensive income 38 303 37 967

Increased net interest income percentage 35% 35%

Impact of increase in cost of funds on comprehensive income (24 606)  (24 199)

Decreased net interest income percentage  (23%) (22%)

Decrease:

Impact of decrease in yield on assets on comprehensive income (38 787)  (38 501)

Decreased net interest income percentage (36%)  (36%)

Impact of decrease in cost of funds on comprehensive income 16 008 22 817

Increased net interest income percentage 15% 21%

As the Company has no assets or liabilities subject to adjustments resultant from market rate fluctuations, equity change is 
limited to the above changes. 

Changes from the previous year to this forecast are mainly due to changes in interest rates and the related strategy in application, 
changes to volume, differing maturities and hence terms of re-pricing. 

29. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Capital requirements
Tier l and Tier II capital comprises of issued ordinary shares, share premium, (accumulated loss)/retained income and other 
regulatory adjustments such as deduction of intangible assets. (Accumulated loss)/retained income is appropriated to reserves 
in July annually, and as such the amounts disclosed exclude profits not approved by the Board.

The capital adequacy assessment process includes identifying the risks that the Company is exposed to, measuring capital 
requirements for each stand-alone risk and taking into account growth targets. The required capital level is calculated by 
aggregating the various stand-alone risks and adding a buffer for unforeseen losses.

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management strategy is to ensure compliance with the Regulator’s requirements 
as well as the maintenance of a strong credit rating and healthy capital adequacy ratios required in order to support its business, 
maximise shareholder value and instil market and creditor confidence. 

As at statement of financial position date the capital adequacy ratio was 11.06% (2012: 12.14%). The current year level is above 
the minimum capital adequacy ratio stipulated by the South African Reserve Bank (SARB). 

Capital planning is an integral part of capital management. The Enterprise Risk Committee has been tasked with assisting 
the Board in discharging its capital management responsibility, and as such, should there be a need for additional capital this 
Committee will drive the necessary processes in line with contingency capital planning.

Capital adequacy 

2013 2012

Capital adequacy ratio ≥10% 11.06% 12.14%

Primary share capital and reserve funds adequacy ratio ≥7% 10.26% 11.33%

Total risk weighted assets (R’000) 1 447 212  1 456 977

Risk weighted assets

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Credit risk weighted assets 918 163 936 034

Other risk weighted assets 88 954 92 700

Operational risk 440 095 428 243

Total 1 447 212 1 456 977
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29. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

Capital structure

Note
2013 

R’000
2012 

R’000

Share capital 16 190 190 

Share premium 16 189 810 189 810

Reserves  (38 633) (21 398)

Prescribed deductions against capital and reserve funds  (2 769)  (3 481)

Total Tier I capital 148 598 165 121

General provisions 11 477 11 700

Total Tier II capital 11 477 11 700

Total qualifying capital 160 075 176 821

30. CHANGE IN ESTIMATES

30.1. Asset lives 
Equipment is depreciated over its estimated useful lives taking into account residual values, where appropriate. The remaining 
useful lives of assets were reassessed during the current year. The effect of the change in estimate during the current year is 
as follows: 

2013 
R’000

2012 
R’000

Decrease in depreciation 704 1 100

Increase in net book value of fixed assets 704 1 100

31.  ACQUISITION OF NEW BUSINESS

On 1 April 2011 the Company purchased the Intermediary Insurance Services business from Ithala Development Finance 
Corporation Limited. The cost of the acquisition was R0, 078 million which related to the carrying amount of the equipment 
acquired as disclosed in Note 9. The business was acquired as a going concern as defined in Section ii(i)e(i) of the VAT Act.

32. PRIOR YEAR RESTATEMENT

During the current year, the Company reviewed its application of the Direct Attribution rule per the VAT Act for the five (5) years 
to October 2012. The amended calculations were reviewed by the officials of SARS and a refund of R7, 1 million relating to prior 
years was received. The impact of the refund is reflected below:

R’000

2011 Retained income as previously reported (13 651)

Value added taxation (VAT) 5 542

Restated retained income as at 31 March 2011 (8 109)

2012 comprehensive expense as previously reported  (7 747)

Value added taxation (VAT) 1 605

Restated 2012 loss and total comprehensive expense (6 142)

Restated accumulated loss as at 31 March 2012 (14 251)

33. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

No events have occurred between the balance sheet date and the date of this report that materially affect the reported results 
and financial position of the Company.
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ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013

Programme 1: Savings and Investments

Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

Strategic Objective: To ensure that the Savings and Investments Division increases its market share and enhances the revenue 
of the entity.

a) Increase customer 
savings deposit base.

Increase savings 
deposit by 4.9% y.o.y 
by 31 March 2013.

Growth of 4.9% y.o.y. in 
savings deposit.

Not achieved - Growth 
of 1.5% y.o.y in savings 
deposit.

Due to harsh economic 
market conditions and 
competition. Further 
attributed to not being 
able to introduce new 
products as planned. 

A rigid sales plan 
will be implemented  
together with 
advertising campaigns 
in the 2013/2014 year 
in an effort to increase 
deposits.

b) Increase sales of 
insurance products. 

Sale of 8 832 insurance 
products. 

Sale of 8 832 insurance 
products per year.

Not achieved – 2 453 
products.

c) Increase referrals for 
insurance products.

Refer 4 416 short term 
leads per year.

Referral of  4 416 short 
term leads per year.

Not achieved – 1 479 
leads.

d) Increase card savings 
accounts by 31 March 
2013.

Increase (non-SASSA 
and Zibambele) card 
savings accounts by 20 
160 by 31 March 2013.

Growth of 20 160 (in non 
SASSA and Zibambele) 
card savings account by 
31 March 2013. 

Achieved. N/A

e) Achieve a balanced 
product mix.

Product mix balanced 
as follows by 31 March 
2013: Business account 
2%
Club account 8%
Fixed deposit 31%
Savings 39%
Target Save 20% 

Achieve Product Mix of:

Bus account 2%
Club account 8%
Fixed deposit 31%
Savings 39%
Target save 20% by 31 
March 2013

Not achieved – The 
following product mix 
was noted at 31 March 
2013:
Business account 2%, 
Club account 7%, 
Fixed deposit 36%, 
Savings 35%, Target 
save 20% 

This was attributable 
to large withdrawals 
during the festive 
seasons and loss of 
SASSA clients.

f) Increase sales for all 
loan products. 

R72m of personal 
loans, R49m of home 
loans, R3.6m of PTOs 
and R15m of home 
improvement loans by 
31 March 2013.

R72m of personal 
loans, R49m of home 
loans, R3.6m of PTOs 
and R15m of home 
improvement loans by 
31 March 2013.

Not Achieved –  R22, 
011m of personal loans 
achieved,  
R40 million of home 
loans and PTOs 
achieved, R3, 657m 
of home improvement 
loans achieved.

Targets not achieved 
due to competitive 
market conditions.

g) Improve product 
offering to Ithala 
clients.

Develop 5 new savings 
products: 32 days 
notice account  by 1 
May 2012;  Business 
card savings account by 
1 September 2012;  
Current Account by 30 
March 2013;  
Cell phone banking by 
30 March 2013; 
Internet banking by 30 
March 2013.

Develop 5 new savings 
products:

32 days notice account  
by 1 May 2012; Business 
card savings account by 1 
September 2012; 
Current Account by 30 
March 2013; 
Cell phone banking by 
30 March 2013;
Internet banking by 30 
March 2013.

Not achieved – 32 
Day notice deposit 
launched in May.

New products were 
put on hold until 
finalisation of the 
technical solution.

h) Improve accessibility 
of all Ithala Products 
and services.

All Ithala Limited 
products to be available 
through the branch 
network.

 
No. of ATMs installed.

Distribution of credit, 
insurance and savings 
& investment products 
through the branch 
network by 1 April 2012.

Install 10 ATMs by end 
of march 2013 (2 Ithala 
ATMs, 8 retail ATM’s).

Achieved.

 
Not Achieved. No 
ATM installed due to 
management strategy.

N/A

 

Change in 
infrastructure strategy.

i) Achieve the budgeted 
Cost to Income ratio 
of 115% by 31 March 
2013.

Cost to Income ratio 
of 115% by 31 March 
2013.

Cost to Income ratio of 
115%.

Achieved. N/A
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Programme 2: Housing and Loans

Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

Strategic Objective: To ensure that the Housing and Loans Division increases its market share whilst attracting new customers.

a) Utilise the branch 
network to ensure 
client access to 
Housing and Loans 
products.

Achieve new advances 
of R70m from the 
branch network by 31 
March 2013.

New advances of R70m 
from the branch network 
as at 31 March 2013.

Not Achieved –  
R65, 7m 

Target not achieved 
due to lower than 
budgeted uptake in 
personal loan product.

b) Achieve budget 
of R373m of new 
advances by 31 
March 2013m.

Achieve budget 
of R373m of new 
advances by 31 March 
2013m.

R373m. Not achieved –  
R354, 1m.

Attributed to lower 
than budgeted uptake 
in personnel loans 
products. During the 
2013 / 2014 year, the 
Company will also 
seek to use 3rd party 
originators to increase 
volumes in this space.

c) Improvement in the 
turnaround time from 
processing a new loan 
application to pay-out 
by 31 March 2013.

Adherence to the 
agreed turnaround time 
in processing loans.

Turnaround time in 
processing loans:

HL – Approval / Decline 
– 48 hours

HL – Instructing 
attorneys for registration 
– 48 hours for properties 
within a 100km radius 
and 72 hours for 
properties outside the 
100km radius

HIL – 48 hours

PL – 24 hours in respect 
of clients banking with 
Ithala and 48 hours 
in respect of clients 
banking elsewhere

Achieved - processed 
loans within agreed 
turnaround times per 
target.

N/A

Programme 3: Long-Term Insurance and Short Term Insurance

Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

Strategic Objective: To ensure that the Insurance Division increases its market share and enhances revenue of the entity whilst 
subscribing to the entity’s retention strategy.

a) Revise Insurance 
products offering, by 
31 March 2013.

Revise the Funeral 
Cover and introduce 
Income Booster, 
Tombstone benefits 
on the Long term and 
introduce Homeowners, 
household contents 
and car insurance by 31 
March 2013.

Introduce new products 
and revise existing 
products by 31 March 
2013.

Achieved – products 
revised by Q 2.

N/A

b) Achieve the 
budgeted growth in 
income of 16.8% by 
31 March 2013.

Achievement of growth 
in income.

Achieve growth in 
Income of 16.8% by 31 
March 2013.

Not achieved – 1.1% 
increase in revenue 
income.

There were only 3 Sales 
Consultants recruited 
during the current year 
as compared to the 7 
vacancies budgeted for 
to assist with revenue 
generation. The 
remaining positions are 
anticipated to be filled 
during the 2013 / 2014 
financial year.
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Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

c) Achieve a cost to 
income ratio of, 60% 
by 31 March 2013.

Achievement of a cost 
to income ratio of 60%.

Achievement of the 
budgeted cost to 
income ratio of 60% by 
31 March 2013.

Achieved - cost to 
income ratio of 36% 
for the year.

N/A

Strategic Objective: To drive the overall customer services strategy ensuring a delivery of a high quality and comprehensive 
customer service.

a) Develop and 
implement a client 
retention strategy by 
30 November 2012

 Approved client 
retention strategy and 
offer new products to 
the client. 

Approved client 
retention strategy 

Not achieved. Client strategy was 
done at overall entity 
level.

Strategic Objective: To ensure that the division adheres to the entity’s mandate of providing accessible financial services to 
the citizens of KwaZulu-Natal

a) Offer Insurance 
products to emerging 
markets by 30 April 
2013.

Offer 4 new products 
such as homeowners, 
household contents 
and car insurance, 
accidental death & 
disability cover and 
Hospital Cash Plan.

Introduce homeowners, 
household contents 
and car insurance. 
Offer accidental death 
& disability cover and 
Hospital Cash Plan by 30 
April 2013.

Not Achieved 
- Homeowners, 
household content 
& car insurance, 
accidental death and 
disability products 
were introduced. 
Hospital Cash Plan 
was not introduced 
due to complexity of 
the roll-out and lack of 
applicable resources to 
sell product across the 
branch network.

Hospital Cash Plan 
will be re-considered 
when branches are 
capacitated with 
personnel with the 
adequate skill and 
knowledge to sell the 
product.

Programme 4: Credit Risk

Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

Sub-Programme: Credit 
Assessment

Strategic Objective: To ensure that the risk assumed by Ithala at the point of granting credit is in 
line with the organisation’s risk appetite and is adequately mitigated, thus promoting efficiency by 
leveraging on the entity’s assets.

a) Implement the 
revised credit 
scorecard for the 
Home Loan portfolio.

Revised Home Loan 
credit application 
scorecard.

Implementation of the 
revised Home Loan 
credit scorecard by 31 
August 2012.

Not achieved. Approval process 
in motion; currently 
not finalised. 
Recommended by 
Management Credit 
Risk Committee for 
approval.  EXCO 
approval in April 2013.

Refinement of metrics 
to arrive at revised 
scorecard resulted in 
the deadline being 
extended.

b) Achieve budgeted 
average yield on new 
Home Loan advances.

Yield on new Home 
Loan advances of prime 
plus 1%.

Prime plus 1%. Achieved – 9.67%. N/A

Sub-Programme:  
Collections

Strategic Objective: To ensure robust and dynamic collections processes and continually improve the 
Non-Performing Loan ratio.

a) Achieve the 
budgeted non-
performing loans 
percentage.

Non-Performing Loan 
percentage of 11% of 
the total loan book.

11% by 31 March 2013. Achieved – 8.93%. N/A

b) Achieve the targeted 
impaired advances 
percentage of 15%.

Impaired Advances as 
a percentage of loan 
book of 15% by 31 
March 2013.

15% by 31 March 2013. Achieved – 7.3%. N/A
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ITHALA LIMITED

Programme 5: Marketing

Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

Sub-Programme: 
Distribution Strategic Goal:  Operational Excellence. 

a) Build the brand 
distribution to all 
key consumer touch 
points.

Marketing campaign to 
support the launch of 
virtual banking (internet 
& cellphone) developed 
and approved.

Roll-out the Marketing 
campaign to support 
the launch of virtual 
banking.

Marketing campaign 
developed and 
approved by August 
2012.

 
Marketing campaign 
rolled out from 
September 2012.

Achieved. 

 
Not achieved.

N/A

 
Projects put on 
hold until the 
implementation of the 
new banking system.

Sub-Programme: 
Strategic Partnerships Strategic Goal:  Operational Excellence. 

a) Develop and leverage 
strategic partnerships 
to grow the brand. 

Form strategic 
partnerships aimed 
getting strategic 
partners to bank with 
Ithala.

Marketing campaign 
aimed at getting 
government employees 
to bank with Ithala 
developed and 
approved.

Roll-out marketing 
campaign government 
employee banking.

Conduct 24 
presentations with 
identified strategic 
partners by March 2013. 

 
Marketing campaign 
developed and 
approved by end 
December 2012.

Marketing campaign for 
the launch of government 
staff banking by January 
2013.

Achieved.

Not Achieved.

Not Achieved. 

N/A

This campaign was 
dependent on the 
launch of virtual 
banking products which 
was put on hold until 
the implementation 
of the new banking 
system.

Sub-Programme: New 
Product Launches Strategic Goal: Operational Excellence 

a) Extend the product 
offering to include 
products that are 
the “gateway” to 
competing in the 
banking sector.

Marketing campaign 
for the launch of 32 
Days Express Account 
developed and 
approved.

Roll-out marketing 
campaign for the 
launch of 32 Days 
Express Account. 

Marketing campaign 
for the re-launch of 
Long-term Insurance 
developed and 
approved.

Roll-out marketing 
campaign for the re-
launch of Long-term 
Insurance.

Marketing campaign 
for the launch of 
Short-term insurance 
developed and 
approved.

Marketing campaign 
developed and 
approved by end April 
2012.

Roll-out the marketing 
campaign for the 32 
Days Express account 
from May 2012.

 
Marketing campaign 
developed and 
approved by end April 
2012.

Marketing campaign for 
the re-launch of long-
term insurance rolled out 
from May 2012.

Marketing campaign 
developed and 
approved by end April 
2012

Achieved.

Achieved.

 
Achieved.

Achieved.

 
Achieved.

N/A

N/A

 
N/A

N/A

 
N/A
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ITHALA LIMITED

Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

Sub-Programme: New 
Product Launches Strategic Goal: Operational Excellence (continued).

Roll-out marketing 
campaign for the 
launch of Short-term 
insurance.

Increase shorter 
insurance leads by 
100%. 

Marketing campaign for 
the launch of Electronic 
Banking products 
(Current Account, 
Card based Savings 
Accounts, Business 
Card based Savings 
Account) developed 
and approved.

Roll-out marketing 
campaign for the launch 
of Electronic Banking 
products (Current 
Account, Card based 
Savings Accounts, 
Business Card based 
Savings Account).

Marketing campaign 
for the launch of Staff 
package develop and 
approved.

Roll-out marketing 
campaign for the 
launch of Staff package.

Achieve a 30% account 
opening  hit rate on 
targeted employees.

Marketing campaign for 
the launch of Short-term 
insurance rolled out from 
May 2012. 

Insurance leads 
increased by 100% by 
end March 2013.

 
Marketing campaign 
developed and 
approved by August 
2012.

Roll-out the marketing 
campaign for the launch 
of Electronic Banking 
products by September 
2012. 

 
Marketing campaign 
developed and 
approved by end 
September 2012.

Roll-out the marketing 
campaign for the launch 
of staff banking by 
October 12.

Achieve 30% account 
opening hit rate by 
March 2013.

Achieved.

Achieved.

Not achieved.

 
Not Achieved. 

 
Not achieved. 

 
Not achieved. 

Achieved. 

N/A

N/A

N/A

 
This campaign was 
dependent on the 
launch of virtual 
banking products which 
was put on hold until 
the implementation 
of the new banking 
system.

Staff banking was not 
launched in the current 
year and has been 
moved to the next 
financial year.

Staff was targeted with 
existing products.

Sub-Programme: 
Measurable Objective: 
Image and Reputation 
Building Strategic Goal: Operational Excellence (continued)

a) Rebuild the image 
and reputation of 
Ithala brand.

Circulate 8 positive 
brand stories during the 
2012 /  2013 financial 
year.

Circulate 8 positive 
brand stories by March 
2013.

Achieved. N/A
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ITHALA LIMITED

Programme 6: Finance

Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

Strategic Objective: To ensure that Ithala Limited achieves optimum financial results necessary for 
the Company to be a financially viable organisation.

a) Achieve Budgeted 
quarterly cost to 
income ratio of 90.5% 
by 31 March 2013.

Budgeted quarterly 
cost to income ratio 
of 90.5% by 31 March 
2013.

Achieve Budgeted 
quarterly cost to income 
ratio of 90.5% by 31 
March 2013.

Not achieved – 
103.88%.

Due to low uptake 
in personal loans 
product and lower than 
anticipated fee income 
from debit cards.

The Operations 
Committee is focused 
on ensuring that the 
Target Operating 
Model (TOM) is 
implemented across 
the branch network 
to ensure that all 
products are sold at 
the Branches.

b) Achieve Budgeted 
quarterly return on 
equity of 2.39% by 31 
March 2013.

Budgeted quarterly  
return on equity of 
2.39% 31 March 2013.

Return on equity of 
2.39% by 31 March 
2013.

Not achieved – 
(16.38%).

c) Achieve the 
budgeted return on 
assets of 0.18% by 31 
March 2013.

The budgeted quarterly 
return on assets of: 
0.18% 31 March 2013.

Return on assets of 
0.18% by 31 March 
2013.

Not achieved – 
(1.21%).

d) Achieve Minimum 
capital adequacy ratio 
of 12.25%.

Capital adequacy ratio 
of 12.25% by 31 March 
2013.

Achieve Board approved 
minimum capital 
adequacy ratio of 
12.25% by 31 March 
2013.

Not achieved – 
11.06%.

Due to continuing 
losses due to above.

Ithala Development 
Finance Corporation 
Limited has further 
resolved to provide 
additional share 
capital amounting 
to R105m during the 
2013 / 2014 financial 
year to recapitalise 
the Company. A total 
of R60m of this was 
received subsequent to 
year end to the date of 
this report. The capital 
is anticipated to be 
sufficient to ensure that 
the SARB regulatory 
prescribed minimum 
ratios are met as well 
as to ensure future 
growth of Company 
based on the Board 
approved strategy.

e) Achieve average 
budgeted return on 
deposits with banks of 
5.33%.

Average budgeted 
return on deposits with 
banks of 5.33% as at 
the end of March 2013.

Average return surplus 
funds of 5.33% for the 
year ended 31 March 
2013.

Not achieved – 4.7%. Due to 50 basis 
prime rate cut in July. 
Furthermore due 
to negative volume 
variance attributable 
to lower than budget 
increase in customer 
deposits.
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ITHALA LIMITED

Programme 7: Secretariat

Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

Strategic Goal: Corporate governance and compliance.

a) Provide 
comprehensive 
practical support 
and guidance to 
the Board both 
as individual and 
collective with 
particular emphasis 
on supporting non-
executive directors.

Board assessment of 
secretariat.

To achieve an average 
rating of 4. 

Not achieved. The secretariat 
function had capacity 
constraints and has 
been unable to meet 
its performance target.  
An administrator has 
since been appointed 
to improve capacity.

b) Induction of directors, 
including assessing 
the specific training 
needs of directors.

Induction pack. Induction of directors, 
including assessing the 
specific training needs of 
directors.

Not achieved. Whilst the induction 
packs are provided 
to newly appointed 
Directors, specific 
training needs are not 
assessed. This has 
been identified as a 
gap which is being 
addressed.  

c) Adherence to sound 
governance.

Mandate reviews of 
corporate governance 
practices and principles.

Review corporate 
governance principles by 
31 March 2013.

Not achieved. This will be done in the 
new financial year.

d) Manage relations 
with the Shareholder.

Approved shareholder 
compact.

Review and approve the 
shareholders compact. 

Not achieved. Shareholders Compact 
was approved at the 
Special Board meeting 
held on 22 April 2013 
and will be tabled 
at the Group Board 
meeting on 6 May 
2013. 

Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

Sub-programme: 
Supply Chain 
Management

Strategic Objective: To deliver significant value to the business, its customers and to the shareholder 
to ensure that Ithala Limited’s procurement spend is in line with BBBEE principles and procurement 
process is governed to ensure reduction in irregular expenditure.

a) Achieve BBBEE 
procurement spend 
of 70%.

Minimum of 70% of 
procurement spent on 
BBBEE suppliers for the 
year ended 31 March 
2013.

Achieve 70% of 
procurement spent on 
BBBEE  suppliers  for the 
year ended 31 March 
2013.

Achieved – 91%. N/A
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ITHALA LIMITED

Programme 8: Risk

Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

Strategic Goal: Corporate Governance.

a) Develop and approve 
the Risk Enterprise 
Management 
Framework.

Approved Risk 
Enterprise Management 
Framework by 30 June 
2012.

Develop and approve 
the Risk Framework by 
30 June 2012.

Achieved. N/A

b) Develop and approve 
Risk  Management 
Strategies and 
Policies.

Approved Risk 
Management Strategies 
and Policies by 31 
March 2013.

Update and approve risk 
management strategies 
and policies by 31 March 
2013.

Not achieved - Four 
out of five policies 
/ framework were 
updated and 
approved.

Not achieved due to 
capacity constraints. 
Recruitment process is 
being finalised in order 
to ensure risk plan is 
achieved.c) Develop and approve 

a Fraud Prevention 
Plan.

Approved Fraud 
Prevention Plan for 
the entity by 31 March 
2013.

Update and approve the 
Fraud Prevention Plan by 
31 March 2012.

Not achieved. 

d) Develop and approve 
a Business Continuity 
Plan for the entity.

Approved Business 
Continuity Plan for the 
entity by 31 August 
2012.

Update and approve the 
Business Continuity Plan 
by 31 August 2012.

Achieved. N/A

e) Conduct the Annual 
Risk Assessment.

Risk Register with top 
10 risks by 30 June 
2012.

Conduct Annual Risk 
Assessment by 30 June 
2012.

Not achieved – Risk 
Assessment conducted 
on 4 September 2012.

Timing of risk 
assessment was moved 
to 30 September due 
to resource constraints.

Programme 9:  Compliance Division

Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

Strategic Goal: Corporate governance and compliance

a) Draft and approve 
the Compliance 
Framework by 30 
June 2012.

Approved Compliance 
Framework by 30 June 
2012.

Develop and approve 
the Compliance 
Framework by 30 June 
2012.

Achieved. N/A

b) Achieve 24 
monitoring reviews 
per the approved 
Compliance Program 
throughout the 
financial year.

Number of completed 
monitoring reviews.

Achieve 24 monitoring 
reviews per the 
approved Compliance 
Program throughout the 
financial year.

Not achieved - 
22 reviews were 
completed.

The target was 
amended subsequently 
to 23 monitoring 
reviews. Based on 
subsequent review 
of the programme 1 
review was deemed 
duplication of effort as 
IGARAS had already 
reviewed and was 
accordingly removed 
from scope. The 
statutory register will 
be revised according to 
what is required for the 
purposes of regulatory 
compliance only.

c) Statutory reporting 
to the relevant 
regulators within the 
relevant deadlines, 
as stipulated by each 
regulatory body.

Statutory reports to the 
relevant regulators. 

Statutory reports to 
the relevant regulators  
per Board approved 
statutory register.

Achieved. N/A
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ITHALA LIMITED

Programme 10: IGARAS

Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

Strategic Goal: 

a) To have Annual Audit 
Plan approved by 
Audit Committee  by 
31 March 2012.

Approval of the Annual 
Audit Plans by the 
Audit Committees 
per the minutes of 
the Audit Committee 
meetings.

Approved Group Annual 
Audit Plans by 31 March 
2012.

Achieved. N/A

b) To issue 195 audit 
activity reports per 
the Annual Audit Plan 
by 31 March 2013.

Complete all audits as 
per the approved plan.

Complete 195 audits as 
per the approved audit 
plan.

Achieved. N/A

c) To attain an 
average of 3 from 
Performance 
appraisal by Audit 
Committee.

Appraisal by the Audit 
Committee. 

Positive appraisal by the 
Audit Committee. 

 Achieved. N/A

d) To complete 90% of 
Investigations that 
commenced by end 
of March.

Percentage of 
reports issued in 
relation to number 
of investigations 
commenced.

90% of investigations 
that had commenced by 
end of March 2012 are 
completed by 31 March 
2013.

 Not achieved. Certain forensic 
investigations remain 
incomplete as at 31 
March 2013. These will 
be completed during 
the 2013/2014 financial 
year.

e) Assessment of fraud 
risk and red flags.

Percentage of fraud 
incidents investigated  
compared to the 
previous year.

Reduce fraud incidents 
by 20%.

Not achieved.

Programme 11: Research, Development and Innovation

Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

Strategic Goal: 

a) Understanding of 
Market Intelligence 
and Competitor 
Analysis.

4 reports submitted 
2 weeks after quarter 
ends. 

4 reports. Achieved. N/A

b) Alignment to 
Provincial Policy 
Documents.

Analysis of Provincial 
State of the Province 
Address / Budget.

1 report 3 days after 
speech.

Achieved. N/A

c) In-depth 
understanding of 
Industry / Sector. 

As and  when 
requested – 3 days 
turnaround time. 

Reports done within 
agreed timeframes.

Achieved. N/A

d) Monitor industry 
trends and report 
them accordingly.

1 day after official 
publication of statistics. 

Industry trends report 3 
days after publication.

Achieved. N/A

e) Facilitate Product 
Development and 
Innovation Research.

Number of products 
developed.

Research report within 
the agreed timeframes. 

Achieved. N/A
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ITHALA LIMITED

Programme 12: Information Technology

Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

Strategic Objective: Delivery of Business ICT Systems within budget, time and scope.

a) Develop and 
implement 
production systems 
that extend product 
offerings.

Implemented core 
banking system for 
Ithala Limited.

Build requirements for 
new core banking system 
by 31 March 2013.

Not achieved. In progress but is 
dependent on the 
conclusion of the 
contracts and the plan.

Implementation 
of Funeral scheme 
product.

Design and enhance 
current system to 
accommodate the 
implementation of 
new Funeral Scheme 
products.

Achieved. N/A

Implemented Insurance 
System.

Implement Insurance 
System by 31 March 
201.3

Not achieved. In the process of 
acquiring a system/
service to facilitate this 
requirement.

b) Optimise the usage 
of the Enterprise 
Resource Planning 
system (JDE).

Implementation of the 
P2P functionality.

Close P2P Project 30 
June 2012.

Not achieved. The process of setting 
up the delegations has 
delayed the delivery 
as has the changing of 
service provider.

Improvements to JD 
Edwards including COA 
implemented.

Improvements to JD 
Edwards including COA 
Review by 30 Sept 2012.

Not achieved. The evaluation has 
been completed, the 
delivery is however 
dependent on the JDE 
Upgrade.

Implementation of the 
Contract Management 
and Costing 
functionality.

Implement Contract 
Management and Project 
Costing 

Not achieved. These two sub-projects 
have been re-
scheduled to the new 
financial year.

Implemented Treasury 
System.

Implement Treasury 
System 30 Sept 2012.

Not achieved. Rescheduled to 2015 
/ 2016.

HR System converted 
from CRSPay to JDE.

Approved Business Case 
by 31 March 2012.

Not achieved. Rescheduled to 2014 
/ 2015.

Sub-programme: IT 
Service Delivery Strategic Objective: Delivery of Business ICT Systems within budget, time and scope

a) Delivery of Business 
ICT Systems within 
budget, time and 
scope.

Implemented 
replacement of printers 
as planned.

Rollout Replacement 
MFD's by 31 March 
2013.

Achieved. Phase one delivery was 
achieved, phase two 
has commenced. 

Approved printer 
optimization strategy 
and practices.

Produce Printer 
Optimization Strategy 
and standards by 30 
June 2012.

Achieved. N/A

All identified problem 
devices replaced and 
operational.

Replace all problem 
devices before the end 
of May 2012.

Achieved N/A
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ITHALA LIMITED

Programme 13: Human Resources

Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

Strategic Objective: 

a) Ensure Proper 
Implementation of 
Human Resources 
Development 
Strategy.

Approved HRD.

Strategy approved & 
signed Work Skills Plan.

Quarterly report on 
implementation of HRD 
Strategy.

Quarterly report on 
implementation of skills 
Audit findings.

Achieved.

 
Achieved.

N/A

 
N/A

b) Ensure that there is 
a succession plan in 
place.

Existence of succession 
plan for all critical & 
scarce skills in line with 
the Talent Management 
Strategy. 

Quarterly reports on 
implementation of Talent 
Management Strategy.

Achieved. N/A

c) Inculcate a culture of 
performance.

Rollout of Performance 
Management System 
throughout Ithala 
Limited.

100% Signed 
Performance Contracts 
by 1 May 2012.

Quarterly Performance 
reports 3 weeks after 
end of quarter.

Not achieved. There has been a delay in 
contracting for employee 
performance in general. Only 
91% have been submitted. 
Some of the business units have 
been revisiting their business 
model. This has contributed 
to the delay in contracting for 
employee performance. Due to 
a number of submission queries, 
HR, with the assistance of IT, 
is also relooking the process 
of submitting Performance 
Agreements and Performance 
Scorecards for better monitoring 
and statistical accuracy.  In the 
interim, an electronic version of 
the scorecard has been created 
and is available on the intranet.

d) Instill organisational 
Culture and Values. 

Design and Implement 
change Management 
Program based on the 
Plan. 

Quarterly reports on 
implementation of 
Change Management 
Programme.

Not achieved. HR has completed the process 
of finalising the preliminary 
processes i.e. Job Profile for 
Organisational Development and 
Change Management, which will 
inform the resource that must be 
sourced. This will also be aligned 
with customised business unit 
interventions that are aimed at 
supporting the repositioning 
of Ithala. HR has had to relook 
at its existing structure with an 
aim of strengthening its efficient 
support to the business. This 
allows for an improved focus on 
Occupational Health and Safety 
as well as Change Management 
with a Company wide view. 
Resource to be secured early 
2013. Revised plan to be 
implemented in April 2013.  
OHS resource is resuming duties 
on 2 April 2013.
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ITHALA LIMITED

Measurable Objective
Performance Measure /
Indicator 2012 / 2013 Target Actual Remarks

Strategic Objective: 

e) Create and 
implement Ithala 
Incentive Scheme.

Create/develop Ithala 
Incentive Scheme to 
promote culture of 
good performance.

Implementation Plan for 
Incentive Scheme by 1 
April 2012.

Bi-annual reports on 
implementation of 
Incentive Scheme.

Not achieved. The incentive scheme was 
approved by both the Group HR 
and Remuneration Committee 
and the Group Board. The 
tentative implementation date 
for the scheme is April 2013, 
subject to the endorsement by 
DEDT.

f) Assist line managers 
with the reduction of 
cost to income ratio 
through staffing cost 
monitory.

Existence of business 
cases for change and 
restructuring processes 
with detailed staffing 
cost impact. 

Business case document. Achieved. N/A

g) Improve employee 
Wellness.

Redefine the 
whole programme 
(incorporate employee 
debt consolidation).

12 wellness events. Achieved. N/A

h) Improved control 
and management of 
labour.

Improve relations with 
labour (union).

Quarterly Labour 
Forums.

Achieved. N/A

Programme 13: Human Resources (continued)
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